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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Industry characteristics

Alstom, leading the way to greener and smarter mobility, worldwide

At Alstom, we partner with our stakeholders to optimise transport networks by understanding what moves people, listening to their needs and
aspirations. We strive to lead the way to smarter and more sustainable mobility.

Alstom offers a complete range of mobility solutions, from high-speed trains, metros, monorail and trams to integrated systems, customised

services, infrastructure, signalling and digital solutions.

Our ‘Alstom in Motion’ strategy, presented in June 2019, focuses on sustained growth, green and digital innovation, and operational efficiency,
in an agile, inclusive and responsible corporate culture — as One Alstom Team.

With the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation on 29 January 2021, Alstom enhances its product portfolio and global footprint to better serve

customer requirements worldwide.

Alstom keeps leveraging on its strategy, its strong operational and financial performance to strengthen its leadership in the growing transportation

market.

7 Industry characteristics

MARKET DRIVERS

The rail transportation market is supported by solid long-term drivers.
Soaring urbanisation, economic growth and public & private investment in
infrastructure create a growing demand for transport notably in emerging
countries. Mature markets, on the other hand, are mainly supported by
projects aiming at updating and modernising existing infrastructure and
rolling stock enhanced by growing environmental concerns.

Urbanisation

The combination of both economic and demographic growth entices a
growing number of people to live in cities. By 2050, world population
should exceed 9.7 billion inhabitants® of which nearly 70% will reside
in urban areas®. This trend towards urbanisation is particularly strong
in China, India and in many countries of Africa and Latin America.

This development triggers the growing saturation of airports, roads and
existing railways and the need for new infrastructure. In this situation,
railways typically offer a mass transit solution, safe, reliable and clean.

Additionally, in many cities, the population is encouraged to leave behind
individual methods of transportation and favour collective transportation
to limit traffic congestion. This change is usually supported by the active
promotion of public transportation.

While the impact of the sanitary crisis on urbanization remains to be
assessed, many people responsible for urban planning and development
consider that sustainable urbanization and infrastructure are critical to
Covid-19 recovery and even more looking for sustainable urbanization
and infrastructure. “The World Cities Report 2020 convincingly affirms
that well-planned, managed, and financed cities and towns create
economic, social, environmental and other unquantifiable value that can
vastly improve the quality of life of all”, said Maimunah Mohd Sharif,
the UN-Habitat Executive Director ©.

(1) UN World population prospects - 2019.
(2) UN World urbanization prospects — the 2018 revision.
(3) https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/10/1076532.

In this context, efficient, green, inclusive and intermodal urban
transportation systems as rail transportation offers ideal mobility
solutions in term of capacity, punctuality, security, and reduction of
noise, pollution and energy consumption.

Sustainable development

Today more than 90% of the world population lives in areas where air
pollution exceeds the threshold recommended by the World Health
Organisation® while CO, emissions from transport continue to grow.
Transportation, which represents approximately 24%® of greenhouse gas
emissions from energy combustion (for standard pre-Covid-19 levels), is
clearly recognised overall as a sector which contributes significantly to
worldwide emissions whilst offering a great potential to curb them. The
increased visibility of climate change consequences and the threat that
air pollution poses on public health drives the actions of governments,
cities and regulation bodies but also of transport operators and citizens
to limit the magnitude of impacts by reducing greenhouse gas and
airborne emissions. For instance:

The European Commission presented in December 2020
its ‘Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy’ which lays the foundation
for how the EU transport system can achieve its green and digital
transformation and become more resilient to future crises. As outlined
in the European Green Deal, the result will be a 90% cut in emissions
by 2050, delivered by a smart, competitive, safe, accessible and
affordable transport system.

Many countries already announced a halt to sales of new cars equipped
with combustion engines e.g. Norway (2025), Sweden (2030),
Germany (2030), Denmark (2030), France (2040), United Kingdom
(2040) or Spain (2040) in Europe, but also other countries like India
(2030), Taiwan (2040) or Egypt (2040). Cities and provinces are also
taking up the challenge and planning a ban of diesel or fossil-fuel
vehicles at local level (e.g. Madrid, Paris, Amsterdam, Athens, Mexico,
Munich, or regions like California, or Quebec).

(4) World Health Organisation, Ambient Air Pollution: A Global Assessment of Exposure and Burden of Disease, September 2016.

(5) IEA Tracking Transport analysis May 2020.
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Rail transportation offers higher performance levels than other
transportation modes, which should have a positive impact on the
evolution of the rail transportation market. Indeed, rail is one of the most
energy-efficient transport modes, responsible for 9% of global motorised
passenger movement and 7% of freight but only 3% of transport energy
use. (source: IEA (2020), Rail, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/
rail). Passenger rail travel is the least energy- and CO_-intensive of all
motorised transport modes as shown by the graph thereafter: passenger
trains emits only 33 gC0,e/passenger.km in the EU27® - and French
TGV emits only 1.7 gCO,e/passengerkm@. It is also the least oil-reliant
by far: globally, about three-quarters of conventional passenger rail
activity uses electricity, and the remaining one-quarter relies on diesel.

COMPARISON OF AVERAGE GHG EMISSIONS BY MOTORISED
MODE OF PASSENGER TRANSPORT, EU-27
(gC0,e/pkm)

RO
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Source: https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/rail-and-waterborne-transport

Rail is clearly positioned today among motorised transport as emitting
the lowest carbon emissions by transported passenger. More generally
electrical and shared mobility solutions have the highest potential to
decarbonize mobility. The environmental efficiency of rail has been
recognized by multiple governments’ recent schemes favoring directly rail
(cf. Governmental funding paragraph) or indirectly with encouragement
to modal shift. For instance, in May 2021, the French members of
parliament suppressed domestic flights for which a rail alternative below
2h30 exists. This efficiency is also recognized by some environmentally
conscious travellers which are unease about flying (“flygskam”) and who
are choosing rail instead. In France, the cooperative Railcoop intends to
re-open some railway lines and had gathered more than 8,000 members
as of June 2021.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Industry characteristics

Those initiatives are completed by commitments from governments and
railway operators to further decarbonate rail.

The British Government has set a target to decarbonise rail by 2040,
including seeking to remove all of the circa 3,700 diesel rail vehicles
used on the railway network.

Deutsche Bahn committed to be climate neutral by 2050.

From 2025, Russian Railways plans to purchase only electric
locomotives, as well as locomotives operating on natural gas and
other alternative energy sources.

SNCF committed to have no more diesel engines by 2050.

Since 46% of the European rail network® is still served by diesel and
electrification is not always economically viable, these commitments
open further opportunities for zero-emissions trains, powered either by
battery or by fuel-cell.

Economic growth

Economic growth is a driver of Alstom’s business as the volume of
passenger and good transportation, the purchasing power of passengers,
and governmental funding for rail are in some measure linked to Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) expansion. On the years following 2008, the
global economy has experienced turbulence that has slowed down
growth and increased public deficits. However, the passenger rail
transport industry had not significantly been affected by the latest
economic downturn. Over past years, both urban and mainline worldwide
passenger traffic have grown steadily at a respectively 5.3% and 3.3%
CAGR average growth between 2009 and 2019. Freight traffic had been
more volatile and impacted by economic environment, still it grew at
2.3% in average between 2009 and 2019.

The worldwide real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew at an estimated
2.9% in 2019 and felt at -3.3% in 2020 according to International
Monetary Fund®. It forecasts a worldwide recovery of 6% in 2021,
moderating to 4.4% GDP expansion in 2022.

Beyond the economic impact of the Covid-19 crisis, its sanitary dimension
affected strongly the ridership in 2020: mainline and urban passenger
traffic decreased sharply at 36.2% and 37.7% while freight traffic resisted
at -7.2%. Ridership level back to its 2019 standard still need to be
confirmed. An analysis from September 2020 expected ridership recovery
during the year 2023®).

(1) Fraunhofer ISI and CE Delft, 2020 - shared in https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/rail-and-waterborne-transport.

(2) ADEME - Country of application: France in 2018 and 20183.

(3) European Union Hydrogen strategy - https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/hydrogen_strategy.pdf.

(4) IMF - Worldwide economic outlook, April 2021.

(5) «Worldwide Market for Railway Industries 2020 » released in 09/2020 by SCI Verkehr.
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Industry characteristics

Governmental funding

Until beginning of 2020, governments in mature and emerging countries
aimed to develop the economy of their country through investment
in infrastructure and efficient, sustainable transport solution. In that
regards, the railway industry was considered as strategic, with major
investment plans throughout the world both in mainline and urban
segments:
® |n the United-Kingdom, Network Rail announced that up to £3.6 billion
will be invested in railway signalling over the next five years to improve
the reliability of systems on Britain’s railways, potentially enabling
more trains to run.

In Germany, an €86 billion investment plan was announced and
is meant for infrastructure and trackside equipment upgrade and
replacement.

In France, 200 km of new metro lines and 68 metro stations will be
opened by 2030 for a global investment of €35 billion for Grand Paris.
This is the most important project in Europe regarding automatic
metro.

In India, on the top of 13 cities which already have a metro
system, over 20 additional cities have plans under various stages
of implementation for a metro or light rail system - notably Pune,
Kanpur, Agra, Indore, Bhopal. It would more than double the urban
transportation network over the next decade.

In the Republic of Céte d’Ivoire, the route of the future Line 1 of the
Abidjan metro network has been confirmed on December 2019. It is
37 kilometres long and the cost of construction work for the metro
is €1.36 billion. Finalization of the project financing from the French
Development Agency and the French Treasury is on-going.

The sanitary crisis shows an acceleration of environmental concern.

Since spring 2020, recovery plans and stimuli have been unveiled by

various governments in order to sustain the economy. First and foremost,

it was observed that both public and private operators were backed by

their government:

® |n Canada, $400 million has been made available to Toronto Transit
Commission;

In the United-Kingdom, Go-Ahead and FirstGroup got extensions
to Covid-19 rail bail-outs in September 2020: The Department for
Transport confirmed emergency recovery measure agreements for a
number of rail franchises;

In Germany, €5.5 billion has been made available® to Deutsche Bahn
as part of the recovery plan;

The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 includes $30.5 billion for the
transit industry, as well as $1.7 billion for Amtrak.

(1) The capital increase still has to be approved by the European Commission.
(2) https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/mobilitystrategy_en.

Additionally, many long-term investments embedded in the recovery

packages are earmarked to railway, confirming the latter should play a

key role towards a smarter and greener mobility.

© |n the United-States, one of the New Administration’s Goal is to put
U.S. on irreversible path to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 and
spark the second railroad revolution. On March 2021, White House
proposed a $2 trillion, eight-year «American Jobs Plan» which creates
long-term confidence in federal funding for transit and intercity rail.
This plan earmarks $85 billion to modernize, expand and repair transit
systems and $80 billion for intercity rail including addressing Amtrak’s
repair backlog, modernizing the Northeast Corridor, improving existing
passenger rail corridors and developing new intercity routes.

In February 2021, Canada announces $14.9 billion of funding for
public transport over next eight years.

In February 2021, Indian Finance Minister announced a record sum
of Rs 1.10 lakh cr for the Railways for budget 2021/22 (i.e. approx
$15 billion). Key announcements are related to 100% mainline network
electrification by December 2023, the future Dedicated Freight
Corridors projects, the deployment of MetroLite technology in Urban
areas, hydrogen mission.

The European Parliament endorsed in February 2021 the Regulation
of the Recovery & Resilience Facility (RRF) which will make available a
total of €672.5 billion to Member States, combining grants and loans,
to contribute to their national recovery plans. Member States need
to allocate at least 37% of their enveloppe for green investments and
20% for digital. Rail is in a good position, with the European Smart
and Sustainable Mobility strategy® which sets concrete milestones
to keep the European transport system’s journey towards a smart
and sustainable future on track.

Additionally, the OEM market should benefit directly or indirectly of
investments in public transports and hydrogen infrastructure. For
instance:

France is planning to spend €7 billion in hydrogen by 2030®), with
the objective to develop green hydrogen production capabilities (with
an objective of 6.5 GW electrolysers installed by 2030) and heavy
mobility use cases such as railway.

In Germany, €9 billion is to be spent on hydrogen, with €7 billion to
boost domestic hydrogen production capabilities (5 GW by 2030,
with a further 5 GW to be installed by 2040 at the latest) and further
€2 billion to be spent on forging partnerships with countries where
hydrogen can be efficiently produced®.

Spain foresees a mobilization of nearly €9 billion during the period
2020-2030 in industrial, mobility and electricity sectors, reaching
by 2030 an installed capacity of 4 GW electrolysers. In mobility, the
Hydrogen Roadmap requests two railway lines by 2030, and the main
national operator has announced the cancellation of diesel trains
acquisition to switch to hydrogen.

(3) https://www.economie.gouv.fr/presentation-strategie-nationale-developpement-hydrogene-decarbone-france.

(4) https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-germany-stimulus-idUSKBN23B10L.
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Industry characteristics

Digital Transformation

Digital transformation is a core enabler for sustainable mobility as it allows to increase capacity on green transportation systems, operate them
more efficiently and make them more attractive for passengers. It will also lead to the implementation of new business models and new way of
workings. The mobility of tomorrow will be:

Connected and seamless: real-time data collection and transmission can be used on trains condition as a lever to improve fleet and infrastructure
maintenance services through smart sensors, connected trains and the deployment of the internet of things. For passengers, multi modal is the
only solution answering all criteria (cost, time, sustainability). They also need connectivity solutions through their entire journey.

Collective: even if low-carbon alternatives such as electric or hybrid vehicles are available, private vehicle use is not compatible with reducing
traffic congestion and greenhouse gas emissions. Rail is and will remain the backbone of mobility in a sustainable world, supplemented by
lighter transportation modes, such as public or private vehicles, for first-and-last-mile journeys.

Autonomous: in order for rail to be the most attractive option for urban, regional and international travel, trains need to provide the highest levels
of quality, reliability and efficiency. This is where autonomous train operation comes into play. Digitalizing certain train operations, compiling
data and employing the advanced processing capacities of artificial intelligence can ensure a shift towards sustainable rail transportation by
making journeys faster, more comfortable and more punctual.

Systemic: For a seamless travel, from origin to destination, transportation requires centralised control centres, at the urban or even national
level, that can orchestrate fleet and mobility and respond to disruptions throughout the entire system.

MARKET PERSPECTIVE

Market evolution period (source: UNIFE World Rail Market Study, 1 October 2020). This

X o . annual growth forecast from the 2017-2019 period to the 2023-2025
According to the mos_t recent UNIFE market study®, DUbl'shEd on period is identical, on average, to the growth rate forecast in a scenario
1 October 2020, despite the effects of the lockdown on the trajectory that excludes the health crisis. The size of the average market in
of growth in 29201 the gnnual W0r|dWId? ?CCGSSIME market for the 2023-2025 is also identical. However, the study forecasted an annual
2020'?022 period s estlmateq ét €116 billion. Under the ‘F”tra' v contraction in the annual worldwide accessible railway market in 2020,
scenario, it would reach €126 billion over the 2023-2025 period, for an followed by a rebound in 2021

average annual growth rate of 2.3% as compared with the 2017-2019

UNIFE ACCESSIBLE MARKET
(average in « billion/year)

AFRICA/MIDDLE EAST/

CENTRAL ASIA INFRASTRUCTURE
ASIA/PACIFIC RAIL CONTROL
EUROPE (incl France SERVICES

and North CIS)

ROLLING STOCK
NORTH AMERICA

2017-2019 2020-2022 2023-2025 2017-2019 2020-2022 2023-2025

(1) The study was released in October 2020, and therefore does not account precisely for the recent sanitary crisis developments and size of stimulus plans recently
announced.
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Competitive position

It includes the known effects of Covid-19, such as decreased volumes
in the services market due to the decline in passenger traffic and freight
kilometres. It also includes volume adjustments resulting from the
postponement of projects. However, the rapid recovery of the rail
market in the V scenario depends significantly on the implementation
of governmental support and recovery programs for the rail industry.
Alternatively, in the U scenario, which includes more important economic
effects, the railway market’s average annual growth rate would be
limited to 0.9% from the 2017-2019 period to the 2023-2025 period.

The European market is driven by growth in its largest country market,
Germany, as well as Italy and Russia. The German Rolling stock market
will grow driven by the procurement of new high-speed trains.

7 Competitive position

The acquisition by Alstom of Bombardier Transportation, which was
among the main global competitors of Alstom, has been completed on
29 January 2021. This acquisition strengthens Alstom'’s leadership in
the growing sustainable mobility market by reaching a critical size in
all geographies and integrating further solutions and assets to better
serve its customers worldwide. Alstom is among the leaders in all the
major segments of the railway industry: urban and mainline rolling stock,
signalling, services and integrated solutions.

Alstom has various competitors in the railway industry acting globally
or locally and covering to some extent Alstom’s portfolio.

Siemens is its main global competitor in the rail transportation market,
focusing its expansion on automation and signalling. Furthermore,
Hitachi affirms itself as a global actor following the acquisition of
Ansaldo Breda in 2015 and completion of acquisition of Ansaldo STS at
the beginning of 2019.

The Chinese train manufacturer CRRC, even if leader in terms of global

revenues, is mainly active on its domestic protected market. However
the company has also expressed important international ambitions with

The Africa, Middle-East and Central Asia region is expected to have a
dynamic growth, carried for example by the Turkish market with an order
for new trains for the 533 km high speed line from Ankara to Istanbul, as
well as e-locomotives and coaches. However, the growth rate remains
uncertain, due to the evolution of the oil price.

In Asia-Pacific, China keeps growing, even on the accessible part of its
market, thanks to significant investments planned in the high-speed
and urban segments. The Indian market is forecasted to grow strongly
due to investments in urban rolling stock, electrical multiple units
(EMUs) and coaches.

In Americas, Latin America rolling stock market is expected to grow
both in urban and interurban segments. North America, the market is
growing in the United States® with large diesel freight locomotives orders
planned, as well as considerable investments in the very high-speed
segment. In Canada large urban tenders are expected.

several contracts won in 2020 in Latin America. In 2020, CRRC finalized
the acquisition of Vossloh locomotives factory in Kiel (Germany), giving
this group a foot in Europe.

Stadler Rail, a Swiss train manufacturing company, has recently strongly
increased its order book with a level of yearly orders around €4 billion
during the last five years and a start of diversification in signaling, The
Spanish train manufacturer CAF has also decided to diversify its activity
in signaling and in integrated solutions.

Some manufacturers with a less diversified portfolio of products and
industrial sites that are more geographically concentrated (Pesa, Rotem,
Skoda, Talgo, Thales, etc.) compete with Alstom in specific market
segments, such as trains or signalling.

Today, with the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation, Alstom
considers to be ranked first? in the addressable market of passenger
rail industry in all the continents®.

(1) The UNIFE study, released in October 2020, does not take into account the potential positive effect of the American Rescue Jobs unveiled in April 2021.
(2) Alstom view based on orders intake published by competitors in their financial publications, UNIFE data and press releases.

(3) Excluding China for Asia.
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DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and integration of Bombardier Transportation

7 Acquisition and integration of Bombardier Transportation

0On 29 January 2021, Alstom announced the completion of the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation for a reference price of €5.5 billion®.

This step-change acquisition enables Alstom to address the ever-
increasing demand for sustainable mobility and possess and follows an
excellent strategic rationale. Leveraging on its clear Alstom in Motion
strategy and its strong operational fundamentals and financial trajectory,

Alstom, integrating Bombardier Transportation, strengthens its leadership

in the sustainable mobility market by reaching a critical size in all

geographies and integrating further solutions and assets to better serve
its customers worldwide.

e The Group has now an unparalleled commercial reach in all
geographies thanks to the complementarities of the two companies.
While the Alstom Group already had a well-established customer base
in France, Italy, Spain, India, South East Asia, Northern Africa and
Brazil, Bombardier Transportation brings strong customer proximity in
strategic markets such as the United-Kingdom, Germany, the Nordics,
China, and North America.

The Group offers mobility operators and network providers a complete
portfolio of products and solutions throughout the entire rail value
chain. In Rolling Stock, its portfolio ranges from light rail to very
high-speed trains, including new strategic products such as people
mover and monorail. The Group is able to serve its clients in the
Services space with a wider maintenance facilities network and larger
predictive maintenance capabilities. With a fleet of 150,000 vehicles,

Alstom has the largest installed base worldwide, a unique springboard
to further expand its leadership in Services. Its Signalling product line
gains significant scale.

The Group has access further strategic industrial capacities with
competitive industrial footprint across both mature markets, such
as Western Europe, North America, Australia, and growing markets,
including Eastern Europe, Mexico and India.

Finally, bringing together c.17,700 engineering and R&D talents
from both groups, consolidating a rich legacy of 9,500 patents and
incorporating significant additional technologies from Bombardier
Transportation, for example in predictive maintenance, signalling and
digital operations, the Group is able to develop solutions at a faster
pace and on a larger scale to make mobility of tomorrow a reality.

The enlarged Group has a combined proforma revenue of around
€14 billion and €74.5 billion combined backlog. It employs 71,700
people worldwide in 70 countries.

As of June 2021, Bombardier Transportation integration is fully on track.
90% of employees consider the acquisition as positive for the group. 600
customers have been contacted post acquisition, the vast majority of them
being very positive on the acquisition and see the upside potential for
their business. N4 organization has been finalized and more than 30,000
users have been migrated to the Alstom IT environment. Additionally,
projects securisation roadmap has been fully initiated.

(1) Details on financing are given in sections 2 and 3 of this Universal Registration Document.
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7 Value creation model

OUR RESOURCES

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
1] - €74.5bn backlog

\ - Equity of €9.1bn

INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL

g - 140 sites and 250 depots in 70 countries
- Industrial CAPEX: €158m

\ INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
- 9,500 patents
'& - 3.6% of sales dedicated to R&D
- 17,700 engineers
- 92.3% of trained people*

\ NATURAL CAPITAL

- 60% of electricity

of renewable origin*
ES - 88% waste recovery*

- 92% of products sold last year
/ can be reused or recycled*

HUMAN CAPITAL

- 71,700 employees from
° 160 nationalities

RS - Top Employer* Europe, Asia
Pacific and North America
/ BRAND CAPITAL

- 1,000 customers among

@ which 300 cities

SOCIETAL CAPITAL
- 1S0 37001 antibribery certification

renewed in 2021*
a - 83% of spent with high risk suppliers assessed
according to CSR and E&C standards*
- €1.9m** foundation budget

* Alstom legacy perimeter.
** Exceptional budget to better support communities suffering from the Covid-19.
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51°

15%
AMERICAS

61%
EUROPE

12%
AMECA

12%
ASIA/PACIFIC

Signalling

18"

Services

20"
Systems
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Value creation model

VALUE CREATED
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

EMPLOYEES
- Total Recordable Injury Rate for
employees and contractors at 2.2*
- 90%* of employees recommending
Alstom as a good place to work

CUSTOMERS
q @ - Customer satisfaction at 8.4*
\ - Energy consumption of solutions
\ reduced by 21.7% vs 2014*

RESPOND
TO CLIENT 3
NEED oGy PASSENGERS
- Nearly 90 million people daily
transported by Alstom trains

ENVIRONMENT
- 4.6 g CO,/pass.km*
ag - 36% eco-designed solutions*
- Energy intensity of operations
reduced by 4% vs 2019*

SUPPLIERS
- 60% of Alstom products costs

* purchased

- Founding member of “Railsponsible”

SOCIETY

a - 27% effective tax rate
- 203,000 beneficiaries of community
initiatives*

GIVE THE KEY /

TO OPERATORS

SHAREHOLDERS
[] l‘ - €301m Adjusted Net Profit

* Alstom legacy perimeter.
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72 Strategy

The expanded strategy Alstom in Motion 2025 (AiM 2025), unveiled in July 2021, focus on capturing the strong market growth opportunities and
reinforcing further the innovation leadership of Alstom as well as driving efficiency throughout the new organisation and ensuring the successful
integration of Bombardier Transportation. It builds on well-established strategic pillars.

1. GROWTH BY OFFERING GREATER VALUE TO CUSTOMERS

The Group expects to outgrow the market significantly with a sales
growth over 5% CAGR and expand its global market share by 5 percentage
points. This reflects the positive commercial dynamics along with the
unique position of Alstom to fully capture market opportunities.

Regarding market presence, more than 70% share of the Group sales are
in North America and Europe, two regions that will benefit from strong
stimulus packages. Alstom has in particular a very natural leadership
position in Western and Southern Europe. With the Bombardier
Transportation acquisition, it also strengthened significantly its industrial
and commercial assets in Germany, North America, United Kingdom and
Nordics, and plans to further develop in these geographies.

The Group is the only industry player which such a presence in emerging
markets, with 11 JVs in China, major manufacturing and engineering
sites in India. It also demonstrated strong track record in executing
complex projects in emerging markets and is uniquely placed to capture
growth in Asia, Middle East and Africa stemming from economic growth
and urbanization.

Alstom can also now build on its ability to offer the best value proposition
for its customers based on the most complete and a high performing
portfolio in the industry, with Rolling Stock ranging from light rail to
very high speed train, parts, maintenance and operations services, and
a complete portfolio in Signalling.

Signalling and Services will continue to have the fastest growth potential.
Alstom aims to be market leader in Signalling by 2025 benefiting from
its technological leadership in ETCS @, a presence in each strategic
market and strong engineering hubs in mature and emerging markets.
In Services, Alstom targets to grow at solid mid-single digit, leveraging
on the widest installed base of the industry with, 150,000 vehicles,
the most extensive depots network and 15,000 highly skilled service
employees. In Rolling Stock, Alstom comprehensive and best-in-class
portfolio, continuously fuelled with innovation, is positioning the Group
ahead of the game, and Alstom will focus most particularly on increasing
competitiveness and profitability.

2. INNOVATION BY PIONEERING SMARTER AND GREENER MOBILITY FOR ALL

Alstom has significantly reinforced his Research and Development (R&D)
resources and intends to expand its leadership in rail innovation. With
the new scale and combined expertise, the Group now has more than
9,500 patents and a unique scale and talent base in the industry. R&D
investments will be significantly reinforced - expected at €550-600 million
per year in 2024/25 at around 3% of annual sales - to further advance
innovation in the key areas of smart, green, inclusive and healthier
mobility.

The Group is the only rail player that today offers the entire scope of
green traction solutions and in-house fuel cell technology. Hydrogen
trains have been running in Germany since 2018 and the Group has
been awarded firm contracts in Germany, France and Italy for 59 trains
and has multiplied other partnerships with other countries in Europe.
For Smart Mobility, the Group aims to have fully autonomous trains
prototypes for freight and passengers ready by 2023. Alstom will also
be able to leverage data from the 35,000 vehicles currently maintained
and can count on its 7,500 software engineers and systems architects
working on digital mobility solutions to further advance its offering to
enable fully connected metros, trams as well regional trains.

3. EFFICIENCY AT SCALE, POWERED BY DIGITAL

The continued transformation and efficiency gains combined with the
successful integration of Bombardier Transportation will be a key focus
to deliver on the Group’s ambitious profitable growth targets. The Group
will continue to deploy its proven ability in operational excellence and
project management, leverage its balanced global footprint, drive the
digitalization of its value chain to optimise sites and projects and transfer
its expertise throughout the new organisation.

(1) European Train Control System.
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This will be achieved on a basis of clear strategic initiatives supported

by a set of dedicated targets by 2025:

® The Group will drive the transformation by deploying its digital suite
to reach 100% Group wide, leverage its scale to invest and accelerate
and increase digitalization of its processes by 20%.



The Group will drive continued project management excellence in order
to achieve a Net Promoter Score of 8.3, implement systematic cash
focus in projects, and extend best practices to lower hard inventories
by 20%.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Integration of Bombardier Transportation

® The Group will grow its sites in Best Costs Countries, leverage its
combined locations to optimize its industrial strategy and optimize
its supply chain to increase global manufacturing work by 20% in
Best Costs Countries and increase manufacturing productivity by 10%.

4. ONE ALSTOM TEAM AGILE, INCLUSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE

The Group reiterates its Corporate Social Responsibility convictions to aim for carbon neutrality in transport and increase social equity and inclusion by

increasing the availability and efficiency of public transport. These convictions are driven by one Alstom team with one set of values: Agile, Inclusive

and Responsible.

The Group extended its ESG 2025 targets and will bring this to the scope of the new organisation. Its priorities are: Enabling decarbonisation of

mobility, Caring for our people, Creating a positive impact on society and Acting as a responsible business partner.

® 25% energy reduction in solutions ©
Enabling © 100% of newly developed solutions eco-designed Creating a ® 250,000 beneficiaries
decarbonisation  ® 100% electricity supply from renewables positive impact per year from local actions
of mobility ® Alstom committed to science-based CO, emissions reduction on society and Alstom foundation

targets within the frame of the Paris Agreement @
® 100% of suppliers monitored
. . or assessed on Corporate
. * Total recordable injury rate at 2 Acting as a ; -orp

Caring for X N . " Social Responsibility and

© 28% \Women in management, engineering & professional role responsible . .
our people Ethics and Compliance

© Global Top Employer certification

business partner . .
P standards according to their

level of risk

(1) Compared to 2014

(2) Target on Alstom legacy perimeter covering emissions from operations (scopes 1 and 2) consistent with reductions required to keep warming to 1.5°C, the most
ambitious goal of the Paris Agreement. Target on Alstom legacy perimeter for emissions from value chain (scope 3) meeting the SBTi’s criteria for ambitious value
chain goals, in line with current best practice. As part of the Bombardier Transportation integration program, CO, reduction targets will be reviewed by the end of

FY2021/22

Most recently, Alstom has signed in June 2021 a €400 million Green guarantee facility with BBVA for the issuance of bank guarantees in support
of Alstom’s commercial contracts which recognizes the Group contribution to Sustainable Development Goals SDG 9 “Industry, innovation and

infrastructure” and SDG 11 “Sustainable Cities and Communities”.

7 Integration of Bombardier Transportation

The integration of Bombardier Transportation is on track and has received
strong employee support and customer endorsements. Five months
after closing, the organisation is deployed as per target; the product
and process convergence roadmaps are secured, and the organisation
is now operating under one unified IT system. The Group also achieved
its first significant commercial wins from the combined strength of the
portfolio and expanded geographical footprint resulting in around €6
billion of orders in the first quarter of the current fiscal year.

A clear integration roadmap and timeline has been set to complement
the Group’s strategy:

© Stabilisation of challenging Bombardier Transportation legacy projects
based on Alstom’s proven expertise and execution track record in 2
to 3 years with a strong focus on 2021/22;

* One operating model with best-in-class converged processes and
product portfolio in 3 years;

(1) Subject to short term volatility.

e Full leverage of the significant geographical, industrial and product
scale and complementarities for synergies, enhanced value proposition
and growth from 4-5 years onwards.

The current fiscal year 2021/22 will be a transition year, focused on
the stabilization of the Bombardier Transportation challenging legacy
projects. During H1 2021/22 free cash flow is expected to be between
(€1.6 billion) and (€1.9 billion) impacted by working capital consumption
due to phasing, industrial ramp-up and project stabilization efforts.
In H2 2021/22, the Group expects positive free cash flow driven by
increased deliveries and operations stabilization. Overall, this should
result in significant negative free cash flow in 2021/22. Thereafter, the
Group expects to see yearly positive free cash flow generation towards
its mid-term target over 80% @, driven by progressive working capital
stabilization.

— Universal Registration Document 2020/21 — ALSTOM
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Mid-term financial trajectory and objectives

7 Mid-term financial trajectory and objectives

® Sales: Between 2020/21 (proforma sales of €14 billion) - and
2024/25, Alstom is aiming at sales Compound Annual Growth Rate
over 5%, supported by strong market momentum and unparalleled
€74.5 billion backlog securing ca. €30 billion of sales over the next
three years. Rolling stock should grow above market rate, Services
at solid mid-single digit path and Signalling at high single digit path;

Profitability: The adjusted EBIT margin should reach between 8% and
10% from 2024/25 onwards, benefiting from operational excellence
initiatives, the completion of the challenging projects in backlog
while synergies are expected to deliver €é400m run rate between
2024/25 and 2025/26;

® Free Cash Flow: From 2024/25 onwards, the conversion from net
income @ to free cash flow should be over 80% @ driven by mid-term
stability of working capital, stabilisation of CAPEX to around 2% of
sales and cash focus initiatives while benefiting from volume and
synergies take up;

Alstom will maintain its disciplined capital allocation focusing on
maintaining its investment grade profile while keeping flexibility and
ability to pursue growth opportunities through focused bolt-on M&A.

e Alstom is committed to delivering sustained shareholder returns with
a dividend pay-out ratio of between 25% and 35% ©). For fiscal year
2020/2021, on the dividend announced on May 11 @, Alstom’s board
of directors decided to propose, in its meeting of July 4, to the General
Shareholder Assembly a dividend in share or in cash, which will be
detailed in the notice for the shareholders’ meeting.

7 Other strategic acquisitions and partnerships

Over the last decades, both Alstom legacy and Bombardier Transportation
legacy pursued targeted acquisitions which enables Alstom today to have
an unparallel commercial reach and strategic industrial capacities with
competitive industrial footprint.

In 2020/21, Alstom pursued the implementation of its Alstom in
Motion strategic plan through bolt-on value-creating acquisitions.

0On 30 June 2020, Alstom acquired IBRE (since renamed Alstom IBRE),
a company specialized in the development, manufacture and supply
of cast iron or steel brake discs for high-speed, intercity, regional and
suburban trains, trams and metros.

In January 2021, the Group acquired B&C Transit, a transit engineering
design and construction firm specializing in the passenger rail sector. This
transaction reinforces Alstom’s position in the North American signalling
market by combining the companies’ advanced technology products and
engineering capabilities to the benefit of transit agencies and operators
across the United-States and Canada. B&C Transit, headquartered in
California, had a turnover over US$45 million in 2020.

7 Industrial footprint

Alstom designs solutions that are very diverse and adapted to the cities,
regions and countries they serve. Its organisational structure covers
the entire world and relies on a network of offices, engineering centres
and manufacturing sites, warehouses and maintenance centres, which
guarantees the smooth and uninterrupted supply of these various
solutions.

With the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation in January 2021,
the Group has access to further strategic industrial capacities with
competitive industrial footprint across both mature markets, such as

(1) Adjusted net income.
(2) Subject to short term volatility.
(3) Of adjusted net income.

In March 2021, Alstom expanded its maintenance expertise in Benelux
with the acquisition of Dutch services company Shunter. Each year,
Shunter carries out maintenance, overhaul and damage repair on more
than 1,000 railway vehicles. Shunter’s annual turnover in 2020 was
around €20 million.

On 1 April 2021, (after fiscal year 2020/21), Alstom completed the
acquisition of Helion Hydrogen power. Through this acquisition,
Alstom, who is playing a pioneering role in the field of hydrogen for the
railway sector, extends its portfolio of innovative and leading solutions.
Helion Hydrogen Power employs nearly 30 employees and is based in
Aix-en-Provence (France). The company covers the entire value chain of
high-power fuel cells and has been involved in more than 100 projects
and some 30 of its solutions are in operation worldwide

On 2 April 2021 (after fiscal year 2020/21), Alstom acquired Flertex, a
French group specialised in the design and manufacture of brake linings
(pads and shoes) for braking systems. With this acquisition, Alstom
continues to expand and strengthens its expertise in braking systems,
a key element in the overall technical performance of trains.

Western Europe, North America, Australia, and growing markets,
including Eastern Europe, Mexico and India. Bombardier Transportation
brings hubs of expertise for locomotives and bogies in Germany, monorail
and people movers in Canada, suburban and regional trains in France and
the United-Kingdom, traction in Sweden, along with engineering centres
in best cost countries in Thailand. It brings also seven well-established
joint-ventures in China.

(4) Dividend distribution of €0.25 per share, which corresponds to a 31% payout ratio from the adjusted net profit group share.
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Industrial footprint

With those immediate strategic additions to Alstom’s already diversified allows for the precise monitoring of changes in customer needs and the
footprint, the enlarged Group has access to deeper industrial expertise ability to respond quickly.
and is closer to its customers. Its commercial and industrial proximity

MAIN ENGINEERING AND MANUFACTURING LOCATIONS

© ROLLING STOCK AND COMPONENTS

A SIGNALLING
@ SsYSTEMS *
(o)
oAo o
A Q@
A (o)
A (o)
O A
o,
o Ao
A A
(o)
A
A o A
o
* Engineering locations only.

During the fiscal year 2020/21, Alstom has further automatized and In Engineering, former Bombardier Transportation brought immediate

digitized its way of producing and maintaining equipments, as part of strategic and qualified engineering capabilities, such as in Saint-Bruno

its efficiency programme. For instance: (Canada), a site covering a wide set of engineering expertises in rolling

o large deployment of remote assistance in the context of the sanitary stock, components and software or in Bangkok (Thailand) which

crisis, with more than 100 smart glasses used within the Group; complements Alstom signaling engineering presence in Asia-Pacific.

The Group also continues to further increase the share of engineering

© the quantity of 3D printing parts has been multiplied by 2.5 between R N
hours in Bangalore (India).

2019/20 and 2020/21.
We are now a 71,700 people company (to be compared with 38,900
in fiscal year 2019/20) with 160 nationalities, located in 140 sites and

250 depots.
EMPLOYEES AT 31 MARCH 2021
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia Asia-Pacific Europe Americas Total
4,900 11,500 43,100 12,200 71,700

In China, the presence of the Group is strengthened by 10,000 people working in non-consolidated joint-ventures such as Casco and Bombardier
Sifang (Qingdao) Transportation Ltd.
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2 Offering

With respect to the transportation of passengers by rail throughout the
world, Alstom’s range of products covers all market segments, from light
rail vehicles to very high-speed trains and offers mobility operators and
network providers products and solutions throughout the entire rail value

ROLLING STOCK AND COMPONENTS

Light Rail Vehicles

Alstom’s Citadis™ and Flexity™ combined product range complements
and sets the standard in the market, with over 20-year track record and
around 8,000 vehicles ordered or already in successful revenue service,
in more than 100 cities around the world.

Such complementary tram and light rail vehicle solutions provide the
latest technology and innovations such as the first homologated obstacle
detection assistance system or the latest catenary-free options. They
were tried and tested in various market applications, both for legacy
networks as well as for greenfield projects, for the benefit of drivers,
passengers and other traffic participants.

On a day-to-day basis, Alstom’s Citadis™ and Flexity™ products &
services provide urban & suburban transit customers and operators with
best-in-class reliability and high availability, with also a set of relevant
maintenance package offers for long term support.

The latest Alstom projects, which entered revenue service to accompany
transportation stakeholders in meeting tomorrow’s mobility challenges,
were mainly in Europe (Lyon, Dublin, Gothenburg and Zurich), but also in
other worldwide cities, such as Cuenca (Ecuador), Kaochsiung (Taiwan)
or Sydney (Australia).

The orders, recently won by Alstom, will complement and contribute
to further improving sustainable development and environmental
friendliness with the latest fleet renewals (Berlin, Cologne, Nantes,
Strasbourg) or with modern additional trams and/or tram-trains
(Casablanca, fle-de-France...).

Urban

Alstom is now able to answer to any urban environment need: from small
capacity lines (~5 000 persons per hour and per direction (PPHD)) with
Automated People Mover (APM) or Monorail solutions to High Capacity
lines (70,000+ PPHD) based on Movia™ or Metropolis™ platforms.

Bombardier Transportation acquisition allowed Alstom to increase even
further its market coverage, adding to its portfolio APM (Innovia™ APM)
or Monorail solutions (Innovia™ Monorail).

All our urban solutions are designed with the following three priorities:
improve safety and experience for all passengers, reduce operating
costs of our clients and minimize environmental impact (reduce energy
consumption, reduce noise, increase of recoverable materials usage...).

Alstom has delivered urban mobility solutions for a number of major
networks in cities such as New York (United States), London (United
Kingdom) or Sydney (Australia). Additional cities will see soon running
an Alstom product in their urban network: Agra-Kanpur (India) with a
Movia™ solution, Taipei (Taiwan) with a Metropolis™ solution, and Cairo
(Egypt) with an Innovia™ Monorail, just to name a few.
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chain. Integrating Bombardier Transportation, Alstom has now the most
complete rail portfolio. Alstom portfolio includes rolling stock, signalling
solutions, integrated systems (including infrastructure) and services.

Suburban trains

Alstom is one of the market leaders in the suburban mobility segment,
with a presence in several urban centers and surrounding regions such
as France (with X'trapolis Cityduplex™ in Paris area), South Africa (with
X'trapolis™ Mega) or the United-Kingdom (with Aventra™).

Alstom has now a larger product portfolio and is able to cover any
client need in the suburban segment: from single deck trains such as
X'trapolis™ or Aventra™, to double-decks, mixed single and double decks
or multilevel solutions. As an illustration of its leadership, Alstom has
recently received an order from Metra, the commuter rail network in the
Chicago metropolitan area, to supply 200 multilevel cars (the contract
can reach up to 500 cars).

Our suburban solutions are thought to minimize operating costs of
our customers, while ensuring the highest level in terms of safety and
availability. Offering eco-conceived products and designing trains with
an improved experience for all passengers, are among our highest
priorities. For example, above mentioned Metra bilevel product will meet
all Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and accessibility requirements,
including the addition of wheelchair lifts on each side of the vehicles.
The new rail cars will also be 92% recyclable.

Regional trains

With more than 30 years of experience and thousands of regional trains
sold around the world, there-off more than 3,000 Coradia™ trains, Alstom
has set the standard in the market.

The range offers specific technical configuration adapted to the needs of
each operator: Coradia™ Nordic is designed to run in wintry conditions
and withstand extremely cold temperatures; Coradia™ Lint™, powered
by a diesel drive system, is in operation since many years in Europe and
since 2015 in Ottawa, Canada. New deliveries will be environmentally
friendly with stage V gas emission standard diesel engines; Coradia™
Continental is a state-of-the-art modular electric multiple unit.

The new Coradia Stream™ is a success, in particular with the supply of
more than 310 single deck trains to clients in Italy (Regional version)
and to the Netherlands national railway operator (Intercity version). This
range enlarges with high-capacity double-deck trains with orders by the
Luxemburg’s national operator and by German public transit authorities
LNVG totalling 68 trains.

On top of Coradia Stream™ High Capacity, Alstom offers further double-
deck solutions, such as Omneo™, a family of extra-wide double-deck
trains that combine capacity, comfort and accessibility. The different
versions make it possible to provide commuter, regional and intercity
services. French national operator SNCF has already bought more
than 500 trains.

With Twindexx™ Vario double-deck coaches, Alstom offers a modular
and variable train concept, which can easily be adapted to peak and
off-peak travel times. To be used with in push-pull operations using
electric or diesel locomotives.
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EMISSION-FREE REGIONAL TRAINS

Alstom is ideally positioned to accompany its clients in phasing out diesel by 2035 as it is the sole railway player to offer the whole range of
green-traction solutions.

Alstom launched, in 2016, Coradia iLint™, an emission-free train for non-electrified lines, powered by hydrogen fuel cells. It can run at 140 km/h,
with an autonomy up to 1,000 km/tankful, and accommodate up to 300 passengers. The first pre-serial trains entered in passenger service in
Lower Saxony (Germany), in September 2018, and were operated in Austria in autumn 2020 as well. Alstom has signed two contracts to supply
serial trains in Germany, now: in 2022, 14 Coradia iLint™ will be delivered to LNVG and 27 trains of the same type to RMV. Additionally, with
Coradia Stream™ FCMU, Alstom will deliver hydrogen trains to Italian operator FNM. Also, Alstom recently signed a contract with SNCF to deliver
12 Coradia™ Polyvalent hydrogen version to French Regions.

In 2020, Alstom signed its first contract ever for battery powered trains (B-EMU) with VMS in Germany. The trains are based on service proven
Coradia™ EMU train family.

Alstom is also pursuing its strategy of sustainable development and innovation with the acquisition of Helion Hydrogen Power. With this acquisition,
Alstom extends its portfolio of innovative and competitive solutions. Helion covers the entire value chain of high-power fuel cells. This technology
offers a very interesting potential for the hydrogen train market, which is expected to boom by 2025-2030 with the replacement of many ageing

and polluting diesel trains and the diesel ban in some countries.

Mainline

Alstom™ offers the largest range of high-speed trains in the market,
from articulated and non-articulated trainsets to tilting technology, single
or double-decker architectures, concentrated or distributed traction.
Six current flagship products represent the culmination of 40 years of
expertise and more than 2,800 high-speed trains sold with Alstom™
technology in 25 countries.

High speed trains have a maximum service speed between 200 km/h and
250 km/h, this segment encompasses 2 products: Avelia™ Pendolino™
and Zefiro™ Express.

Avelia™ Pendolino™ high-speed trains ensure excellent flexibility and
seamless cross-border service. With its Tiltronix™ anticipatory tilting
technology, Avelia™ Pendolino™ can travel more rapidly through curves
on conventional lines (up to 30% faster in curves than a classic train),
reaching speeds of 250 km/h on high-speed lines while guaranteeing
an excellent level of passenger comfort inside the train. It is available
with or without tilting technology. Since 1976, more than 500 Avelia™
Pendolino™ train sets have been sold throughout the world in various
trainset lengths and loading gauges.

Zefiro™ Express high-speed trains bring comfort to the intercity segment
with the lowest total cost of ownership. Capable of comfortably seating
up to 800 passengers, it is the perfect mobility solution for intercity
routes with high ridership. The Zefiro™ Express solution was designed
for peak performance through all seasons and has undergone extensive
testing in winter conditions. The train is reliable down to -40 degrees
Celsius and can run through an 80 cm snow drift. In 2018, Vasttrafik
(Sweden) signed an agreement for the supply of Zefiro™ Express train
fleet consisting of 40+5 three-car trains.

Very high-speed trains have a maximum service speed above 300 km/h,
this segment encompasses 4 products: Avelia™ Euroduplex™, Avelia™
AGV™, Avelia Horizon™, Avelia Liberty™. Alstom™ is also leveraging
on developments made by recently acquired resources in the very
high-Speed segment.

Avelia™ AGV™ is the first very high-speed train (up to 360 km/h)
combining articulation and distributed power. As a result, it offers lower
operating costs in terms of energy and maintenance. Avelia™ AGV™
is available in different configurations of multiple units including two
eleven-car and three seven-car trainsets, with a light weight, reduced
number of bogies, improved aerodynamic design and permanent magnet
motors to limit energy consumption.

Avelia™ Euroduplex™ is the world’s only double-deck very high-speed
train in service able to travel at service speeds of 320 km/h. Operating
on the French, German, Swiss, Spanish and Luxembourg rail networks,
and in Morocco, Avelia™ Euroduplex™ trainsets, like all Avelia™ trains,
feature signalling equipment compatible with each network and are
fitted with traction systems adapted to the different voltages used in
these countries. After more than 130 trains sold, Avelia™ Euroduplex™
is being replaced by the new generation of double deck very high-speed
trains, Avelia Horizon™.

Avelia Horizon™ brings its predecessor’s benefits to a further level,
offering 20% more capacity together with high comfort and minimising
total cost of ownership, thanks to an optimised architecture based on
compact power car and new articulated double deck coaches. Energy
consumption and maintenance costs are reduced respectively by 20%
and 30% compared to the previous generation. In July 2018, the Board
of Directors of SNCF Mobilités approved a firm order for 100 next
generation Avelia Horizon™ very high-speed trains, to be in commercial
service by 2024.

Combining proven technologies such as tilting from Avelia™ Pendolino™,
articulation and compact power car from Avelia Horizon™, Avelia
Liberty™ offers flexibility and comfort with accessibility and reduced
operating costs. Amtrak ordered 28 new high-speed trains, which will
run on the Northeast Corridor between Boston and Washington D.C.

In addition to its proprietary product range, Alstom™ provides its high
speed and very high-speed technology and experience as member of
a consortium or as a supplier to other manufacturers. As an example,
Alstom™ is playing a major role, providing car body shells, bogies and
final assembly of specific cars to the ICE 4 program in Germany for
Deutsche Bahn.
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Locomotives

The manufacturing of locomotives for the purpose of passenger or
freight transportation is at the heart of Alstom™ historical business
activities and expertise. With over 5,500 locomotives sold throughout
the world, Alstom™ locomotives have provided a response well adapted
to operators’ demands.

Traxx™ 3 locomotive platform (BoBo) is one of the most innovative
locomotives to enter the European freight and passenger transportation
market. The Traxx™ 3 platform offers a flexible and modular design for
European Mainline applications and configurations required for individual
operation. Building blocks of this platform can be used for customized
solutions for specific regions. Examples of such applications are the
ALP passenger locomotives for North America, the E464 locomotive
for Italy’s passenger traffic and the IORE locomotives for heavy freight
transport in Sweden.

Fully compatible with the European Rail Traffic Management System
(ERTMS) signalling systems, Alstom™ locomotives can cross borders
with ease and operate on every freight corridor in Europe, as well as
being able to run on any of four main power supply voltages (25 kV, 15
kV, 3,000 V and 1,500 V). They are equipped with redundant systems
that reduce the risk of downtime due to immobilisation.

Both alone and with its partners, Alstom™ also develops Alstom Prima
T8™ (double BoBo type, up to 25 tons/axle), for heavy freight operations
guaranteeing low maintenance costs and high operational performances
in extreme conditions.

Finally, Alstom™ has two types of environmental-friendly shunting
locomotives in its portfolio. The Alstom Prima H3™ hybrid shunting
locomotive (3-axle) combines the autonomy of diesel engine and the
benefits of the battery, which allows to reduce fuel consumption by up
to 50%. As of end 2020, 54 Alstom Prima H3™ hybrid locomotives have
been ordered by German and Swiss companies and 42 have been put
in commercial service, representing by far the largest fleet of hybrid
shunting locomotives running in the world. The Alstom Prima H&4™ is a
BoBo type locomotive which can be used for shunting and track works
services, and also for mainline freight services thanks to its high power
range for a shunting locomotive. The Alstom Prima H4™ is available in
three versions, namely dual-mode diesel (catenary power supply and
diesel), dual-mode battery (catenary power supply and battery) and
hybrid (diesel engine and battery). SBB Infrastructure, in Switzerland,
has started equipping its rail network with 47 Alstom Prima H4™
dual-mode diesel locomotives since 2019.

Components

Alstom designs, develops, manufactures and services also bogies, traction
motors, gearboxes, hydraulic dampers, brake discs, complete traction
systems including auxiliary converters, switchgears, transformers and the
backbone of any rolling stock: the train control systems (hardware and
software). They are the result of several decades of experience acquired
and capitalized by Alstom’s engineers. Thanks to the recent acquisition
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of Bombardier Transportation, the components portfolio has now an
unprecedented range of products and technologies.

In addition, Alstom is continuing its strategy of excellence in the
development of its interiors for the rolling stock. Alstom strengthens
further its capacity to innovate and to develop Interior Solutions which
are modulable and environmentally friendly with an even higher level
of recyclability, while offering to Passengers an enhanced environment,
quieter, and more comfortable, through innovative solutions such as the
dynamic lighting system called “Smart Lighting”.

The use of permanent magnet motors from light rail to very high speed
and the introduction of Silicon Carbide technology (SiC) in its auxiliary
and traction converters enables us to offer more compact and efficient
traction solutions, optimized power density and significant energy
consumption savings.

Pushing the limits of performance with our new traction system
technology has helped to significantly improve the Total Cost of
Ownership (TCO) and reduce maintenance activities allowing Alstom
to win multiple new metro contracts like in Bucharest.

A revolutionary Integrated Traction and Auxiliary Converters (ITAC) has
been successfully launched and will be the core of the future Nantes
tramways. This new “all-in-one” layout of the traction case, with reduced
dimensions and weight, ease the integration on the roof of optional
autonomy solution.

In order to improve passenger’s accessibility, Alstom has developed a
levelling system to adjust all types of trains to platform height as well as
a variable-gauge bogie technology avoiding passengers to move from a
train to another in countries where there are still different track widths
like on regional Swiss market where the track width may be different
between cantons on local lines.

Our new portfolio has recently integrated a revolutionary frameless bogie
concept allowing, on top of the weight reduction and the associated
performance improvement, a fully flat and ultra-low floor all along the
tramway and better accessibility for disabled people. It will be integrated
on our recently won contract for the Berlin’s tramways.

The bogie technology also covers passive radial wheel steering technology
reducing drastically wheel wear and noise and, thanks to the enormous
engineering knowledge, we can offer our customer services to optimize
their wheel and track wear through our “Wheel Rail Interface consultancy
services”.

Regarding train control systems, Alstom has developed and deployed
an upstream validation scheme using the latest techniques to ensure
smooth introduction to commercial service.

On top of the acquisition of IBRE in July 2020 which is addressing all
solutions of brake discs both for original equipment manufacturing and
aftermarket, the recent acquisition of Flertex, specialized in the design
and manufacture of brake linings and pads will expand and strengthens
Alstom’s expertise in braking systems, a key element relating to the
safety and overall technical performance of trains.
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HEALTHIER MOBILITY™

Alstom’s Healthier Mobility™ portfolio of solutions, consisting of solutions for immediate implementation or under development, has been specifically
developed to destroy viruses, including Covid-19, while limiting their impact on the environment and on passenger health and guaranteeing the
reliability and durability of rail material.

These solutions have been divided into five domains, in connection with the mode of transmission of the virus:
® Cleaning and disinfection;

® Contact surfaces;

® Air treatment and ventilation;

® Contactless solutions and passenger flow;

o Referential.

An example of implementation is Alstom Mastria, a solution from the Alstom Healthier Mobility™ portfolio, which has been tried and tested in
the Panama metro. In response to the constraints linked to the health crisis, this technology is used to ensure that train occupancy never exceeds
40% of maximum capacity, as recommended by the country’s health authorities. Mastria uses artificial intelligence (Al) to provide operators and
transport authorities with improved tools for managing passenger flow, enabling them to adapt their transport offer in real time to the various
requirements of social distancing and to manage large flows of people.

INFRASTRUCTURE & TELECOM

Alongside its expertise in the execution of track, electrification and
electromechanical equipment projects, Alstom develops innovative
infrastructure solutions to achieve reduced costs, faster delivery and
improved energy efficiency of urban transport projects. As track works
play a significant role in the duration of a project, Alstom designed
Appitrack™, an automated track-laying solution enabling to install
urban tracks up to four times faster than with traditional methods.
Alstom also co-developed HAS™, a metro track solution composed of
concrete sleepers on resilient pads placed in a rigid boot, attenuating
ground-borne noise and vibrations. HAS™ is under implementation
on Crossrail project (United Kingdom) with more than 5,000 sleepers
being installed in sensitive sections of the line and has also been the
selected solution for the Grand Paris Metro L15 (SE) and L16.1 with
more than 15,000 sleepers.

To achieve significant energy efficiency for urban and suburban rail
transport networks, Alstom has created Hesop™, a reversible substation
for traction and recovery in one single converter. Hesop™ enables the
reduction of heat dispersion and therefore the associated ventilation

TURNKEY

Alstom capitalized on its multidisciplinary knowledge and experience
to offer integrated systems able to manage every aspect of a railway
system (trains, signalling, infrastructure and maintenance). Alstom
offers these solutions both in the urban transportation market and the
mainline transportation market.

With numerous urban lines under construction underway around the
world, Alstom continues to cement its position as a global leader for
integrated urban systems projects. This is an area in which Alstom has an
excellent track record with contracts such as Montreal (Canada), Riyadh
(Saudi Arabia), Toulouse (France), Taipei (Taiwan) or Cairo (Egypt).

Alstom provides a global approach for metro systems that was applied
to projects such as Dubai metro. Dubai metro is one of the most
iconic Alstom projects, in commercial service since February 2021.

requirements in underground operations. Hesop™ recovers 99% of
the available braking energy during the full project life. This energy
optimization enables to reduce the number of substations by 20% in new
built projects or increase the traffic up to 40% on existing lines. Hesop™
converters have been ordered for projects such as the Riyadh subway
(Saudi Arabia), the Dubai subway (UAE), the Sydney tramway (Australia)
as well Hannover (Germany) tramway and Toulouse (France) Metro lines.
130 Hesop™ converters are now ordered or delivered.

Alstom also pioneered in the field of catenary-free tramway solutions,
with APS™, a technology powering trams at ground level via a segmented
third rail. To complete its catenary-free solutions, Alstom launched SRS™,
a new ground-based static charging system for trams and electric buses
equipped with on-board energy storage. In December 2019, Alstom
commissioned, for the first time, its new-generation tram Citadis X05™,
completed with its innovative SRS™ charging system on new lines 2
and 3 in Nice (France). Since October 2019 the first SRS™ charging
system for electrical buses has been installed and operated as a pilot
in Malaga, Spain.

It started with the anticipation of Dubai 2020 World Expo, half of its
expected 25 million visitors shall use public transport. Its mission was
two-fold: upgrading the existing system’s performance and adding a
new interoperable extension of 15 km long, without impact on the
operation of the existing line.

To meet the needs of cities experiencing rapid growth and high population
density, Alstom has developed Axonis™, a light metro system, that
capitalizes on the use of industry-standard subsystems such as
Metropolis™, Urbalis™, Hesop™ and Appitrack™ along with performance
optimisation and pre-defined interfaces, to reduce the acquisition cost
and the total cost of ownership.
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Alstom is also pioneer in Monorail solution with its sleek vehicles running
on slender guidebeams, seamlessly integrated into urban environments
with commercial success such as Bangkok (Thailand) or Cairo (Egypt).
Alstom driverless monorail turnkey system based on Innovia™ monorail
300 rolling stock offers comfortable mass-transit capacity with iconic
aesthetics.

Alstom complements its turnkey urban system offering with its tramway
integrated systems such as Attractis™ its pre-engineered integrated
tramway system solution for fast-growing cities, that include rolling

SIGNALLING

Alstom provides operators and infrastructure managers the means to
ensure the safe and smooth transportation of passengers or merchandise,
thereby optimising the efficiency of urban or main line networks. It
supplies railway operators and infrastructure managers with control
and information systems as well as onboard and on-track equipment
that guarantee the effectiveness and safety of the use of products, on
the one hand, as well as ensure that passengers are informed and
comfortable, on the other hand.

Alstom’s offer is focused on two separate segments of the market: main
line networks and urban networks - for which Alstom offers complete
and integrated solutions, which are customisable, based on the needs
of its customers. In addition, it also offers passenger security solutions,
and control centres for network management.

The development of signalling activity enables Alstom to meet the
growing demand for integration expressed by its customers. At the same
time, it makes every effort to reduce costs associated with this business by
relying increasingly on outsourcing its electronic systems production and
by establishing engineering centres in new regions, such as in Bangalore
(India). In order to optimise its development efforts, Alstom’s signalling
products and solutions rely on shared processes.

Mainline Train Control

Operators must face challenges of an increased demand at lower cost.
They are looking for better quality of services, reduced trip time and
better punctuality without modifying the existing infrastructure. Alstom
signalling solutions optimize traffic, ensuring efficiency and gradually
automating operations with a competitive total cost of ownership. Our
mainline signalling solutions are ranging from freight traffic to regional
and commuter, intercity and high-speed lines.

European Train Control System solution

The new ETCS/ERTMS standard (European Train Control System/
European Rail Traffic Management System) for railway network
interoperability is intended to impose a single signalling system shared by
all the countries in the European Union. The ETCS/ERTMS standard has
now been adopted by rail operators for different types of rail operations
from suburban to very high-speed rail and by operators from many
countries outside Europe. Having played a key role in defining these ETCS/
ERTMS standards, Alstom’s answer to these challenges can be found in

ALSTOM — Universal Registration Document 2020/21 —

stocks, road works, related infrastructure along with control systems
and maintenance depots, with significant contracts such as Sydney
or Edmonton.

Alstom is at the forefront of developments in automated people mover
(APM) technology. Los Angeles Airport and Jeddah International Airport
are among our latest contracts. Alstom integrated APM system offering
capitalizes on our latest generation vehicle: Innovia™ APM 300 that
has evolved from years of service backed with extensive testing on our
own test tracks.

Atlas™, Interflo™ and EBI Cab™ offerings, complete solutions integrating
all of the network’s data in order to automatically adapt the speed and
distance between trains, including whenever the train crosses borders.

Alstom has won a contract from the National Capital Region Transport
Corporation Ltd. (NCRTC) to provide India’s first-ever line with European
Train Control System (ETCS) hybrid Level 3 signalling system. The contract
marks a world premiere for the combination of the latest ETCS standard
supported by the latest digital Interlocking and Automatic Train Operation
(ATO) over Long Term Evolution (LTE) radio.

Freight and Mining train control solutions

ElectroLogIXS™ Freight and Mining train control solutions offer a
CENELEC and AREMA compliant, wayside interface that provides
vital control of wayside signalling applications. Ideally suited for small
to medium interlocking, signalling and level crossing applications,
ElectroLogIXS™ provides a variety of functions available a single platform.
ElectroLogIXS™ provides interlocking control for small to medium-size
interlocking with integrated control of lamps, vital input/output and
track circuit intermediate signalling applications. It also provides an
integrated level crossing controller solution including constant warning/
prediction capability and control of level crossing gates, lamps and
bells. Alstom Freight and Mining solutions are widely deployed with an
excellent safety and reliability record. ElectroLogIXS™ has over 18 years
of safe and reliable operation and over 25,000 units in revenue service.

Incremental Train Control System is a GPS-based train control system
well suited for long spread-out territory, remote section of tracks, low
to medium frequency trains, challenging power and communication
supplies, and simple interlocking needs. Acting in remote areas as vital
virtual signalling system, ITCS wirelessly communicates train movement
authority as though the territory were operating under centralised traffic
control. This principle leads to the lowest possible trackside equipment
for a signalling system allowing optimised lifecycle costs and higher
availability. This solution is scalable and can be adapted without changing
the infrastructure. Safety is ensured through full situational awareness
and continuous speed enforcement in the cab and wireless control of all
trains from central office. ITCS offers proven performance in daily revenue
service since 2001 having been deployed on freight, mining and mixed
traffic lines in USA, China, Australia and Colombia.



Urban Train Control

Network congestion, security, environmental pollution, and the lack
of adequate mobility solutions are the main challenges that urban
transportation must face. One of the keys to solving these issues is
increasing urban transportation capacity by improving signalling systems.
For over 70 years, Alstom has been addressing such urban challenges,
which is why it constantly upgrades its Urban signalling solutions,
enhancing transport capacity and providing maximum operational
flexibility.

As part of its range of products for urban networks, Alstom offers both
onboard and on-track products (interlocking and trackside equipment)
and solutions (automated control system, control center).

Communications Based Train Control (CBTC)
solutions

Alstom’s Urbalis™ and Cityflo™ family of CBTC solutions have equipped
more than 180 lines over the world.

In 2020, Alstom has been awarded the contract by Toulouse Metropole
for the third and new 27 km line, including Urbalis™ 400 CBTC solution
for driverless operation.

To further improve urban transport capacity, Alstom developed Urbalis
Fluence™, the next generation CBTC. It is the first urban signalling
solution with more on-board intelligence and direct train-to-train
communication. The solution offers operators greater transport capacity,
reducing headways to 60 seconds while ensuring the highest operational
availability and improved total cost of ownership through a 20% reduction
in the amount of equipment, energy savings of up to 30% and adds up
to 20% in line capacity.

Urbalis Fluence™ have seen in 2020 its first introduction in China,
Shenzhen line 20, with a revenue-service plan for 2023.

Conventional Train Control solutions

Our Pegasus™ and Cityflo™ solutions assists and controls the driver in
some crucial functions, such as speed control and calculation, emergency
stop signals, vigilance system. From trams to light rail vehicles to
metros, our solutions deliver the highest levels of safety while meeting
operator demand for flexible, high-performance and cost-effective
solutions.

In 2019, the Quito Metro Line 1 consortium of civil work companies
chose Alstom to deliver the line’s rail control system to ensure the system
runs smoothly and safely.

Interlocking

Compatible with the main signalling standards in existence today,
Smartlock™ and EBI Lock™ are considered high-quality solutions
recognised for their versatility.

Based on the overall level of network traffic, Alstom interlocking systems
will allow - or not - a train to continue its journey when it crosses a
given point machine by following a safe itinerary that avoids all risks
of conflict with other trains’ itineraries, whether on urban, freight, or
main line networks. They are interfaced with onboard control systems
and control centres.

Our latest digital interlocking has been selected by SNCF (ARGOS),
and will allow a reduction of 15% of the total cost of ownership for the
operator. Through a resilient and performant system, the interlocking
will be 30% quicker to deploy than previous generations. While assuring
the digital continuity of the product, special focus has been laid on
cybersecurity.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Offering

Track Products

Alstom offers a complete range of track products and solutions that
include vital train detection (track circuits, axle counters and eurobalises),
switch point machines and level crossing solutions.

Providing state of the art features and sustainable technology, our
adaptive portfolio can serve all type of railway applications: urban,
mainline, freight and depot.

Thanks to high connectivity they are interfaced with control systems
and designed to be integrated in diagnostic network.

Supervisory system

As the need for more efficient rail network operation increases as a result
of an effort to optimise the use of assets, operators need a system that
is able to provide a fully integrated monitoring and control system for
all operational (train movement control, incident management, resource
allocation) and functional (static in-station or onboard functions)
elements of the network. This system must be easily customisable
to rapidly take into account the operator’s structure and operation
procedures.

Alstom’s solutions focus on passenger safety and the management of
information intended for them. With over 70 control centres located
throughout the world, Alstom is one of the few market players that
benefits from a sufficient amount of credibility and experience to lead
projects that involve the management of several lines, for Urban,
Mainline and Freight.

Traffic Management

Iconis™ and EBI screen™ control centre solutions oversee and control
all aspects of the traffic management.

Alstom automated control system guarantees train adherence to
schedules and automatic optimisation of routes with respect of the
operational tasks needed by the several actors involved in the Traffic
Management to obtain a real and feasible conflict-free resource
utilisation. It provides network operators with a general view of the
status of network traffic and enables them to interact directly with
the system at that level. Our solutions can take various forms: from a
simple autonomous post for an independent station to several hundreds
of interconnected servers and operator workstations, able to manage
an entire country network.

Security/Closed Circuit TeleVision (CCTV)

Protecting passengers and their belongings from any potential security
threats is a central focus for Alstom. Relying on its technical know-how,
which enables it to evaluate precisely the risks faced in all the segments
of the rail industry, Alstom offers a state-of-the-art advanced security
system that is modular, easy to integrate and operate around the clock,
and that handles all functions intended to guarantee the safety and
security of passengers.

Alstom’s range of products extends from simple stand-alone security
components to full integration within a control centre with assisted
incident management capabilities. It offers a customisable security
system structure that can be tailored to any type of train, station, control
centre, or warehouse.
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Infrastructure and Signalling services

Infrastructure and signalling systems designed and delivered by Alstom
ensure safe and optimised operation of the railway throughout its lifetime.
Maintaining systems over such a timeframe requires a modern approach
to services, especially considering rapid technological advancements
and growing demands for capacity. Alstom addresses this by combining
digital technologies with significant experience in developing, upgrading
and maintaining signalling and infrastructure systems to create a
comprehensive portfolio of services. From traditional support such as
provision of help desk, spare parts and repairs, to more advanced services
including remote condition monitoring and lifecycle management, Alstom
delivers the relevant product expertise, technology and processes for
optimal performance of the railway system. With services provided to
over 70 customers on all continents, Alstom is the long-term partner to
railway operators and infrastructure owners around the world.

Smart Mobility
Mobility Orchestration

Our mobility orchestration solution, Mastria™, is designed to meet the
current and future needs of “smart cities” and coordinate all types of
public transport, from rail to road. It generates high quality information
accessible through open data platforms for on-demand services such as
car-sharing, self-service bicycle, parking services. All the information is
provided in real-time from all transport modes.

It monitors, integrates, regulates and optimizes Mobility Offer over the
whole public transport network (trip plan, capacity adjustment) and
uses advanced data analytics and algorithms to predict and anticipate
impact on traffic in order to optimise Mobility Demand.

Connectivity

Rail operators have to satisfy ever-growing expectations from passengers
wishing to utilize their travel time productively. Modern means of
communication can contribute to meeting this need by making real-time
information as well as on-board audio and video entertainment available.

Our cutting-edge, future-proofed technology offers a comprehensive
portfolio of passenger and fleet connectivity solutions to the railway
industry by improving connectivity for trains, metros, trams and buses on
the move globally. Nomad Digital™’s solutions include passenger Wi-Fi,
innovative Passenger Information Systems and on-board passenger
portals, entertainment and media platforms.

In September 2018, the consortium of Alstom and Nomad Digital™
have been awarded a multi-million-pound contract by DSB in Denmark:
it is a 6-year agreement to design and deliver a complete on-board
Passenger WiFi solution and provide maintenance and operation services
to the system

SERVICES

Alstom offers a complete range of customised services including rolling
stock maintenance, asset life management, train operations & system
maintenance, digital solutions, parts and components overhauls. All of
which ensure operators the highest level of availability for their fleets.
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Data factory

As the digitalization of public transportation is growing, the need for
combining all the data is rising, from train, track, signalling, passenger,
ticketing, city event and road traffic. As the age of seamless data
environment started, the requirement for digital technology compliant
and connected with railways solutions is getting stronger.

Through our Data Factory, Alstom combines all the mobility data & its
expertise to answer mobility challenges on four pillars: assets availability
(condition monitoring, predictive maintenance), operations (traffic
management, performance simulation), energy (consumption, simulation
and optimization) and people flow (passenger demand and people flow
prediction).

Cybersecurity

In a world driven by digital, having assurance that data and networked
systems are protected is a basic requirement to ensure continuous
operations. The rail transport sector needs to prepare for potential
cybersecurity threats. Operators shall also respect various new regulations
and standards.

Cybersecurity in Alstom is addressed as a core element in order to ensure
the cyber-resilience of Alstom solutions. Cybersecurity functions and
services are offered on solutions of Alstom’s portfolio, on rolling stock,
systems, services and signalling.

Alstom solutions address the entire Cyber Security Lifecycle. Rail asset
owners and operators need to undertake risk analysis to understand
where their vulnerabilities lie and react proportionately. For each risk,
from building a new line to launching a new type of train or upgrading
their signaling systems, the cybersecurity architecture framework is
defined by what our customer want to protect, the likely impact of the
risks and where they come from - the internal system, inside the supply
chain or from external threats. We propose state of the art services
and solutions covering risk analysis, security by design, vulnerability
management, vulnerability scanning.

To go further and faster, Alstom develops partnership with several
stakeholders of the cybersecurity domain. The partnership with Airbus
in the field of cybersecurity of transport systems is an example. Signed
in April 2017, the partnership is a strategic cooperation agreement
covering topics such as security governance, security processes, secure
product design, maintenance of security. The investments and strategic
cooperation agreement with Cylus, specialist in cybersecurity solutions
for the railway sector is another example. Together, Alstom and Cylus will
integrate cybersecurity technology into railway processes, components,
and solutions. The technology will be implemented first in the Tel Aviv
metropolitan light rail system with a capacity of 200,000 passengers a
day. Alstom previously won a contract to supply the signalling and train
control systems for the Tel Aviv Red Line tramway in 2017.

The Services activity enables Alstom to further strengthen its relationship
with its customers and to better evaluate their needs and expectations.



Alstom’s services are present all along the life-cycle of a train, from the
earliest stages - by designing rolling stock that is easier and less costly
to maintain (design for serviceability) - throughout the construction
(training, mobilisation, maintenance planning) and operation phases
(maintenance, digital support, modernisation, obsolescence planning
and management, parts, repairs and overhauls), up to the end of life of
our products (demobilisation and recycling).

Thanks to an effective value proposition, we continuously deliver a
profitable sales growth, with over 300 new contracts signed in 2020.

Alstom is maintaining over 35,000 vehicles and with 150,000 vehicles
installed base fleet - the largest worldwide - has a unique springboard
to further expand its leadership in Services.

Rolling Stock Maintenance

Alstom has over 40 years of experience maintaining Railways assets
built by Alstom and other manufacturers, in our customers’ sites or in
our own maintenance facilities.

With Alstom services, operators can transport passengers and goods
at the best levels of service and profitability. Alstom’s expertise in
supply chain and industrial organisation, backed by a strong system
and maintenance engineering competency, guarantees outstanding rail
system availability and reliability for rolling stock.

We tailor our services to the needs of our customers and the complexity
of the project. We offer scalable Maintenance services, ranging from
technical support to providing full and whole-life availability services,
depending on customer’s needs, the complexity or requirements of
the project.

Digitalisation and the emergence of the Internet of Things (IoT) widens
the range of possibilities to achieve a higher level of excellence in services
and asset management. Alstom has created HealthHub™ and Orbita™,
innovative approaches to condition-based and predictive maintenance.
Our integrated decision-support range of tools (sensors, cameras, lasers,
dataloggers, etc.) continuously monitors the state of the assets to prevent
failures, and supplies data to our ground based decision making and
visualization system, ensuring assets are performing at optimal standards
and interventions are targeted and appropriate.

To turn the collected data into action, Alstom has now launched
Dynamic Maintenance Planning — a new solution that allows a more
responsive, flexible and fluid execution of maintenance activities.
Furthermore, it delivers value during the operation and at each step of
the maintenance plan, building seamless interactions between operations
and maintenance.

Latest references in rolling stock maintenance cover all type of fleets all
over the world such as Sydney Metro (Australia), Barcelona light rail
vehicles (Spain), Avanti West Coast Mainline High Speed Train (UK) and
PRASA X'trapolis™ EMU (South Africa), Crossrail EMU and Elizabeth
Line metro (United Kingdom), Queensland New Generation Railway
EMU (Australia), Pink and Yellow line Bangkok Monorail (Singapore).

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES
Offering

Train Operations & System Maintenance

Thanks to a global dedicated train operating organisation with world-class
capabilities and expertise, Alstom offers passenger train operation
services allowing increased customer value, reduced customer operating
costs, higher fleet utilization and system performance. Through our 25
projects worldwide, we are committed to deliver an excellent service for
both passengers and system owners.

Latest references for train operation include Go Transit in Toronto
(Canada), West Coast Express in Vancouver (Canada), Frankfurt airport
(Germany).

As part of integrated turnkey system contracts, Alstom provides
maintenance services for the full system (trains, signalling and
infrastructure), allowing availability improvement and continuous safe
operation of all assets.

Latest references for turnkey system with operation include MARC
Maryland (USA), NJT Riverline (USA); latest references for turnkey system
include Sydney light rail vehicles (Australia), Riyadh Metro (Saudi Arabia).

Digital Solutions

In a fast-evolving legal and technological environment, railway
undertakings need to constantly maintain their level of expertise to
continue to deliver world-class services to their passengers. Alstom’s
broad spectrum of know-how helps its customers stay ahead of the
game, anticipate new requirements and keep their employees fully
trained in their specialties.

Alstom Digital Solutions combine the extensive legacy from two pioneers

in condition monitoring and is now best positioned to enter the era

of data-driven Prognostics and Health management. This is leading

to a deep transformation of traditional ways of working, with key

elements like:

® HealthHub™ and Orbita™, that allow health-based maintenance
regimes that optimize both reliability and availability whilst reducing
life-cycle cost. Along with pushing the useful life of components to
their intrinsic maximum, this is as well a significant improvement in
sustainability. With more than 18,000 cars and 90 fleets monitored,
Alstom can leverage both data gathered, and its expertise developed
to bring the best maintenance solutions to its customers. For example,
on West Coast Main Line (UK), maintenance intervals have been
extended from every 16,600 miles to every 32,000 miles.

Dynamic Maintenance Planning (DMP), that manages automated
information flow, better activity traceability, optimised operations
and intervention rate, higher industrial efficiency leading to a more
responsive, flexible and fluid maintenance execution.

Customer Portal, to facilitate the exchange with our customers,
providing access to fleet data, technical support (online experts,
obsolescence management, safety alerts, etc.) and easy access to
all digital services, including e-documentation and Alstom’s online
service for ordering parts.

Training and Education platforms, with state-of-the-art learning
solutions for customer staff and world-leading simulation solutions
(e.g. VR/AR driving simulators and a comprehensive maintenance/
safety simulation ecosystem).
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Latest references for predictive maintenance include Sydney Metro
(Australia), Italo High Speed Trains (ltaly), Reims light rail vehicles
(France), SBB ICN EMU (Switzerland), Crossrail, LOTrain and East
Anglia AVENTRA fleets, (United Kingdom), Shanghai Metro Line 12
(China); latest references for e-documentation include Avanti West Coast
Pendolino™ (United-Kingdom), Montpellier light rail vehicles (France);
latest references for e-training include Bane Nor Main Line (Norway).

Parts and Component Overhauls

Component Overhaul and repairs are the basis for reliability, availability,
lifecycle costs and the value of the vehicle.

Alstom offers a single-entry point into a large supplier panel, ensuring
through the right part at the right time and capitalizing on technical
expertise as designer and manufacturer of rolling-stock. It offers
anticipation for parts supply and technical support through Technical
Support and Spares Supply Agreement (TSSSA) contracts or zero missing
parts through Materials Availability Services.

Alstom also proposes various commercial offerings from spot requests
catalogue (+2,000,000 train parts referenced) to Vendor Managed
Inventory (VMI) allowing to reach enhanced fleet availability and
shortest lead time thanks to forecasting, sourcing, purchasing and
stocking solutions.

In addition, Alstom has developed dedicated Components Services
Centers for key subsystems (bogies, brakes, traction, TCMS, etc.) to
provide worldwide support to our customers for component overhauls
or specific repairs.

Latest references in parts and repairs cover all types of fleets all over the
world such as Amtrak very high-speed trains (United-States), Nice light
rail vehicles (France), PRASA suburban trains (South Africa), Class 180
regional trains (United-Kingdom), Berlin BVG Flexity™ Trams (Germany),
Mumbai MRVC WAP7/WAPS locomotives (India).

GREEN MODERNISATION

StationOne™

StationOne™ is the first specialized BtoB marketplace dedicated to the
railway industry. It is the only digital solution for procurement across
the railway ecosystem, offering parts and services for all type of train
fleets, stations, infrastructure and systems.

StationOne™ is live and fully operational since March 2019 and available
in several countries in Europe. It matches demand from local and national
operators with supply of internationally renowned vendors.

Asset Life Management

Alstom offers solutions allowing enhanced train performances, extended
lifetime by up to 20 years, reduced energy consumption by up to 35%,
improved comfort and minimized environmental impact.

Depending on the industrial means of the customers, Alstom can perform
the modernisation engineering studies, validate the solution, obtain the
regulatory certifications and deliver the associated kits to the operators
wanting to complete their projects internally or lead the entire project
up to the industrialization and necessary testing.

Alstom also offers a full range of obsolescence services, from monitoring
of systems and equipment, issuing alerts to mitigate the consequences
of obsolescence up to full obsolescence management and treatment
solutions to ensure that the expected lifecycle is achieved. It leverages,
for instance, 3D printing used for rapid prototyping and obsolescence
solutions.

Latest references in modernisation and obsolescence services cover
all types of fleets all over the world such as Santiago metro NS93
(Chile), Charleroi TEC light rail vehicles (Belgium), Lille and Grenoble
tram (France), MTA Maryland MARC Il (USA), Eurotunnel shuttles
(UK-France).

Alstom now offers a range of green modernisation products & solutions to answer all market needs and lower the environmental footprint of

rolling stock, including:
 specialised simulation tool to define the most efficient solution;

® auxiliary systems enhancement, e.g. use of LED lighting, CO,-regulated air conditioning system;

® green re-tractionning.

Green re-tractionning aims to provide alternatives to diesel traction, to comply with low-emission zone or zero-emission zone regulations. Hybrid
systems (batteries + diesel), batteries or hydrogen re-tractionning based on iLint™ know-how (world’s first hydrogen train) can offer:

® reduction of energy consumption;

reduction of Green House Gas emissions;

reduction of noise;

autonomy for non-electrified lines, from a few last miles with diesel-hybrid solution, 80 to 100 km with battery solution, 600 km for bimode

hydrogen/catenary trains and up to 1,000 km for hydrogen solution without catenary.

Latest reference in green modernisation: Contract with SNCF for five Regions, to develop a solution to replace the diesel engines of an AGC train

with zero-emission batteries.
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7 Research and development

As a major actor of transport and mobility, Alstom invests continuously
in research and development to increase the attractiveness and
competitiveness of its offer for its customers and the passengers. Its
net R&D/sales ratio has been sustained at ca. 3.5% over the last exercises.
Alstom is recognised for the development of new-generation trains,
components and cutting-edge signalling products and solutions, as well
as for innovative services and systems activities. All the R&D efforts are
focused to address the expectations of the customers and passengers as
well as taking into account the environmental and sustainability impact

DEVELOPMENT OF THE RANGE

Rolling stock and Components

To address new markets and better fit with customer request on existing
markets, most of the product lines of rolling stock have been improved
during this year.

Green Traction

Building on the momentum created by Coradia iLint™, a zero-emission
train featuring hydrogen fuel cells and energy storage system with an
autonomy range of more than 800 km, Alstom extends its range of
energy autonomous trains to battery powered trains (B-EMU). Both
solutions are adapted to new built trains and to the modernization of
existing fleet. To support this extension to various rolling stocks, Green
Traction program has been put in place to define and develop standard
components and tools that will serve all projects.

Development of the Avelia™ range

The development of Avelia™ range continues. The first trainset of Avelia
Horizon™ ordered by SNCF is under construction and will be under
test in 2022. Entering in revenue service in 2024, the very high-speed
train of the future will offer a capacity of up to 750 seats and its total
cost of ownership will be optimised with a strong reduction in energy
consumption as well as greatly reduced maintenance costs compared
to current trains.

Locomotives

The development continued of the TRAXX MS3 locomotive, a major
new platform for seamless deployment across jurisdictions in Europe.
The refresh of the legacy DC platform was completed while intensive
development continued of a battery solution for replacement of diesel
locomotives for last-mile applications. At the same time work progressed
on retrofits for the existing fleet to comply with the new standards for
European train control, and we began extending TRAXX MS3 coverage
to France and Benelux.

Regional Trains

Coradia Stream™ family has been extended with a mixed architecture
between single deck and double deck cars. It offers new solutions to
address high capacity needs while keeping a versatile layout and good
access for people with reduced mobility.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Research and development

of its offers. Alstom aims at proposing attractive solutions with high
capacity and an optimised lifecycle cost to its customers. Alstom is also
committed to contribute to the environmental performance of rail systems
by reducing railway system energy consumption (motor efficiency,
weight reduction, eco-driving...) and more generally the footprint of its
solutions during the whole product lifecycle from manufacturing to the
end of exploitation and recycling. The main R&D programmes of Alstom
are presented hereafter.

Infrastructure

Extension of reversible sub-stations range Hesop™

Hesop™ reversible sub-stations enable energy supply optimisation of the
railway system and energy consumption reduction. Beyond the existing
product 750 /2 MW already in service, the range has been extended to
1,500 V; 4 MW and 60 Hz, to cover customer needs all over the world.

SRS™ for Tram & Bus - ground based, automatic &
interoperable charging solution by contact

SRS™ Solution is a ground-based charging solution by contact derived
from Alstom’s APS proven solution. Main benefits are to be autonomous,
interoperable and compact for an easy integration into city or depot
environment. Tram version is in operation in Nice. First fast city charging
solution has been implemented in Spain in Malaga & operated with two
different buses & battery types. Automatic depot charging solution range
is under final development phase.

Electrical Road - APS for Road Vehicles (ground
based dynamic charging)

APS for Road is a solution derived from Alstom’s proven APS for tram
solution. Proof of concept and integration test has been successfully
completed with a Volvo Truck. Side components development granted a
good adherence and compatibility of the feeding track with motorcycles
and in winter conditions. Test track project are under preparation to
further test & integrate the full solution in different type of vehicle.

Turnkey

Autonomous Tramway in depot and autonomous
shuttle

Having done with RATP a first demonstration of autonomous driving
of a tramway in a depot, Alstom is currently pursuing the project with
the development of the solution including new functionalities and
strengthened features.

Alstom is also developing intelligent connected infrastructures and safety
process, in order to allow efficient and unattended shuttles operation
with is Easymile Partner.
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Signalling

Alstom pursues its signalling developments around three pillars:
digitalization, from hardware to software; automation for more fluidity;
cyber-security for a safe and secure mobility.

Our R&D programs address a wide range of needs:

* mainline with ERTMS train control solutions ATLAS™ and INTERFLO™,
and interlocking SmartlockTM and EBI Lock™;

urban CBTC solutions for metros and tramways: Fluence™, Urbalis™,
Cityflo™;

Developments are well served by an engineering organization capable
to maximize our R&D investments and assets throughout Alstom
technological centers.

Smart Mobility

Data-driven rail mobility

Facing mobility evolutions, transport operators are more and more
looking for digital solutions to improve their financial and operational
performance. Aware of this trend, Alstom has enriched its portfolio
with more advanced decision support solutions, based on data or video

operational Control Centers ICONIS™ and EBI Screen™, maximizing X X o A .
traffic fluidity and orchestrating operations from distance; analytics, advanced signaling simulators and artificial intelligence.
In compliance with the new Alstom In Motion plan, a new strategy
and offering have been defined about data monetization in the field of

mobility analytics for maintenance, operations, energy and city flow.

operational and maintenance services HealthHub™ Signalling and
EBI Sense™, capturing maintenance data and elaborating diagnostics
and prognostics for the operators.

The development of world-class cutting-edge core frameworks,
transversal to the whole portfolio, enables Alstom to maximize synergies
and technicality: powerful multicore on-board and wayside computers
and networks and telecommunication systems compatible of latest
standards to ease solutions roll-outs.

AUTONOMOUS MOBILITY

In order for rail to be the most attractive option, trains need to provide the highest levels of quality, reliability and efficiency. This is where

autonomous train operation comes into play. Digitalizing certain train operations, compiling data and employing the advanced processing capacities

of artificial intelligence can ensure a shift towards sustainable rail transportation by making journeys faster, more comfortable and more punctual.

With a strong expertise in integrated transport system, proven records in connected and intelligent infrastructure position and more than 70

driverless references, Alstom is well positioned to answer to tomorrow’s autonomous mobility challenges.

Alstom is working on several technologies on Autonomous mobility around three pillars:

© Railway: gradually and tailored approach from a driver assistance system, autonomous preparation of train and until a complex solution for
environment perception 1 km ahead of train;

® Urban mobility: to assist the driver and increasing safety in tramway and metro operation with technologies on obstacle analysis and a solution
for avoiding collision;

® Road and Support mobility: propose some solutions with highest level of safety from infrastructure to vehicle (traffic light, road crossing
analysis, blind spot) as enabler of the road market.

On Autonomous Freight, Alstom had a successful GoA2 (Grade of Automation 2) test with SNCF under real mainline operating conditions. Alstom

has also successfully performed ATO over ETCS L2, GoA2 tests with a heavy freight train. To be running from 2021, Alstom is also developing

automation technologies without infrastructure support.

On Autonomous Passengers Train, Alstom was rewarded with an Innovation prize by German Federal Ministry of Economics related to a planned test

project to implement Automatic Train Operation (ATO) in daily passenger operation of regional trains and is working closely with SNCF on GoA2 test.

On unattended shuttles operation, Alstom is working with is Easymile partner on developing intelligent connected infrastructures and safety process.

Another step towards full autonomy is the integration of advanced assistant systems: on this topic, Alstom is working on a red-light detection
system and had a successful test with OBB. Alstom is also working on vehicle detections system for yards applications, enabling a vehicle to be
guided by its environment sensing system only.
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INNOVATION

Alstom is already a pioneer in mobility with leading innovations such as
the recent hydrogen train, autonomous train operation, energy efficient
rolling stock and infrastructure. Bringing together c.17,500 engineering
and R&D talents from both groups, consolidating a rich legacy of 9,500
patents and incorporating significant additional technologies from
Bombardier Transportation, for example in predictive maintenance,
signalling and digital operations, the Group will be able to develop
solutions at a faster pace and on a larger scale to make mobility of
tomorrow a reality. Alstom is accelerating towards its ambition: be the
global innovative player for a sustainable and smart mobility.

Innovation strategy

The second pillar of the Alstom in Motion strategy is “Innovation in
smarter and greener mobility solutions”. Green and smart mobility,
encouraged by customers’ and passengers’ expectations, is leading
to a transformation of the market. Already recognized as an industrial
reference in this domain, with for example the first hydrogen train and
products like Hesop™ which recovers the energy generated by trains in
braking mode, Alstom has set six priority areas to confirm its leadership:

green traction and energy performance;

road electromobility;

eco-design and manufacturing;

autonomous train;

data driven rail mobility for more connected products and services;
multimodality and Flow management.

Innovation governance

The innovation governance is fully integrated within a wider process,
starting from detection of market needs and innovation up to project
delivery.

A worldwide network of innovation champions is in place on Alstom
sites in order to deploy locally the innovation process and strategy and
boost the idea creation, both internally and through external ecosystems.

Open innovation

Alstom can already rely on a strong innovation network for instance
in France, Belgium, Spain, Italy, India, the USA. With the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation, new experts are joining our innovation
ecosystem from countries such as Germany, Sweden, the United-
Kingdom, Thailand, Canada, bringing in even more diversity.

This emphasizes on the critical role of the Intellectual Property
Rights team who is not only managing patents and trademarks but
is also negotiating framework and consortium agreements. This solid
organization has dealt with nearly 30 European projects in the H2020
program including Shift2Rail and is actively preparing Alstom contribution
as a founding member to the new Europe’s Rail Joint Undertaking.

DESCRIPTION OF GROUP ACTIVITIES

Research and development

Building strong relationships with Universities is of course a way to
get access to state-of-the-art research but also attract new talents in
the railways industry. With this in mind, Alstom funded two Academic
Chairs in Belgium, one with the Université Catholique de Louvain on
embedded critical systems and the other one with the University of
Mons on energy electronics to strengthen the long-term relationships
with both the researchers and the students.

Because innovation is not only about technology, Alstom decided to
partner with HEC Paris in order to apply the Odyssey 3.14 methodology
to challenge existing business models with new value propositions and
architecture. The idea is to identify specific areas that could benefit
from more inclusive solutions by reducing the investments needed or
the total cost of ownership of our products. Several offers are being
analyzed and may shift to a “as a Service” model, leasing or improved
end of life residual value.

In order to consolidate both the vision from our internal and external
network of partners a digital platform dedicated to innovation was
launched. It allows our worldwide network of innovation champions to
share and contribute to new ideas, build a database of projects and access
the list of strategic partners. This platform was also instrumental in the
“Covid-19” challenge that was organized to quickly gather inputs from
all over the group to find innovative solutions to face the crisis induced by
the pandemic. In just three weeks, more than 300 ideas were collected,
selected and today six projects are being incubated.

Innovation contest: “| Nove You™"”

“I Nove You™” is a yearly company-wide program designed to unleash
the innovative power of all Alstom’s people. In 2020, 64 Alstom sites
in 27 different countries participated achieving a new record. This year,
due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the ceremony was turned into a pure
digital event with an even greater success allowing employees from
everywhere to connect “live”.

Open to all employees across all business lines and sites, the competition
rewards creativity in every shape and form, spanning products, systems,
processes, sustainable development, market success and even open
innovation.

Over the years, “I Nove You™” has given rise to the creation of several
innovative solutions, enhancing Alstom expertise and customer service.
This decade has seen the birth of innovations such as Coradia iLint™, the
world’s first hydrogen train, StationOne™, the online platform for spare
parts, as well as HealthHub™, Alstom’s digital maintenance suite, or
Hesop™, a reversible substation that can reinject up to 99% of braking
energy into the network.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 MARCH 2021
Main events of year ended 31 March 2021

7 Main events of year ended 31 March 2021

THE ACQUISITION OF BOMBARDIER TRANSPORTATION

Status

On 1 December 2020, Alstom and Bombardier announced that all
necessary regulatory approvals required to complete the sale of
Bombardier Transportation to Alstom had been received.

0On 29 January 2021, Alstom announced the completion of the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation. Leveraging on its clear Alstom in Motion
strategy and its strong operational fundamentals and financial trajectory,
Alstom, integrating Bombardier Transportation, will strengthen its
leadership in the growing sustainable mobility market by reaching a
critical size in all geographies and integrating further solutions and
assets to better serve its customers worldwide.

The enlarged Group has a combined proforma revenue for the 12 months
period April 2020 to March 2021 of around €14.0 billion. Combined
12 months proforma net result amounts to €(0.8) billion, resulting
mainly from Bombardier Transportation’s pre-integration recognition of
negative impacts from revised estimates on projects. The enlarged Group
has a backlog of €74.5 billion. It employs 71,700 people worldwide in
70 countries, has unparalleled R&D capabilities and a complete portfolio
of products and solutions.

Price and financing

The reference price was established at €5.5 billion, at the bottom of the
range of €5.5 billion to €5.9 billion communicated on 16 September
2020. The proceeds for the acquisition were established at €4.4 billion,
which include the impact of the minimum cash adjustment mechanism
based on a negative net cash position of Bombardier Transportation as
of 31 December 2020 and other further contractual adjustments for an
amount of €1.1 billion.

Alstom also proceeded, on 29 January 2021, to the reimbursement of
the €0.75 billion Equity injections performed by CDPQ (Caisse de Dép6t
et Placement du Québec) and Bombardier Inc. between February 2020
and January 2021.
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The financing structure of the purchase price was as follows:

As determined in the Sale and Purchase Agreement (SPA), a significant
part of the purchase price, for a global amount of €3.1 billion, was paid
in Equity through reserved share capital increases by way of set-off
subscribed by:

CDPQ’s affiliate, CDP Investissements Inc., with two capital increases,
one of €1.9 billion with 47,469,213 new ordinary shares issued and
one of €0.7 billion with 17,210,934 new ordinary shares issued;
Bombardier UK for an amount of €500 million with 11,504,149 new
ordinary shares issued.

The remaining part of the purchase price for an amount of €2.0 billion
was paid in cash. It was financed thanks to the rights issue for an
amount of around €2.0 billion completed on 7 December 2020 with
68,078,055 new ordinary shares issued.

The contractual purchase price was calculated in euros. A portion of it
was paid to Bombardier UK in US dollars at an agreed exchange rate
EUR/USD of circa1/1.17, this payment in US dollars having been hedged
by Alstom. The effective portion of the hedging has been recorded in
goodwill for €(64) million, the ineffective part in the financial result for
€(19) million (see Note 7).

Next steps

Alstom will pursue and finalize sales of certain assets of the combined
Group in line with the commitments described in the European
Commission’s press release on 31 July 2020 and classified as Assets
Held for Sale (see Note 9):

e a transfer of Bombardier Transportation’s contribution to the V300
ZEFIRO very high-speed train and an offer of IP licence to Hitachi for
the train co-developed by Hitachi and Bombardier Transportation for
use in future very high-speed tenders in the UK;

the divestment of the Alstom Coradia™ Polyvalent and the
Reichshoffen production site in France;

the divestment of the Bombardier TALENT 3 platform and dedicated
production facilities located within the Hennigsdorf site in Germany.

The commitments concerning Bombardier Transportation’s Signalling
On-Board Units and Train Control Management Systems (TCMS) have
already been started to be implemented.

The divestitures will comply with all applicable social processes and
consultations with employee representatives’ bodies.
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SHAREHOLDERSHIP AND STOCK MARKET INDEX

The Steering Committee of the Euronext Indices has decided to include Alstom in the list of the 40 stocks making up the French CAC 40 index. This
inclusion is effective since Monday 21 September 2020.

CDPQ is now the main shareholder with 17.48% of Alstom’s share capital. At 31 March 2021, Bouygues holds 3.12% of the capital of the Group with
successful placements in November 2020 and March 2021.

KEY FIGURES FOR ALSTOM IN THE FISCAL YEAR 2020/21

Group’s key performance indicators for the fiscal year 2020/21:

% variation March 2021/March 2020

Year ended | Thereof impact of Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 BT acquisition 31 March 2020 Actual Organic
Orders received ® 9,100 664 9,900 -8% -14%
Orders backlog 74,537 31,996 40,903 82% 2%
Sales 8,785 1,125 8,201 7% -4%
aEBIT® 645 31 630 2%
aEBIT % @ 7.3% 2.7% 7.7%
EBIT 300 (48) 545
Adjusted net profit @ @ 301 (9) 457
Net profit - Group share @ 247 (60) 467
Free Cash Flow ® (703) (751) 206
Capital employed @ 11,229 2,424
Net cash/(debt) @ (899) 1,178
Equity 9,117 3,328

(1) Non-Gaap. See page 39.

(2) Based on net profit from continuing operations, excluding amortisation expenses of the purchase price allocation of Bombardier Transportation, net of

corresponding tax.
@3

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The Alstom Group does business in numerous countries that have
significantly been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. As a result, the
Group'’s operations have been impacted by lockdowns and the disturbance
resulting from government measures to address the Covid-19 pandemic.
Such measures affected our supply chain and overall production chains,
impacting the timing of several projects. The Sanitary Crisis also impacted
tendering momentum in the first quarters of 2020, with a shift in
commercial activity.

In this context, after implementing the necessary health and safety
measures to protect all of its employees and stakeholders, the Group
made every effort to ensure the agile and responsible execution of its
activities in each of the countries where it operates by swiftly adapting
to changes linked to the public health crisis situation and complying
with local government decisions. Our business activities showed good
resilience, and, in the second semester, to the exception of a moderate
impact on the service activity, operations were running at a pace in line
with the pre-existing Covid-19 crisis conditions. Commercial performance
was also very positive in the last quarter of the financial year, pointing
to solid market momentum.

Including net profit from discontinued operations and excluding non-controlling interests.

While the first initiative was to ensure the health and safety of
its employees to ensure continuity of project execution, the Group
implemented a company-wide cost saving program to significantly
reduce costs. Alstom adapted the ways of working of its employees and
limited non-essential travels and events. The Group also promoted salary
moderation and kept a tight control over additional recruitments. The
Company has re-assessed investment priorities to rationalise cash spend
while ensuring that R&D investments remained at the level that was
deemed required to deliver on the Alstom in Motion strategy roadmap. In
the context of the Covid-19 crisis, and in a spirit of responsibility towards
all its stakeholders, the Board of Directors, in its meeting of 11 May 2020,
decided as an exceptional measure not to propose a dividend distribution
at the next Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July 2020.

The Group was principally affected by the Covid-19 pandemic in the
first quarter of its fiscal year 2020/21, with identified incremental
costs incurred amounting up to €68 million and stemming both from
inefficiencies and expenses dedicating specifically to Covid-19 crisis.
Inefficiencies are costs induced by the inability of certain employees to
come to the workplace in the wake of lockdowns and dedicated costs
are mainly related to cleaning and purchase of protective equipment to
protect our employees from the virus.
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The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Group’s operations affects
the whole income statement and balance sheet and not just individual
line items.

Estimated profit (loss) on completion of
contracts accounted for on a percentage of
completion basis

Covid-19 related inefficiencies and dedicated costs are not included in the
percentage of completion formula of the project and have not generated

revenue. They have been recognized in the primary statement of the
income statement under the caption Cost of sales.

Impairment of assets

Impairment tests have been performed on goodwill (see Note 11),
tangible assets, intangible assets and deferred taxes (see Note 8) with
no impairment risks identified as of end of March 2021.The events
linked to Covid-19 led the Group to draw up business plan used for
the impairment test performed in the frame of the preparation of the

ORGANIC GROWTH

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 MARCH 2021

Group’s consolidated financial statements, based on its best reasonable
estimates and the visibility available for its operations at 31 March 2021.
Moreover, some sensitivity analysis were performed with regards to the
key assumptions that would not lead to an impairment loss of goodwill
as the recoverable amount still exceeds its carrying value.

Liquidity and balance sheet position

At 31 March 2021, the Group has a total liquidity of around €4,500 million,
including cash and cash equivalent and undrawn available credit lines.
The Group has enough liquidity to fund its operations going forward.

Government grants

Where applicable, grants for the various furlough and short time working
schemes established by the country where the Group operates were
recognized as a deduction from personnel costs.

Risk and uncertainties

The crisis did not reveal new risk factors for the Group.

The above-mentioned key figures are adjusted as follows for foreign exchange variation, resulting from the translation of the original currency to

euro, as well as for change in consolidation scope.

The below table isolates the contribution of entities acquired during the current year and shows how the prior year actual figures are converted into

a like-for-like set of numbers for comparison purposes:

Year ended 31 March 2021 Year ended 31 March 2020 March 2021/March 2020
Thereof
Actual impact of Comparable Actual Exchange Comparable | % variation % variation
(in € million) figures  acquisitions figures figures rate figures actual organic
Orders backlog 74,537 31,996 42,541 40,903 791 41,694 82% 2%
Orders received 9,100 664 8,436 9,900 (71) 9,829 -8% -14%
Sales 8,785 1,125 7,660 8,201 (192) 8,009 7% -4%

The actual figures for the fiscal year 2019/20 (orders backlog, orders

received and sales) are restated to reflect March 2021 exchange rates.

© Orders backlog were impacted by the appreciation of the South African
rand (ZAR), the Australian dollar (AUD) and the Canadian dollar (CAD)
against the euro (EUR), and by the depreciation of the Indian rupee
(INR), and the US dollar (USD) against the euro (EUR).

ACQUISITIONS AND PARTNERSHIPS

Speedinnov

Through its affiliate Speedinnov, a joint-venture created in 2015 with
ADEME, Alstom focused on its “Very high-speed train of the future”
project, aiming to promote a new generation of very high-speed trainset
which will reduce acquisition and operating costs by at least 20%
(compared to the previous train generation), optimise the environmental
footprint and broaden commercial offer to improve passenger experience.
In this context, Alstom subscribed to a capital increase in this joint-venture
in an amount of €27 million in June 2020, increasing its stake from 71.0%
to 74.0% with no change in the consolidation method (Joint control).
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e Orders received were marginally impacted by foreign exchange
variations, and mostly driven by the depreciation of the Chilean peso
(CLP) and the British pound (GBP) against the euro (EUR).

® Sales were adversely impacted mainly by the depreciation of the US
dollar (USD), the UAE dirham (AED) and the Indian rupee (INR)
against the euro (EUR).

IBRE acquisition

On 30 June 2020, Alstom acquired the totality of IBRE (International
Braking & Railway Equipment) shares, a company based in France and
renamed “Alstom IBRE”. This company is specialized in the development,
the manufacturing and the supply of railway brake discs. Their reliable
high-quality products are recognized by the most important European
railway administrations. The entity is fully consolidated in the Group’s
accounts.

Preliminary goodwill amounts to €8 million. The purchase price allocation
is not fully completed and will be finalized within twelve months after
the acquisition date. The sales of the period are not material.
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Commercial performance

B&C Transit Inc. acquisition

On 1 March 2021, Alstom acquired the totality of B&C Transit’s shares.
This transit engineering design and construction firm is specialised in
the passenger rail sector and operates in the United States and Canada.
Preliminary Goodwill amounts to €27 million. The purchase price
allocation is not fully completed and will be finalized within twelve
months after the acquisition date. The sales of the period are not material.

7 Commercial performance

RSB BV acquisition

On 31 March 2021, Alstom acquired the totality of RSB BV’s shares.
This Rotterdam-based company provides services in maintenance of
rolling stock for freight and passenger transport in the Netherlands.

Preliminary Goodwill amounts to €8 million. The purchase price allocation
is not fully completed and will be finalized within twelve months after
the acquisition date. The company did not contribute to the sales of
the period.

Alstom’s order intake amounted to €9.1 billion during the fiscal year 2020/21, of which €8.4 billion contributed by Alstom on a like-for-like stand-alone
basis and €0.7 billion contributed from the Bombardier Transportation acquisition in the two-months period of February and March 2021.The Group’s
orders decreased year-over-year, mainly due to an adverse market environment impacted by Covid-19.

% variation March 2021/
Geographic breakdown March 2020
Actual figures Year ended % of Year ended % of
(in € million) 31 March 2021 contrib. | 31 March 2020 contrib. Actual Organic
Europe 6,027 66% 7,624 7% -21% -25%
Americas 1,050 11% 646 6% 63% 73%
Asia/Pacific 1,059 12% 1,569 16% -33% -53%
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 964 11% 61 1% 1,480% 1,443%
ORDERS BY DESTINATION 9,100 100% 9,900 100% -8% -14%
% variation March 2021/
Product breakdown March 2020
Actual figures Year ended % of Year ended % of
(in € million) 31 March 2021 contrib. | 31 March 2020 contrib. Actual Organic
Rolling stock 4,484 49% 4,591 46% -2% -12%
Services 2,045 23% 3,315 34% -38% -41%
Systems 930 10% 265 3% 251% 244%
Signalling 1,641 18% 1,729 17% -5% -9%
ORDERS BY DESTINATION 9,100 100% 9,900 100% -8% -14%

In Europe, Alstom recorded €6.0 billion order intake during the fiscal
year 2020/21, as compared to €7.6 billion over the same period last
year, including a €0.3 billion contribution from Bombardier Transportation
acquisition.

In Spain, Alstom won a significant contract to provide Renfe, the
Spanish national railway operator, with 152 high-capacity trains for
a total amount of more than €1.4 billion. The trains will come from
Alstom’s X'Trapolis™ range of suburban trains. The contract also includes
the maintenance of 56 of the trains for a period of 15 years and the
supply of parts for the fleet, as well as the initial stock of spare parts
and their tooling.

In France, Alstom signed a large contract to design, build and maintain

the transport system for Toulouse Metropole’s third metro line, an order to
supply 49 tramways for Nantes, and a Signalling contract of the ARGOS

partnership with SNCF to develop the new generation interlocking
solution. In addition, Alstom witnessed a historic step towards sustainable
mobility by winning the first order of hydrogen trains in France. The
Group will supply the first 12 dual mode electric-hydrogen trains (plus
two optional trainsets) in the Coradia™ Polyvalent range for Régiolis,
to SNCF Voyageurs.

In Germany, Alstom was selected to supply 34 Coradia Stream™ High
Capacity double-decker EMU trains for regional transport in Lower Saxony
to Landesnahverkehrsgesellschaft Niedersachsen (LNVG). Further to
the delivery of the trains, the contract with a total value of €0.8 billion
also includes the maintenance of the vehicles for 30 years. In addition,
the Cologne Public Transport Authority (Kélner Verkehrs-Betriebe AG,
KVB) signed a contract with the manufacturer consortium Alstom and
Kiepe Electric for the supply of 64 low-floor trams.
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In Romania, the Group was awarded a contract to provide a total of up
to 30 Metropolis trains for the Line 5 of Bucharest metro.

Last year’s performance in Europe was driven by large orders including
additional Coradia™ Polyvalent and Avelia™ Euroduplex trains in France,
Pendolino™ high-speed trains including maintenance service and Coradia
Stream™ POP regional trains in Italy, and Coradia™ iLint trains and
associated maintenance in Germany.

In Americas, Alstom reported €1.1 billion order intake during the fiscal
year 2020/21, as compared to €0.6 billion last year, mainly driven by
the initial order from Metra, the commuter rail system in the Chicago
metropolitan area serving the city of Chicago and surrounding suburbs, to
supply 200 push-pull commuter rail cars. In addition, the Group continues
to stabilise its footprint in Latin America for Services products, by
securing the renewal of a full maintenance contract for 158 locomotives
of Ferrosur fleet in Mexico.

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 MARCH 2021
Commercial performance

In Asia/Pacific, the order intake totalled €1.1 billion, as compared to
€1.6 billion over the same period in the last fiscal year. The acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation contributed €0.3 billion while further
strengthening the Group’s footprint in India, with a €0.2 billion awarded
contract to design, manufacture, supply, test and commission 234 metro
cars, including personnel training for Mumbai Line 4 and the extension
corridor. In addition, Alstom was awarded a major signalling and
telecommunication systems contract for rapid rail line between Delhi
and Meerut. The Group also secured the extension project of Taipei
Metro Line 7 in Taiwan.

Last year’s performance in Asia/Pacific was driven by the large contract
to manufacture and maintain the next generation of C-series trains for
Perth’s rail network, and a contract to supply driverless trains and digital
signalling system for Sydney Metro extension.

In Africa/Middle East/Central Asia, the Group reported €1.0 billion order

intake, as compared to €0.1 billion over the same period of the last fiscal
year, mainly thanks to the securing of rolling stock and maintenance
follow-on orders of currently active projects.

Alstom received the following major orders during the fiscal year 2020/21:

Country Product Description

France Rolling stock Supply of 49 Citadis X05™ trains to Nantes Métropole

France Signalling Supply of a new generation interlocking solution for SNCF

France Systems Design, production and maintenance of the transport system for Toulouse Metropole’s third metro line

France Rolling stock Supply of the first 12 dual mode electric-hydrogen trains (plus two optional trainsets) in the Coradia™
Polyvalent range for Régiolis to SNCF Voyageurs

Germany Rolling stock / Services Supply of 34 Coradia Stream™ High Capacity double-decker EMU trains to
Landesnahverkehrsgesellschaft Niedersachsen (LNVG) and associated maintenance for 30 years

Germany Rolling stock Supply of 64 low-floor trams to the Cologne Public Transport Authority (Kélner Verkehrs-Betriebe AG,
KVB) - in a consortium with Kiepe Electric

India Rolling stock Supply of 234 metro cars for Mumbai Metro Lines 4 and 4A

India Signalling Supply of signalling and telecommunication systems for rapid rail line between Delhi and Meerut

Romania Rolling stock Supply of a total of up to 30 new Metropolis trains for Bucharest Metro Line 5

Spain Rolling stock / Services Supply of 152 high-capacity X'Trapolis™ commuter trains for Spanish operator Renfe and the
maintenance of 56 of the trains for 15 years

Taiwan Systems Supply of integrated metro system for Taipei Metro Line 7 extension

United Rolling stock Supply of 200 push-pull commuter rail cars to Metra, the commuter rail system in the Chicago

States metropolitan area
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7 Orders backlog

Order backlog represents sales not yet recognised from orders already
received.

Order backlog at the end of a financial year is computed as follows:

The order backlog is also subject to changes in the scope of consolidation,
contract price adjustments and foreign currency translation effects.

Order backlog corresponds to the transaction price allocated to the

remaining performance obligations, as per IFRS 15 quantitative and
qualitative disclosures requirement.

 order backlog at the beginning of the year;
® plus new orders received during the year;
As of 31 March 2021, the orders backlog stood ate74.5 billion, providing
the Group with strong visibility over future sales. This represents an
increase of 82% on an actual basis, including the impact from the
Bombardier Transportation acquisition, and a 2% increase on an organic
basis as compared to 31 March 2020.

 less cancellations of orders recorded during the year;
© |ess sales recognised during the year.

Geographic breakdown

Actual figures Year ended Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2021 % of contrib. 31 March 2020 % of contrib.
Europe 40,804 55% 21,321 52%
Americas 10,491 14% 5,539 14%
Asia/Pacific 11,209 15% 6,120 15%
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 12,033 16% 7,923 19%
BACKLOG BY DESTINATION 74,537 100% 40,903 100%
Product breakdown

Actual figures Year ended Year ended

(in € million) 31 March 2021 % of contrib. 31 March 2020 % of contrib.
Rolling stock 39,052 53% 20,677 51%
Services 24,737 33% 13,794 33%
Systems 4,692 6% 2,288 6%
Signalling 6,056 8% 4,144 10%
BACKLOG BY DESTINATION 74,537 100% 40,903 100%

7 Income statement

SALES

Alstom’s sales amounted to €8.8 billion for the fiscal year 2020/21, increasing by 7% on an actual basis, including the impact of Bombardier
Transportation acquisition. On a like-for-like basis, at constant scope and before the integration of Bombardier Transportation, Alstom stand-alone
sales stood at €7.7 billion, down 4% organically compared to the same period of last year.

% variation March 2021/
Geographic breakdown March 2020
Actual figures Year ended % of Year ended % of
(in € million) 31 March 2021 contrib. | 31 March 2020 contrib. Actual Organic
Europe 5,316 61% 4,675 56% 14% -2%
Americas 1,351 15% 1,280 16% 6% -2%
Asia/Pacific 1,093 12% 889 11% 23% 9%
Africa/Middle East/Central Asia 1,025 12% 1,357 17% -24% -25%
SALES BY DESTINATION 8,785 100% 8,201 100% 7% -4%
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% variation March 2021/
Product breakdown March 2020
Actual figures Year ended % of Year ended % of
(in € million) 31 March 2021 contrib. | 31 March 2020 contrib. Actual Organic
Rolling stock 4,530 51% 3,942 48% 15% 1%
Services 1,745 20% 1,469 18% 19% 2%
Systems 947 11% 1,301 16% -27% -32%
Signalling 1,563 18% 1,489 18% 5% 3%
SALES BY DESTINATION 8,785 100% 8,201 100% 7% -4%

In Europe, sales reached €5.3 billion, accounting for 61% of the Group’s
total sales and representing an increase of 14% on an actual basis (down
2% on an organic basis). The main driver has been the continued execution
of large rolling stock contracts, including the Coradia Stream™ trains in
Italy and the Netherlands, the Coradia™ Polyvalent regional trains and the
Avelia Euroduplex high-speed trains in France, the double deck M7-type
multifunctional coaches in Belgium as well as the Coradia™ Lint™
trains in Germany. In addition, Alstom carried on with the maintenance
of Pendolino™ in the United Kingdom, which generated further sales.
The performance of the year includes a €0.7 billion contribution from
Bombardier Transportation acquisition, mainly from Rolling Stock
contracts in France, Germany and United Kingdom.

In Americas, sales stood at €1.4 billion for the fiscal year 2020/21,
accounting for 15% of the Group’s sales. The projects of Amtrak high-
speed trains in the United States and the light metro system for REM in
Canada remain the top sales contributors within the region.

In Latin America, sales were driven by the delivery of Guadalajara Line 3
metro system in Mexico, with an expected impact compared to last fiscal
year from Panama L1/L2 systems contracts which reached completion.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Contribution from Bombardier Transportation acquisition amounts to a
€0.2 billion, notably from Rolling stock contracts in Canada and Systems
contracts in the United States.

In Asia/Pacific, sales amounted to €1.1 billion, accounting for 2% of the
Group’s sales. These sales were driven by the ramp-up of the production
of electric locomotives in India, the continued execution of subway
contract in Singapore, and further sustained by the production ramp-up
for Hanoi metro Line 3 system in Vietnam. The performance of the year
includes a €0.2 billion contribution from Bombardier Transportation
acquisition, mainly from Systems contracts in Australia, Singapore
and Thailand.

In Africa/Middle East/Central Asia, sales stood at €1.0 billion,
contributing 12% to the Group’s total sales, down €0.3 billion on an
organic basis compared to last year. The Systems contract for the Dubai
metro in the United Arab Emirates reached completion during the third
quarter of the fiscal year and the Coradia™ Polyvalent trains project
for Senegal reached completion at the end of last fiscal year, while the
systems contract for the Riyadh metro in Saudi Arabia reached the
final completion stage, generating an expected decrease in sales of the
region comparing to last fiscal year. The ramp-up on the rolling stock
contracts of the Prima™ freight locos for Kazakhstan and Morocco
partly offsets this decline.

During the fiscal year 2020/21, research and development gross costs amounted to €443 million, i.e. 5.0% of sales, reflecting the Group’s continuous
investments in innovation to develop smarter and greener mobility solutions, supporting Alstom In Motion strategy.

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
R&D Gross costs (443) (442)
R&D Gross costs (in % of sales) 5.0% 5.4%
Funding received 91 117
Net R&D spending (352) (325)
Development costs capitalised during the period 106 79
Amortisation expenses * (72) (56)
R&D EXPENSES (IN P&L) (318) (302) |
R&D expenses (in % of sales) 3.6% 3.7%

(*) Including €(9) million of amortisation expenses of the purchase price allocation of Bombardier Transportation.
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Alstom continued its research and development effort on the very
high-speed trains Avelia Horizon™ range, which is funded by the
SpeedInnov joint-venture, marked by the first delivery for test on tracks
on Amtrak project in the United States, while the French market version
is under development.

In application of the Alstom In Motion strategy, the Group further
invested in green solutions to offer zero carbon emission alternatives to
diesel. The portfolio has been enlarged by BEMU battery powered trains
solution in Germany, along with hydrogen fuel cell trains Coradia iLint™.

The Group also invested in HealthHub™, an innovative condition-
monitoring solution used for trains, infrastructure and signalling assets.
This solution builds upon advanced data analytics to predict assets
remaining useful life. It is now positioned as a backbone for Rolling
Stock and Infrastructures maintenance solutions.

With regards to Rolling Stock solutions, other notable programs include
the:

TRAXX Multi-system 3 locomotives, which development started in
2018 to cover the European market. It has a high versatility to be
able to run in different corridors and potentially to be upgraded up
to 200 km/hr;

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

In the fiscal year 2020/21, Alstom’s adjusted EBIT reached €645 million
after integration of Bombardier Transportation, equivalent to a 7.3%
operational margin, as compared to €630 million or 7.7% during same
period of last year. On a like-for-like basis, at constant consolidation scope,
Alstom stand-alone contribution was €614 million, representing 8.0%
operational margin. In the two-month period from February to March
2021, Bombardier Transportation contributed €31 million, equivalent to
a 2.7% operational margin.

The adjusted EBIT was impacted by the Covid-19 related production
slowdown, mostly in the first half of year, overall resuming its pace
in the second half, while ensuring control over cost of sales across all
product lines. Cost of sales at Alstom are primarily, but not only, made
up of raw material procurement, applicative and system engineering,

® FLEXX Compact Bogie fifth generation, which will be active in the
Regional and Mainline segments up to 250 km/hr (e.g. mounted in
ZEFIRO Express and AVENTRA).

For the signalling product line, the Group has continued the development
of its ERTMS level 2 on-board solution, to equip the entire Norwegian
railway fleet with ATLAS™ on-board train control solution, as well as
its CBTC solutions, Urbalis Fluence™ and Urbalis™ 400 for metros and
tramways, with the launch of Fluence Baseline 2 now addressing a
worldwide market.

In addition, Alstom carried on investing into the ICONIS™ suite for
Operation Control Centers, allowing to maximize traffic fluidity and
remotely orchestrate operations. Further developments have been
achieved with the cybersecurity framework of Alstom solutions through
a partnership with Airbus signed in 2017, including a new generation
of interlocking solution deployed for the ARGOS partnership with SNCF
signed in September 2020.

manufacturing and supply chain labour costs, as well as subcontracted
services.

Selling and Administrative costs as a percentage of sales remained overall
stable at Group level at 7.2%, confirming the Group’s response to the
sanitary crisis and its consequences on sales pace.

Over the period, the contribution resulting from the inclusion of the share
in net income of the equity-accounted investments whose activity are
considered as part of the operating activities of the Group amounted
to €50 million, increasing from the €38 million reported last year. The
contribution from CASCO Signal Limited joint-ventures amounted
to €44 million, whereas Bombardier Transportation joint-ventures
contributed €6 million.

FROM ADJUSTED EBIT TO ADJUSTED NET PROFIT

During the fiscal year 2020/21, Alstom recorded restructuring and
rationalization charges of €(14) million mainly linked to initiatives in
France, Spain and in the United States.

Amortisation of assets exclusively valued when determining the purchase
price allocation (“PPA”) in the context of business combination amounted
to €(84) million before tax, including €(71) million related to Bombardier
Transportation and €(13) million related to other former business
combinations and integration costs such as GE Signalling, EKZ and
Nomad. Comparable PPA related to GE Signalling, EKZ and Nomad
amounted to €(14) million at the end of last year.

Total Impairment loss and other non-operating items amounted to
€(129) million, including mainly €(117) million of incremental costs
related to Bombardier Transportation transaction (see Note 1.1),
€47 million related to reversal of impairment (see Note 9); €(36) million
related to E-Bus impairment of assets; €(21) million one-off exceptional
impact from contract early termination decided by Alstom and €8 million
related to some legal proceedings (see Note 33) and other risks, arisen
outside the ordinary course of business.

Non-recurring costs during the period include notably the Covid-19
incremental costs and related inefficiencies (€68 million).

Taking into consideration restructuring, PPA, impairment loss, other
non-operating items and Covid-19, Alstom EBIT stood at €300 million
after the integration of Bombardier Transportation. This compares to
€545 million during the same period last year, with the Covid-19 crisis
slowing down most activities across the world.

Net financial expenses of the period amounted to €(68) million, as
compared to €(76) million in the previous year. This is mainly due to a
reduction of financing expenses incurred at the holding level following the
repayment of bonds that matured during the previous fiscal year, despite
additional bank fees paid as a result of measures taken to bolster the
Group liquidity in the context of Bombardier Transportation acquisition
and the Covid-19 pandemic.
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The Group recorded an income tax charge of €(63) million in the fiscal
year 2020/21 corresponding to an effective tax rate of 27%, compared
to €(118) million for the same period last year and an effective tax
rate of 25%.

The share in net income from equity investments amounted to
€83 million, with the improved performance of CASCO Signal Limited
covering partially the reduced contribution from Transmashholding
Limited (TMH) and SpeedInnov Joint Venture. The contribution of
Bombardier Transportation Joint Ventures amounted to €6 million.

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 MARCH 2021
Free cash-flow

The Group’s net profit from continued operations stood at €252 million,
compared to €453 million for the comparable period last year.

Net profit attributable to non-controlling interest totalled €12 million,
compared to €7 million last year.

Adjusted net profit, representing Group share of net profit from
continued operations excluding €(61) million PPA (€(84) million net of
the corresponding tax effect at effective tax rate of 27%), amounts to
€301 million for this fiscal year.

FROM ADJUSTED NET PROFIT TO NET PROFIT

Group’s share of net profit from continued operations attributable to
equity holders of the parent, including net effect from PPA, stood at
€240 million, compared to €446 last year.

The net profit from discontinued operations stood at €7 million, compared
to €21 million last year.

7 Free cash-flow

As a result, the net profit (Group share) stood at €247 million for the
fiscal year 2020/21 compared to €467 million for the same period last
fiscal year.

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
EBIT 300 545
Depreciation and amortisation 391 293
Restructuring variation (16) (12)
Capital expenditure (158) (195)
R&D capitalisation (106) (79)
Change in working capital (1,001) (249)
Financial cash-out (79) (95)
Tax cash-out (94) (102)
Other 60 100
FREE CASH FLOW (703) 206 |

(*) Including PPA related to Bombardier Transportation acquisition for €71 million.

The Group’s Free Cash Flow stands at €(703) million for the fiscal year
2020/21 as compared to €206 million for the fiscal year 2019/2020.
On a like-for-like basis, at constant consolidation scope from fiscal year
2019/20, Alstom’s Free Cash Flow amounted to €48 million.

The Group cash generation was notably impacted by an unfavourable
€(1,001) million change in working capital compared to €(249) million
for last fiscal year, mainly attributable to Bombardier Transportation
Working Capital change resulting mainly from working capital phasing,
partial unwinding of working capital financing and suppliers repayment.
Alstom’s working capital change results mainly from ramp of rolling
Stock projects and a softer commercial activity in the first half affecting
mechanically down payment levels.

Depreciation and amortisation amounted to €391 million, compared to
€293 million last year. This €98 million increase is mainly attributable to
the Bombardier Transportation integration, adding €30 million (thereof
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€71 million PPA) as well as €36 million related to E-bus impairment of
assets and partly offset bye(47) million related to reversal of impairment
(see Note 9).Right-of-use assets amortisation amounted to €39 million
compared to €92 million for last fiscal year.

Financial cash-out has decreased by €16 million mainly due to last year’s
repayment of senior bonds.

Alstom Group spent €158 million in capital expenditures notably on
capacity development for E-Loco™ project in India. Other investments
included production capabilities build-up for projects such as Mumbai
Line 3 and Sydney project in India, SMCO in Poland, Rielsfera train
maintenance in Spain and depot upgrades in UK. Capital expenditures
has been reduced considering the Covid-19 crisis.

“Other” Free Cash Flow items as listed above reached €60 million this
year and included mainly dividends from Casco Signal Limited and
Transmashholding (TMH) joint-ventures.
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72 Net cash/(debt)

At 31 March 2021, the Group recorded a net debt position of
€(899) million, compared to the €1,178 million net cash balance reported
on 31 March 2020. This €(2,077) million decrease is mainly driven by
the consolidation of Bombardier Transportation and Free Cash Flow
consumption.

In addition to its available level of cash, amounting to €1,250 million as of
31 March 2021, the Group can access a €1,500 million Revolving Credit
Facility (RCF), maturing in October 2025 with two one-year extension

7 Equity

The Group Equity on 31 March 2021 amounted to €9,117 million

(including non-controlling interests), from €3,328 million on 31 March

2020, mostly impacted by:

® capital increase of €5,396 million resulting from Bombardier
Transportation acquisition;

7 Subsequent events

Non-GAAP financial indicators definitions

options at the lenders’ discretion, together with a €1,750 million short
term RCF maturing in August 2022 with two six-month extension options
at the borrower’s discretion. They are fully undrawn at 31 March 2021.

This resulted in a liquidity position as of 31 March 2021 of €4,500 million.

e net profit from the fiscal year 2020/21 of €247 million (Group share).

On 4 May 2021, it has been announced to employee representatives the intention to cease the design, marketing and production of Aptis™ buses.
Aptis™ is an extremely innovative bus which faced competitive challenges on the highly competitive electric bus market.

7 Non-GAAP financial indicators definitions

This section presents non audited financial indicators used by the Group that are not defined by accounting standard setters.

ORDERS RECEIVED

A new order is recognised as an order received only when the contract
creates enforceable obligations between the Group and its customer.

When this condition is met, the order is recognised at the contract value.

BOOK-TO-BILL RATIO

If the contract is denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the reporting unit, the Group requires the immediate
elimination of currency exposure using forward currency sales. Orders are
then measured using the spot rate at inception of hedging instruments.

The book-to-bill ratio is the ratio of orders received to the amount of sales traded for a specific period.
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ADJUSTED EBIT

Adjusted EBIT (“aEBIT”) is the Key Performance Indicator to present the
level of recurring operational performance. This indicator is also aligned
with market practice and comparable to direct competitors.

Starting September 2019, Alstom has opted for the inclusion of the
share in net income of the equity-accounted investments into the
aEBIT when these are considered to be part of the operating activities
of the Group (because there are significant operational flows and/or
common project execution with these entities).This mainly includes
Chinese joint-ventures, namely CASCO joint-venture for Alstom as well
as, following the integration of Bombardier Transportation, Bombardier
Sifang (Qingdao) Transportation Ltd, Bombardier NUG Propulsion System
Co. Ltd and Changchun Bombardier Railway Vehicles Company Ltd.

aEBIT corresponds to Earning Before Interests and Tax adjusted for the
following elements:

© net restructuring expenses (including rationalisation costs);

tangibles and intangibles impairment;

capital gains or loss/revaluation on investments disposals or controls
changes of an entity;

any other non-recurring items, such as some costs incurred to realize
business combinations and amortisation of an asset exclusively valued
in the context of business combination, as well as litigation costs that
have arisen outside the ordinary course of business;

and including the share in net income of the operational equity-
accounted investments.

A non-recurring item is a “one-off” exceptional item that is not supposed
to occur again in following years and that is significant.

Adjusted EBIT margin corresponds to Adjusted EBIT expressed as a
percentage of sales.

The non-GAAP measure adjusted EBIT (aEBIT hereafter) indicator reconciles with the GAAP measure EBIT as follows:

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Adjusted Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (aEBIT) 645 630
aEBIT (in % of sales) 7.3% 7.7%
Restructuring and rationalisation costs (14) (18)
PPA amortisation ® (84) (14)
Impairment loss and other (129) 9
Covid-19 inefficiencies and incremental costs (68) (24)
Reversal of net interest in equity investees pick-up (50) (38)
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXES (EBIT) 300 545 |

(*) Including PPA related to the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation.

ADJUSTED NET PROFIT

Following the Bombardier Transportation acquisition and with effect
from these fiscal year 2020/21 consolidated financial statements,
Alstom decided to introduce the “adjusted net profit” indicator aimed
at restating its net profit from continued operations (Group share) to

exclude the impact of amortisation of assets exclusively valued when
determining the purchase price allocations (“PPA”) in the context of
business combination, net of the corresponding tax effect. This indicator
is also aligned with market practice.

This non-GAAP measure adjusted net profit indicator reconciles with the GAAP measure Net profit from continued operations attributable to equity

holders (net profit — Group share) as follows:

Year ended

31 March 2021

Adjusted net profit 301
Amortisation of assets valued when determining the purchase price allocation (61)
NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 240
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FREE CASH FLOW

Free Cash Flow is defined as net cash provided by operating activities
less capital expenditures including capitalised development costs, net
of proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets. Free Cash

Non-GAAP financial indicators definitions

The most directly comparable financial measure to Free Cash Flow
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS is net cash provided
by operating activities.

Flow does not include any proceeds from disposals of activity.

A reconciliation of Free Cash Flow and net cash provided by operating activities is presented below:

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (a55) 476
Of which operating flows provided / (used) by discontinued operations
Capital expenditure (including capitalised R&D costs) (265) (274)
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets 17 4
FREE CASH FLOW (703) 206 |

Alstom uses the Free Cash Flow both for internal analysis purposes as well
as for external communication as the Group believes it provides accurate
insight into the actual amount of cash generated or used by operations.

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

Capital employed corresponds to hereafter-defined assets minus liabilities:
® Assets: sum of goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment, equity-accounted investments and other investments,
other non-current assets (other than those related to financial debt
and to employee defined benefit plans), inventories, costs to fulfil a
contract, contract assets, trade receivables and other operating assets;

During the fiscal year 2020/21, the Group Free Cash Flow was at
€(703) million compared to €206 million last fiscal year.

e Liabilities: sum of non-current and current provisions, contract
liabilities, trade payables and other operating liabilities.

At the end of fiscal year 2020/21, capital employed stood at €11.2 billion,
compared to €2.4 billion at the end of March 2020. This movement
is mainly attributable to the goodwill resulting from the Bombardier
Transportation acquisition for €7.6 billion (see Note 11), and to the
integration of Bombardier Transportation assets and liabilities measured
at their fair value at the date of acquisition (see Note 1.1).

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Non-current assets 17,069 4,628
less deferred tax assets (541) (234)
less non-current assets directly associated to financial debt (165) (177)
Capital employed - non-current assets (A) 16,363 4,217
Current assets 11,167 8,380
less cash and cash equivalents (1,250) (2,1275)
less other current financial assets (28) (45)
Capital employed - current assets (B) 9,889 6,160
Current liabilities 14,829 7,775
less current financial debt (526) (270)
plus non-current lease obligations 590 465
less other obligations associated to financial debt (165) 77)
plus non-current provisions 295 160
Capital employed - liabilities (C) 15,023 7,953
CAPITAL EMPLOYED (A)+(B)-(C) 11,229 2,424 |
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Non-GAAP financial indicators definitions

NET CASH/(DEBT)

The net cash/(debt) is defined as cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and other current financial asset, less borrowings. On 31 March
2021, the Group recorded a net cash level of €(899) million, as compared to the net cash position of €1,178 million on 31 March 2020.

Year ended Year ended
(in € million) 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Cash and cash equivalents 1,250 2,175
Other current financial assets 28 45
less:
Current financial debt 526 270
Non-current financial debt 1,651 772
NET CASH/(DEBT) AT THE END OF THE PERIOD (899) 1,178
Figures presented in this section include performance indicators presented The Group uses figures prepared on an organic basis both for internal
on an actual basis and on an organic basis. Figures given on an organic analysis and for external communication, as it believes they provide
basis eliminate the impact of changes in scope of consolidation and means to analyse and explain variations from one period to another.
changes resulting from the translation of the accounts into euro following However, these figures are not measurements of performance under

the variation of foreign currencies against the euro. IFRS.
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7 Consolidated income statement

Year ended
(in € million) Note | At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Sales 3) 8,785 8,201
Cost of sales (7,400) (6,740)
Research and development expenses (4) (318) (302)
Selling expenses (5) (230) (223)
Administrative expenses (s5) (403) (368)
Other income/(expense) (6) (134) (23)
Earnings Before Interests and Taxes 300 545
Financial income (7) 4 6
Financial expense (7) (72) (82)
Pre-tax income 232 469
Income Tax Charge (8) (63) (118)
Share in net income of equity-accounted investments (13) 83 102
Net profit from continuing operations 252 453
Net profit from discontinued operations (9) 7 21
NET PROFIT 259 474
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 247 467
Net profit attributable to non controlling interests 12 7
Net profit from continuing operations attributable to:
® Equity holders of the parent 240 446
* Non controlling interests 12 7
Net profit from discontinued operations attributable to:
® Equity holders of the parent 7 21
* Non controlling interests - -
EARNINGS PER SHARE (in €)
© Basic earnings per share (10) 0.94 2.08
© Diluted earnings per share (10) 0.94 2.06

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
(in € million) Note | At31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Net profit recognised in income statement 259 474
Remeasurement of post-employment benefits obligations (29) 108 37
Equity investments at FVOCI (13)/(14) 3 (6)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (8) (7) (4)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 104 27
of which from equity-accounted investments - (1)
Fair value adjustments on cash flow hedge derivatives 4 (&)
Costs of hedging reserve (7) (4)
Currency translation adjustments® (23) 14 (163)
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (8) (1) 3
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 10 (168)
of which from equity-accounted investments (13) 2 (89)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 373 333 |
Attributable to:
© Equity holders of the parent 360 329
© Non controlling interests 13 4
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders arises from:
© Continuing operations 353 308
® Discontinued operations 7 21
Total comprehensive income attributable to non controlling interests arises from:
e Continuing operations 13 4
® Discontinued operations - -

(*) Doesn’t include any currency translation adjustments on actuarial gains and losses as of 31 March 2021 (€2 million as of 31 March 2020).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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7 Consolidated balance sheet

Assets
(in € million) Note | At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Goodwill (11) 9,200 1,567
Intangible assets (12) 2,800 470
Property, plant and equipment (12) 2,550 1,371
Investments in joint-venture and associates (13) 1,466 693
Non consolidated investments (14) 77 60
Other non-current assets (15) 435 233
Deferred Tax (8) 541 234
Total non-current assets 17,069 4,628
Inventories 7) 2,962 1,743
Contract assets (18) 2,715 1,644
Trade receivables (19) 2,299 1,581
Other current operating assets (20) 1,913 1,192
Other current financial assets (25) 28 45
Cash and cash equivalents (26) 1,250 2,175
Total current assets 11,167 8,380
Assets held for sale (9) 330 -

| ToTAL ASSETS 28,566 13,008
Equity and Liabilities
(in € million) Note | At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent (23) 9,039 3,271
Non controlling interests 78 57
Total equity 9,117 3,328
Non current provisions (22) 295 160
Accrued pensions and other employee benefits (29) 1,359 491
Non-current borrowings (27) 1,651 772
Non-current lease obligations (27) 590 465
Deferred Tax (8) 108 17
Total non-current liabilities 4,003 1,905
Current provisions (22) 2,014 853
Current borrowings (27) 526 270
Current lease obligations (27) 161 131
Contract liabilities (18) 5,457 3,148
Trade payables (16) 3,207 1,653
Other current liabilities (22) 3,464 1,720
Total current liabilities 14,829 7,775
Liabilities related to assets held for sale (9) 617 -
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 28,566 13,008

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
(in € million) Note | At31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Net profit 259 474
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (11)/(12) 391 293
Expense arising from share-based payments (30) 10 25
Cost of net financial debt and costs of foreign exchange hedging,
net of interest paid and received (a), and other change in provisions (28) (30)
Post-employment and other long-term defined employee benefits 6 4
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of assets (11) (2)
Share of net income (loss) of equity-accounted investments
(net of dividends received) (13) 27) (22)
Deferred taxes charged to income statement (8) (70) 61
Net cash provided by operating activities - before changes in working capital 530 803
Changes in working capital resulting from operating activities (b) (16) (985) (327)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (455) 476
Of which operating flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations - -
Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets 17 4
Capital expenditure (including capitalised R&D costs) (265) (274)
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current assets (15) 12 (7)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired® (1,699) (61)
Disposals of businesses, net of cash sold (8) (30)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (2,943) (368)
Of which investing flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations (9) (8) (31)
Capital increase/(decrease) including non controlling interests® 1,967 60
Dividends paid including payments to non controlling interests () (1,240)
Issuances of bonds & notes (27) 750 700
Repayments of bonds & notes issued 27) - (879)
Changes in current and non-current borrowings (27) (1,089) 110
Changes in lease obligations 27) (110) (103)
Changes in other current financial assets and liabilities 27) (s5) (5)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 1,457 (2,357)
Of which financing flows provided/(used) by discontinued operations - -
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (941) (1,249) |
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,175 3,432
Net effect of exchange rate variations 21 (12)
Transfer to assets held for sale (5) 3
| CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD (26) 1,250 2,175 |
(a) Net of interests paid & received (28) (57)
(b) Income tax paid (94) (102)

(1) Mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s purchase price which is partially paid in cash for €2.0 billion (see Note 1.1), net of the cash acquired for €0.4 billion.
(2) Mainly due to the rights issue completed on 7 December 2020 for an amount of around €2 billion in the frame of the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation (see

Note 1.1).
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(in € million)

Year ended

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Net cash/(debt) variation analysis

Changes in cash and cash equivalents (941) (1,249)
Changes in other current financial assets and liabilities 55 5
Changes in bonds and notes (750) 179
Changes in current and non-current borrowings 1,089 (110)
Net debt of acquired/disposed entities at acquisition/disposal date and other variations (1,530) 28
Decrease/(increase) in net debt (2,077) (1,247)
Net cash(debt) at the begining of the period 1,178 2,325
| NET CASH/(DEBT) AT THE END OF THE PERIOD (899) 1,178 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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_ Equity
) attributable
Actuarial to the
Number of Additional gains Cash- Currency equity Non
(in € million, except for outstanding paid-in  Retained and flow translation | holders of | controlling Total
number of shares) shares | Capital capital earnings losses hedge adjustment | the parent | interests | equity
At 31 March 2019 223,572,313 | 1,565 931 2,366 (311) - (460) 4,091 68| 4,159
Movements in other
comprehensive income - - - (9) 36 (3) (162) (138) 3)| (1s1)
Net income for the period - - - 467 - - - 467 7 474
Total comprehensive
income - - - 458 36 (3) (162) 329 4 333
Change in controlling
interests and others - - - - - - - - (9) (9)
Dividends - - - (1,234) - - - (1,234) (6) | (1,240)
Issue of ordinary
shares under long term
incentive plans 2,181,741 15 45 (5) - - - 55 - 55
Recognition of equity
settled share-based
payments 219,728 1 4 25 - - - 30 - 30
At 31 March 2020 225,973,782 | 1,581 980 1,610 (275) (3) (622) 3,271 57 | 3,328
Movements in other
comprehensive income - - - (5) 102 6 11 113 1 114
Net income for the period - - - 247 - - - 247 12 259
Total comprehensive
income - - - 242 102 6 11 360 13 373
Change in controlling
interests and others - - - (1) - - - (1) 14 13
Dividends - - - - - - - - (6) (6)
Capital increase by
issuance of new shares 144,262,351 | 1,011 4,046 52 - - - 5,109 -| 5,109
Fair value adjustment of
consideration transferred - - 287 - - - - 287 - 287
Issue of ordinary
shares under long term
incentive plans 862,298 5 - (5) - - - - - -
Recognition of equity
settled share-based
payments 103,362 1 2 10 - - - 13 - 13
AT 31 MARCH 2021 371,201,793 | 2,598 5,315 1,908 (173) 3 (611) 9,039 78| 9,117

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Alstom is a leading player in the world rail transport industry. As such,
the Company offers a complete range of solutions, including rolling
stock, systems, services as well as signalling for passenger and freight
railway transportation. It benefits from a growing market with solid
fundamentals. The key market drivers are urbanisation, environmental
concerns, economic growth, governmental spending and digital
transformation.

In this context, Alstom has been able to develop both a local and global
presence that sets it apart from many of its competitors, while offering
proximity to customers and great industrial flexibility. Its range of
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solutions, one of the most complete and integrated on the market, and
its position as a technological leader, place Alstom in a unique situation
to benefit from the worldwide growth in the rail transport market. Lastly,
in order to generate profitable growth, Alstom focuses on operational
excellence and its product mix evolution.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro and have
been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors held on 10 May 2021.
In accordance with French legislation, they will be final once approved
by the shareholders of Alstom at the Annual General Meeting convened
for 28 July 2021.

A. MAJOR EVENTS AND CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

NOTE 1.

1.1. Major events

1.1.1. The acquisition of Bombardier Transportation

On 1 December 2020, Alstom and Bombardier announced that all
necessary regulatory approvals required to complete the sale of
Bombardier Transportation to Alstom had been received.

0On 29 January 2021, Alstom announced the completion of the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation. Leveraging on its clear Alstom in Motion
strategy and its strong operational fundamentals and financial trajectory,
Alstom, integrating Bombardier Transportation, will strengthen its
leadership in the growing sustainable mobility market by reaching a
critical size in all geographies and integrating further solutions and
assets to better serve its customers worldwide. The enlarged Group
has a combined proforma 2020/21 revenue of around €14.0 billion and
€74.5 billion combined backlog. It employs 71,700 people worldwide in
70 countries, has unparalleled R&D capabilities and a complete portfolio
of products and solutions.

Price and Financing

The reference price was established at €5.5 billion, at the bottom of the
range of €5.5 billion to €5.9 billion communicated on 16 September 2020.
The proceeds for the acquisition were established at €4.4 billion, which
include the impact of the minimum cash adjustment mechanism based
on a negative net cash position of Bombardier Transportation as of
31 December 2020 and other further contractual adjustments for an
amount of €1.1 billion.

Alstom also proceeded, on 29 January 2021, to the reimbursement of
the € 0.75 billion Equity injections performed by CDPQ (Caisse de dépot
et placement du Québec) and Bombardier Inc. between February 2020
and January 2021.

MAJOR EVENTS AND MAJOR CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The financing structure of the purchase price was as follows:

As determined in the Sale and Purchase Agreement (SPA), a significant
part of the purchase price, for a global amount of €3.1 billion, was paid
in Equity through reserved share capital increases by way of set-off
subscribed by:

CDPQ’s affiliate, CDP Investissements Inc, with two capital increases,
one of €1.9 billion with 47,469,213 new ordinary shares issued and
one of €0.7 billion with 17,210,934 new ordinary shares issued;
Bombardier UK for an amount of €500 million with 11,504,149 new
ordinary shares issued.

The remaining part of the purchase price for an amount of € 2.0 billion
was paid in cash. It was financed thanks to the rights issue for an amount
of around €2 billion completed on 7 December 2020 with 68,078,055
new ordinary shares issued.

The contractual purchase price was calculated in euros. A portion of it
was paid to Bombardier UK in US dollars at an agreed exchange rate
EUR/USD of circa 1/1.17, this payment in US dollars having been hedged
by Alstom. The effective portion of the hedging has been recorded in
goodwill for €(64) million, the ineffective part in the financial result for
€(19) million (see Note 7).

Purchase price accounting

From an accounting perspective, the consideration transferred amounted
to €5.4 billion. It corresponds to the sum of the fair values, at closing
date, of the shares and the cash transferred by Alstom. The number of
Alstom’s shares has been determined based on the contractual purchase
price. Accordingly, as required under IFRS 3, the subscription by way of
set off has been measured based on the fair value of Alstom’s shares
issued at the Completion Date, which is represented by the market price
of Alstom’s shares at 29 January 2021.

Number of shares allocated to CDOPQ and Bombardier Inc. (based on the share prices agreed in the Acquisition Agreement) 76,184,296
Alstom’s closing share price as of 29 January 2021 (in €) 44.86
Fair value of the consideration subscribed in Alstom shares by way of set off (in € million) 3,418
Consideration paid in cash (in € million) 1,964
FAIR VALUE OF THE CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED (in € million) 5,382
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Moreover, Bombardier Transportation’s identifiable assets and liabilities were measured at their fair value on the date on which Alstom acquired
control of the company. The preliminary/provisional allocation of Bombardier Transportation purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed is as follows:

Fair value at
(in € million) Note 29 January 2021
Intangible assets (12) 2,365
Property, plant and equipment (12) 1,197
Investments in joint-venture and associates (13) 713
Inventories (17) 1,157
Net contract assets/(liabilities) (18) (2,676)
Other net assets/(liabilities)® (3,094)
Accrued pensions and other employee benefits (29) (934)
Net financial debt (27) (1,133)
Net deferred taxes assets/(liabilities) (8) 152
Non controlling interests (13)
FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE GROUP (2,266)
Consideration transferred 5,382
Preliminary goodwill 7,648

(*) Including €1,509 million of provisions (see Note 22).

The following methods were used to measure the fair value of the intangible assets, Property, plant and equipment and Investments in joint-venture

and associates acquired:

Assets acquired

Description of the valuation approach

Customer-related intangible assets: Backlog/
Customer relationships/Options/Bids

Multi-Period Excess Earning Method (MPEEM)
The multi-period excess earnings method considers the present value of net cash flows

expected to be generated by the customer contracts or relationships, after remuneration
of the contributory assets necessary to the execution of contracts.

Technology-related Intangible assets

Relief from Royalty method/Cost approach

The relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted royalty payments that are expected
to be avoided as a result of the technology being owned.

The cost approach reflects the fair value of an asset based of costs (to be) incurred to develop
similar asset, after consideration of its obsolescence.

Property, plant and equipment

Market comparison technique and cost technique.

The valuation model considers market prices for similar items when they are available,
and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate.

Investments in Joint Ventures and associates

Discounted Dividend Method, Discounted Cash Flows Method and/or Net Book Value

At the acquisition date, the preliminary fair value of the Customer-Related
intangible assets amount to €1,892 million and €466 million for the
technology acquired.

According to IFRS 3, Alstom recognized and measured the deferred
tax assets and liabilities arising from the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in this business combination in accordance with I1AS 12 “Income
Taxes”, considering the applicable tax rate of the entities to which the
assets and liabilities belong.

The Group may adjust the provisional amounts recognized as soon as it
receives additional information about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date within one year from the acquisition date. Any
differences compared to the provisional amounts will be recognized as a
retrospective adjustment against goodwill if recorded within 12 months
from the acquisition date. The provisional goodwill recognized on the
transaction amounted to €7.6 billion.
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The goodwill is mainly attributable to the Bombardier Transportation’s
workforce, its contracts portfolio of products and solutions, the
synergies expected to be achieved from the integration of Bombardier
Transportation within Alstom (including improvement of profitability)
and the potential of new businesses based on current market dynamics.

Other acquisition related topics

The Group incurred €102 million for acquisition-related costs on
non-recurring legal, advisory, accounting, valuation, banking and
other professional or consulting fees attributable to the Bombardier
Transportation’s acquisition. Those costs were accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 3, and consequently recognized as expenses in the periods in
which they were incurred, and the services were received (see Note 6).



Costs incurred in issuing equity instruments have been accounted for as
a deduction from equity to the extent they were deemed as incremental
costs directly attributable to the equity transactions for an amount of
€29 million after taxes.

According to IFRS 3, hedge relationships related to Bombardier
Transportation’s commercial activity were reset at acquisition date.
Outstanding foreign exchange derivatives were therefore re-designated
in new hedging relationships as of 29 January 2021, leading to hedged
commercial contracts being valued using the exchange rate applicable as
of the date of acquisition. The reset of hedged rates leads to an increase
of the gross margin on contracts of €30 million (compared hedged rates
used by Bombardier Transportation) to be recognized over the period
2020/21 to 2026/27.

Bombardier Transportation contributed for €1,125 million to the sales of
the Group and for €(60) million to the net result since its acquisition. It
includes the amortisations of the purchase price allocation amounting
to €(71) million over the period ended 31 March 2021.

On a pro forma basis, if the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2020,
management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been
€14.0 billion, and consolidated net result for the year would have been
€(0.8) billion.

Shareholding and governance

CDPQ became Alstom’s main shareholder with 17.5% of Alstom’s share
capital. CDPQ is committed to a long-term shareholder approach with a
strong track record of investing in infrastructure and transport assets.

In accordance with the resolutions approved by the Alstom’s Shareholders’
Meeting held on 29 October 2020, Ms Kim Thomassin, representing
CDPQ, and Mr Serge Godin joined Alstom’s Board of Directors. Mr Benoit
Raillard has been appointed by Alstom’s Board of Directors as observer
(censeur) upon CDPQ’s proposal.

Next steps

Alstom will pursue and finalize sales of certain assets of the combined
Group in line with the commitments described in the European
Commission’s press release on 31 July 2020 and classified as Assets
Held for Sale (see Note 9):

® a transfer of Bombardier Transportation’s contribution to the V300
ZEFIRO very high-speed train and an offer of IP license to Hitachi for
the train co-developed by Hitachi and Bombardier Transportation for
use in future very high-speed tenders in the UK;

the divestment of the Alstom Coradia Polyvalent and the Reichshoffen
production site in France;

the divestment of the Bombardier TALENT 3 platform and dedicated
production facilities located within the Hennigsdorf site in Germany.

The commitments concerning Bombardier Transportation’s Signalling
On-Board Units and Train Control Management Systems (TCMS) have
already been started to be implemented.

The divestitures will comply with all applicable social processes and
consultations with employee representatives’ bodies.

1.1.2. Covid-19 pandemic

The Alstom Group does business in numerous countries that have
significantly been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. As a result, the
Group’s operations have been impacted by lockdowns and the disturbance
resulting from government measures to address the Covid-19 pandemic.
Such measures affected our supply chain and overall production chains,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

impacting the timing of several projects. The Sanitary Crisis also impacted
tendering momentum in the first quarters of 2020, with a shift in
commercial activity.

In this context, after implementing the necessary health and safety
measures to protect all of its employees and stakeholders, the Group
made every effort to ensure the agile and responsible execution of its
activities in each of the countries where it operates by swiftly adapting
to changes linked to the public health crisis situation and complying
with local government decisions. Our business activities showed good
resilience, and, in the second semester, to the exception of a moderate
impact on the service activity, operations were running at a pace in line
with the pre-existing Covid-19 crisis conditions. Commercial performance
was also very positive in the last quarter of the financial year, pointing
to solid market momentum.

While the first initiative was to ensure the health and safety of
its employees to ensure continuity of project execution, the Group
implemented a company-wide cost saving program to significantly
reduce costs. Alstom adapted the ways of working of its employees and
limited non-essential travels and events. The Group also promoted salary
moderation and kept a tight control over additional recruitments. The
company has re-assessed investment priorities to rationalise cash spend
while ensuring that R&D investments remained at the level that was
deemed required to deliver on the Alstom in Motion strategy roadmap.
In the context of the Covid-19 crisis, and in a spirit of responsibility
towards all its stakeholders, the Board of Directors, in its meeting of
11 May 2020, decided as an exceptional measure not to propose a
dividend distribution at the next Shareholders’ meeting on 8 July 2020.

The Group was principally affected by the Covid-19 pandemic in the
first quarter of its fiscal year 2020/21, with identified incremental
costs incurred amounting up to €68 million and stemming both from
inefficiencies and expenses dedicating specifically to Covid-19 crisis.
Inefficiencies are costs induced by the inability of certain employees to
come to the workplace in the wake of lockdowns and dedicated costs
are mainly related to cleaning and purchase of protective equipment to
protect our employees from the virus.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Group’s operations affects
the whole income statement and balance sheet and not just individual
line items.

Estimated profit (loss) on completion of contracts accounted
for on a percentage of completion basis

Covid-19 related inefficiencies and dedicated costs are not included in the
percentage of completion formula of the project and have not generated
revenue. They have been recognized in the primary statement of the
income statement under the caption Cost of sales.

Impairment of assets

Impairment tests have been performed on goodwill (see Note 11),
tangible assets, intangible assets and deferred taxes (see Note 8) with
no impairment risks identified as of end of March 2021. The events
linked to Covid-19 led the Group to draw up business plan used for
the impairment test performed in the frame of the preparation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, based on its best reasonable
estimates and the visibility available for its operations at 31 March 2021.
Moreover, some sensitivity analysis were performed with regards to the
key assumptions that would not lead to an impairment loss of goodwill
as the recoverable amount still exceeds its carrying value.
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Liquidity and balance sheet position

At 31 March 2021, the Group has a total liquidity of around €4,500 million,
including cash and cash equivalent and undrawn available credit lines.
The Group has enough liquidity to fund its operations going forward.

Government grants

Where applicable, grants for the various furlough and short time working
schemes established by the country where the Group operates were
recognized as a deduction from personnel costs.

Risk and uncertainties
The crisis did not reveal new risk factors for the Group.

1.1.3. Shareholdership and stock market index

The Steering Committee of the Euronext Indices has decided to include
Alstom in the list of the 40 stocks making up the French CAC40 index.
This inclusion is effective since 21 September 2020.

CDPQ is now the main shareholder with 17.48% of Alstom'’s share capital.
Bouygues holds now 3.12% of the capital of the Group with successful
placements in November 2020 and March 2021.

1.2. Scope of consolidation

1.2.1. Changes of the year

Bombardier Transportation’s Acquisition
0On 29 January 2021, Alstom announced the completion of the acquisition
of Bombardier Transportation (see Note 1.1)

SpeedInnov

Through its affiliate Speedinnov, a joint-venture created in 2015 with
ADEME, Alstom focused on its ‘Very high-speed train of the future’
project, aiming to promote a new generation of very high-speed trainset
which will reduce acquisition and operating costs by at least 20%,
optimise the environmental footprint and develop the commercial offer
to improve passenger experience. In this context, Alstom subscribed
to a capital increase in this joint-venture in an amount of €27 million
in June 2020 increasing its stake from 71.0% to 74.0% with no change
in the consolidation method (Joint control).

Other Acquisitions

0On 30 June 2020, Alstom fully acquired IBRE (International Braking &
Railway Equipment) shares, a company based in France and renamed
“Alstom IBRE”. This company is specialized in the development, the
manufacturing and the supply of railway brake discs. Their reliable high-
quality products are recognized by the most important European railway
administrations. The entity is fully consolidated in the Group’s accounts.

On 1 March 2021, Alstom fully acquired B&C Transit’s shares. This transit
engineering design and construction firm is specialised in the passenger
rail sector and operates in the United States and Canada.

On 31 March 2021, Alstom fully acquired RSB BV’s shares. This
Rotterdam-based company provides services in maintenance of rolling
stock for freight and passenger transport in the Netherlands.

The table below presents the aggregated impact of the other acquisitions as per IFRS 3 recommendation:

Other acquisitions

Total non-current assets 17
Total current assets 46
Total assets 63
Total non-current liabilities 11
Total current liabilities 18
Total liabilities 29
FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE GROUP 34
Consideration price 77
Preliminary goodwill 43

Preliminary Goodwills amount to €43 million for other acquisitions. The purchase price allocations are not fully completed and will be finalized within
12 months after the acquisition date. Their contributions to the sales of the Group are not material.
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B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND USE OF ESTIMATES

NOTE 2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1. Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

Alstom consolidated financial statements, for the year ended

31 March 2021, are presented in millions of euros and have been

prepared:

® in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and interpretations published by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the European Union and
whose application was mandatory as at 31 March 2021;

using the same accounting policies and measurement methods as
at 31 March 2020, with the exceptions of changes required by the
enforcement of new standards and interpretations presented here after.

The full set of standards endorsed by the European Union can be
consulted at: http://www.efrag.org/Endorsement

2.2. New standards and interpretations
mandatorily applicable for financial
periods beginning on 1 April 2020

Several amendments are applicable at 1 April 2020:

amendments to References to IFRS 9, IAS 39 & IFRS 7: Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform; the Group has elected to early adopt these
amendments as expressed within the Group’s consolidated financial
statements at 31 March 2020;

amendment to IFRS 16 “Leases - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions”;

amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”;

amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of material;
amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards.

The last four amendments effective at 1 April 2020 for Alstom have
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.3. New standards and interpretations
not yet mandatorily applicable

New standards and interpretations endorsed

by the European Union not yet mandatorily

applicable

* Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform” - Phase 2. The amendments will be
applicable for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2021.

Alstom has decided not to early apply these new amendments and is

currently ensuring the transition process to the new indices benchmarks.

No significant impact is expected so far associated with this reform.

New standards and interpretations not yet approved
by the European Union

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions”
beyond 30 June 2021. The amendments are applicable for annual
periods beginning after 1 April 2021.

Several amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, IAS 16
“Property, Plant and Equipment”, IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets and Annual Improvements 2018-
2020”. All these amendments will be applicable for annual periods
beginning after 1 January 2022.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements:
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”. The
amendments will be applicable for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and
IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies. The
amendments will be applicable for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates”. The
amendments will be applicable for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2023.

The potential impacts of all these new pronouncements are currently
being analyzed.

2.4. Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires management to make various estimates and to use
assumptions regarded as realistic and reasonable. These estimates or
assumptions could affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities, equity,
net income and contingent assets and liabilities at the closing date.
Management reviews estimates on an on-going basis using information
currently available. Actual results may differ from those estimates, due
to changes in facts and circumstances.

The accounting policies most affected by the use of estimates are the
following:

Revenue and margin recognition on construction
and long-term service contracts and related
provisions

The Group recognises revenue and gross margin on most construction
and long-term service contracts fulfilling the requirements for revenue
recognition over time, using the percentage of completion method
based on cost to cost: revenue is in that case recognized based on
the percentage of costs incurred to date divided by the total costs at
completion. Moreover, when a project review indicates a negative gross
margin, the estimated loss at completion is immediately recognised.
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Recognised revenue and margin are based on estimates of total expected
contract revenue and cost, which are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses. Total expected revenue and cost on a contract reflect
management’s current best estimate of the probable future benefits
and obligations associated with the contract.

Assumptions to calculate present and future obligations take into account
current technology as well as the commercial and contractual positions,
assessed on a contract-by-contract basis (one performance obligation
corresponding in most cases to one contract). The introduction of
technologically-advanced products exposes the Group to risks of product
failure significantly beyond the terms of standard contractual warranties
applicable to suppliers of equipment only.

Obligations on contracts may result in penalties due to late completion
of contractual milestones, or unanticipated costs due to project
modifications, suppliers or subcontractors’ failure to perform or delays
caused by unexpected conditions or events. Warranty obligations are
affected by product failure rates, material usage and service delivery
costs incurred in correcting failures.

Although the Group makes individual assessments on contracts on a
regular basis, there is a risk that actual costs related to those obligations
may exceed initial estimates. Estimates of contract costs and revenues at
completion in case of contracts in progress and estimates of provisions in
case of completed contracts may then have to be re-assessed.

Estimate of provisions relating to litigations

The Group identifies and analyses on a regular basis current litigations
and measures, when necessary, provisions on the basis of its best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date. These estimates take into account information available and
different possible outcomes.

Valuation of deferred tax assets

Management judgment is required to determine the extent to which
deferred tax assets can be recognised. Future sources of taxable income
and the effects of the Group global income tax strategies are taken into
account in making this determination. This assessment is conducted
through a detailed review of deferred tax assets by jurisdiction and
takes into account past, current and future performance deriving from
the existing contracts in the order book, the budget and the three-year
plan, and the length of carry back, carry forwards and expiry periods
of net operating losses.

Measurement of post-employment and other long-
term defined employee benefits

The measurement of obligations and assets related to defined benefit
plans makes it necessary to use several statistical and other factors that
attempt to anticipate future events. These factors include assumptions
about the discount rate, the rate of future compensation increases as well
as withdrawal and mortality rates. If actuarial assumptions materially
differ from actual results, it could result in a significant change in the
employee benefit expense recognised in the income statement, actuarial
gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income and prepaid
and accrued benefits.
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Valuation of assets

The discounted cash flow model used to determine the recoverable
value of the group of cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated
includes a number of inputs including estimates of future cash flows,
discount rates and other variables, and then requires significant judgment.

Impairment tests performed on intangible and tangible assets, as well
as Right-of-Use related to leased assets are also based on assumptions.
Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results
from underlying assets could result in an inability to recover their current
carrying value.

Inventories

Inventories, including work in progress, are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Write-down of inventories are calculated
based on an analysis of foreseeable changes in demand, technology or
market conditions in order to determine obsolete or excess inventories.
If actual market conditions are less favourable than those projected,
additional inventory write-downs may be required.

2.5. Significant accounting policies

2.5.1. Consolidation methods

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group exercises control.

The Group controls an entity when (i) it has power over this entity,
(ii) is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with that entity, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over that entity
to affect the amount of those returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control is transferred to the Group
and deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are identified in a specific line of the equity named “Non-controlling
interests”. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those
interests at the date of the original business combination and their share
of changes in equity since the date of the combination. In the absence of
explicit agreements to the contrary, subsidiaries’ losses are systematically
allocated between equity holders of the parent and non-controlling
interests based on their respective ownership interests even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss
of control are considered as transactions between shareholders and
accounted for in equity.

Joint arrangements
Joint arrangements are the entities over which the Group has joint control.
The Group jointly controls an entity when decisions relating to the relevant

activities of that entity require unanimous consent of the Group and the
other parties who share control.



A joint arrangement is classified either as a joint operation or as a joint
venture. The classification is based on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangement, taking into consideration the structure
and legal form of the arrangement, the terms agreed by the parties
in the contractual arrangement and, when relevant, other facts and
circumstances (see also Note 13):

Joint operations

Joint operations are entities in which the Group has rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities.

The Group recognises the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
related to its interests in the joint operation. A joint operation may be
conducted under a separate vehicle or not.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are entities in which the Group only has rights to the
net assets.

Interests in joint ventures are consolidated under the equity method as
described in the paragraph below.

Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
In other words, the Group has the possibility to participate in decisions
related to these entities’ financial and operating policies without having
control (exclusive or joint).

Generally, the existence of significant influence is consistent with a level
of voting right held by the Group between 20% and 50%.

If need be, accounting policies of associates will be standardized with
the Group accounting policies.

Interests in associates are consolidated under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements as described in the paragraph below.

Equity method

The Group accounts for its interests in associates and joint ventures
under the equity method. Wherever necessary, accounting policies of
associates and joint ventures have been changed to ensure consistency
with the IFRS framework.

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost, including any goodwill arising and
transaction costs. Earn-outs are initially recorded at fair value and
adjustments recorded through cost of investment when their payments
are probable and can be measured with sufficient reliability.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the associate or joint venture recognized at the date of acquisition
is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of
the investment. In case of an associate or joint venture purchased by
stage, the Group uses the cost method to account for changes from
non-consolidated investments category to “Investments in joint ventures
and associates”.

Associates and joint ventures are presented in the specific line
“Investments in joint ventures and associates” of the balance sheet,
and the Group’s share of its associates’ profits or losses is recognized in
the line “Share of net income of equity-accounted investments” of the
income statement whereas its share of post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognized in reserves.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Losses of an associate or joint venture in excess of the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture are not recognized, except if the Group
has a legal or implicit obligation.

The impairment expense of investments in associates and joint ventures
is recorded in the line “Share of net income of equity-accounted
investments” of the income statement.

According to IAS 28, if the financial statements of an associate used in
applying the equity method are prepared as of a different date from that
of the investor, adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
investor’s financial statements. In any case, the difference between the
end of the reporting period of the associate and that of the investor shall
be no more than three months.

2.5.2. Assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale are presented on a separate line of
the balance sheet when (i) the Group has made a decision to sell the
asset(s) concerned and (ii) the sale is considered to be highly probable.
These assets are measured at the lower of net carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

When the Group is committed to a sale process leading to the loss of
control of a subsidiary, all assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
reclassified as held for sale, irrespective of whether the Group retains a
residual interest in the entity after sale.

2.5.3. Cash flow hedge

When cash flow hedge applies, the portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is
recognized in other comprehensive income.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently resulting in the
recognition of a non-financial asset qualifies for cash flow hedge, then
the entity shall reclassify the associated gains and losses that were
recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss.

2.5.4. Translation of financial statements
denominated in currencies other than euro

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which a reporting entity operates, which in most cases, corresponds
to the local currency. However, some reporting entities may have a
functional currency different from local currency when that other currency
is used for the entity’s main transactions and faithfully reflects its
economic environment.

Assets and liabilities of entities whose functional currency is other than
the euro are translated into euro at closing exchange rate at the end of
each reporting period while their income and cash flow statements are
translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The currency
translation adjustments resulting from the use of different currency rates
for opening balance sheet positions, transactions of the period and closing
balance sheet positions are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Translation adjustments are transferred to the consolidated income
statement at the time of the disposal of the related entity.
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of
entities whose functional currency is not euro are designated as assets
and liabilities of those entities and therefore denominated in their
functional currencies and translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period.

2.5.5. Business combinations

Business combinations completed between the 1 January 2004 and the
31 March 2010 have been recognised applying the provisions of the
previous version of IFRS 3.

Business combinations completed from the 1 April 2010 onwards are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 3R.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the sum of fair values of the assets transferred and
the liabilities incurred by the acquirer at the acquisition date and the
equity-interest issued by the acquirer. The consideration transferred
includes contingent consideration, measured and recognized at fair
value at the acquisition date.

For each business combination, any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree may be measured:
® either at the acquisition-date fair value, leading to the recognition

of the non-controlling interest’s share of goodwill (full goodwill
method); or

either at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, resulting in recognition of only the
share of goodwill attributable to equity holders of the parent (partial
goodwill method).

Acquisition-related costs are recorded as an expense as incurred.

Goodwill arising from a business combination is measured as the

difference between:

 the fair value of the consideration transferred for an acquiree plus the
amount of any non-controlling interests of the acquiree; and

© the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date.

Initial estimates of consideration transferred and fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are finalised within 12 months after the
date of acquisition and any adjustments are accounted for as retroactive
adjustments to goodwill. Beyond this 12-month period, any adjustment
is directly recognised in the income statement.

Earn-outs are initially recorded at fair value and adjustments made
beyond the 12-month measurement period following the acquisition
are systematically recognised through profit or loss.

In case of a step-acquisition that leads to the Group acquiring control
of the acquiree, the equity interest previously held by the Group is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2.5.6. Sales and costs generated by operating
activities

Measurement of sales and costs

The amount of revenue arising from a transaction is usually determined
by the contractual agreement with the customer. IFRS 15 provides
restrictive guidance on the transaction price estimates and especially
on variable consideration and contract modifications.
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The estimation of the transaction price should include variable amounts
and/or contract modifications to the extent that it is highly probable that
no significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenues recognized
will occur when the uncertainty associated with these elements is
subsequently resolved. The introduction of this constraint on the price
escalation estimate on the one hand, as well as the incorporation of
amendments under negotiation on the other hand, leads to recognize
these effects on contract value at a later point in time, when they
become enforceable.

In the case of “construction contracts” claims are considered in the
determination of contract revenue only when it is highly probable
that the claim will result in additional revenue and the amount can be
reliably estimated.

Penalties are first taken into account as an increase of contract costs
and in a second step as a reduction of contract revenue as soon as they
are accepted.

Finally, a significant financial component should be introduced positively
or negatively on revenue, when timing of cash receipts and revenue
recognition under cost to cost method differ substantially.

Production costs include direct costs (such as material, labour and
warranty costs) and indirect costs. Warranty costs are estimated on the
basis of contractual agreement, available statistical data and weighting
of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities. Warranty
periods may extend up to five years. Selling and administrative expenses
are excluded from production costs.

Recognition of sales and costs

Revenue on sale of manufactured products is recognised according to
IFRS 15 at a point in time, i.e. essentially when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer, which generally
occurs on delivery. Revenue on short-term service contracts is also
accounted for at a point in time and recognised on performance of the
related service. All production costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the sale are charged to cost of sales at the date of recognition of sales.

Revenue on most of “construction contracts” and long-term service
agreements is recognised according to IFRS 15 based on the percentage
of completion method as they fulfill the requirements for revenue
recognition over time: the stage of completion is assessed on the cost
to cost method. Revenue is recognised for each performance obligation
based on the percentage of costs incurred to date divided by the total costs
expected at completion. Consequently, the revenue for the period is the
excess of revenue measured according to the percentage of completion
over the revenue recognised in prior periods.

Cost of sales on “construction contracts” and long-term service
agreements is computed on the same basis. The cost of sales for the
period is the excess of cost measured according to the percentage
of completion over the cost of sales recognised in prior periods. As a
consequence, adjustments to contract estimates resulting from work
conditions and performance are recognised in cost of sales as soon as
they occur, prorated to the stage of completion.

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, but the
Group expects to recover the costs incurred in satisfying the contract,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such
time that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably measured.



Costs incurred that are attributable to significant inefficiencies in the
Group’s performance and that were not reflected in the price of the
contract when the contract was negotiated with the customer should
not be included in the percentage of completion formula and expensed
when incurred.

When it is probable that contract costs at completion will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss at completion is recognised
immediately as an expense. Bid costs are recorded as selling expenses
when incurred.

2.5.7. Impairment of goodwill, tangible
and intangible assets as well as Right-of-Use

related to leased assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - mainly goodwill and intangible
assets not yet ready to use - are not amortised but tested for impairment
at least annually or when there are indicators that they may be impaired.
Other intangible and tangible assets as well as Right-of-Use related to
leased assets subject to amortisation are tested for impairment only if
there are indicators of impairment.

The impairment test methodology is based on a comparison between
the recoverable amount of an asset and its net carrying value. If the
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit (CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is
reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement. In the case of goodwill allocated

C. SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTE 3. SEGMENT INFORMATION
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to a group of CGUs, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other groups of assets. If an asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of other assets or groups of assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for a cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. The value in use is elected as representative of the
recoverable value. The valuation performed is based upon the Group’s
internal three-year business plan. Cash flows beyond this period are
estimated using a perpetual long-term growth rate for the subsequent
years. The recoverable amount is the sum of the discounted cash flows
and the discounted terminal residual value. Discount rates are determined
using the weighted-average cost of capital.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill cannot be reversed.

The impairment losses recognized in respect of other assets than goodwill
may be reversed in a later period and recognized immediately in the
income statement. The carrying amount is increased to the revised
estimate of recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
if no impairment loss had been recognized in prior years.

The Group organization, customer focused and also influenced by an increasing number of integrated services, leading to complete and turnkey
solutions, leads to present financial information issued through various axes of analysis (regions, sites, contracts, functions and products). None
of these axes allow for a comprehensive operating profit and loss measure nor segment assets and liabilities.

The segment information issued to the Alstom Executive Committee, identified as the Group’s Chief Operating Decisions Maker (CODM) presents
Key Performance Indicators at Group level. Strategic decisions and resource allocation are driven based on this reporting. The segment information
has been adapted according to a similar method as those used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.

3.1. Sales by product

Year ended
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Rolling stock 4,530 3,942
Services 1,745 1,469
Systems 947 1,301
Signalling 1,563 1,489
TOTAL GROUP 8,785 8,201
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3.2. Key indicators by geographic area

Sales by country of destination

(in € million)

Year ended

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Europe 5,316 4,675
of which France 1,679 1,556
Americas 1,351 1,280
Asia & Pacific 1,093 889
Africa/Middle-East/Central Asia 1,025 1,357
TOTAL GROUP 8,785 8,201

Non-current assets by country of origin

Non-current assets by country of origin are defined as non-current assets other than those related to financial debt, to employee defined benefit

plans and deferred tax assets (see Section E).

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Europe 4,370 1,969
of which France 1,109 872
Americas 790 169
Asia/Pacific 1,519 330
Africa/Middle-East/Central Asia 349 182
Total excluding goodwill 7,028 2,650
Goodwill 9,200 1,567
[ ToTAL GROUP 16,228 4,217

3.3. Orders Backlog

Product breakdown

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Rolling stock 39,052 20,677
Services 24,737 13,794
Systems 4,692 2,288
Signalling 6,056 4,144
[ ToTAL GROUP 74,537 40,903

Geographic breakdown

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Europe 40,804 21,321
of which France 12,226 7,974
Americas 10,491 5,539
Asia & Pacific 11,209 6,120
Africa/Middle-East/Central Asia 12,033 7,923
TOTAL GROUP 74,537 40,903
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During budget exercises, Alstom re-assesses how the company backlog evolution impacts the future sales cycles. Budget processes are designed to
estimate, based on the latest contract costs and planning assumptions, how the contract sales from backlog can develop over time. The March 2021
backlog contribution to the next three fiscal years revenue is expected to land within a €31 billion-€33 billion range.

3.4. Information about major customers

No external customer represents individually 10% or more of the Group’s consolidated sales.

D. OTHER INCOME STATEMENT

NOTE 4. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

Research expenditure is expensed as incurred. Development costs are expensed as incurred unless the project they relate to meets the criteria for
capitalisation (see Note 11). Research and Development costs also cover product sustainability costs booked when incurred.

Year ended
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Research and development gross cost (443) (442)
Funding received 91 117
Research and development spending, net (352) (325)
Development costs capitalised during the period 106 79
Amortisation expenses®) (72) (56)
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES (318) (302) |

(*) Including €(9) million of amortisation expenses of the purchase price allocation of Bombardier Transportation.

its new generation interlocking solution, with the ARGOS partnership
with SNCF signed in September 2020;

its FLEXX Compact Bogie 5" Generation, which will be active in the
Regional and Mainline segments up to 250 km/hr;

its ERTMS level 2 on-board solution, in particular to equip the entire
Norwegian railway fleet with ATLAS™ on-board train control solution;
its CBTC solutions Urbalis Fluence™ and Urbalis 400™ for metros
and tramways;

its ICONIS™ suite for Operational Control Centers, maximizing traffic
fluidity and orchestrating operations from distance;

As of end of March 2021, Alstom Group invested €443 million in Research
and Development, notably to develop:

 its very high-speed trains Avelia Horizon™, with the first delivery for
test on tracks in the US on Amtrack project, while the development
of the French market version is still ongoing;

® its BEMU battery train, for which a first contract has been awarded
in Germany;

® its HealthHub™ predictive maintenance solution, which is now the
backbone for Rolling Stock and Infrastructures maintenance solutions;

© its TRAXX Multi-system 3 locomotives, which development started
in 2018 to cover the European market;

the continuous development of innovative solutions, based on three
pillars: Autonomous mobility, Data factory and Mobility orchestration.

NOTE 5. SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative Costs are structure and operational support costs.
Administrative Costs include mostly expenditure of Headquarter
and site functions having a transverse role, in particular Finance,
Human Resources, Legal and Information Systems departments.

Selling Costs are expenses incurred in the marketing and selling of
a product or a service. Selling Costs typically include expenditure
in the following departments: Market & Strategy, Sales & Business
Development and Communication as well as the direct labour

costs of operatlonal population such as engineering working on Selling and administrative expenses are recognized in charges as
the tendering phase. incurred.

Effective control of the cost structure has contributed to constraint selling and administrative expenses.
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NOTE 6.

Other income and expenses are representative of items which
are inherently difficult to predict due to their unusual, irregular or
non-recurring nature.

Other income may include capital gains on disposal of investments
or activities and capital gains on disposal of tangible and intangible
assets arising from activities disposed or facing restructuring plans,
any income associated to past disposals as well as a portion of post-
employment and other long-term defined employee benefits (plan
amendments, impact of curtailments and settlements and actuarial
gains on long-term benefits other than post-employment benefits).

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses include capital losses on disposal of investments or
activities and capital losses on disposal of tangible and intangible
assets relating to activities facing restructuring plans as well as any
costs associated to past disposals, restructuring costs, rationalisation
costs, significant impairment losses on assets, costs incurred to
realize business combinations and amortisation expense of assets
exclusively acquired in the context of former business combinations
(technology, customer relationship, margin in backlog, margin on
inventory), litigation costs that have arisen outside the ordinary
course of business and a portion of post-employment and other
long-term defined benefit expense.

Year ended
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Capital gains/(losses) on disposal of business 2) -
Restructuring and rationalisation costs (14) (18)
Impairment loss and other (118) (5)
OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES) (134) (23) |

As of 31 March 2021, restructuring and rationalisation costs are mainly

related to the adaptation of the means of production.

Over the period ended at 31 March 2021, Impairment loss and other

represent mainly:

® ¢(13) million of amortisation of intangible assets and integration
costs related to former business combinations, such as GE Signalling,
EKZ and Nomad;

NOTE 7. FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES)

Financial income and expenses include:

interest income representing the remuneration of the cash
position;

interest expenses related to the financial debt (financial debt
consists of bonds, other borrowings, and lease obligations);

€(117) million of incremental costs related to Bombardier
Transportation’s transaction (mainly acquisition costs, see Note 1.1);

€47 million related to reversal of impairments (see Note 9);
€(36) million related to E-Bus impairment of assets (see Note 36);

€8 million related to some legal proceedings (see Note 33) and other
risks, arisen outside of the ordinary course of business.

® cost of commercial and financial foreign exchange hedging
(forward points);

* the financial component of the employee defined benefits expense
(net interest income (expenses) and administration costs);

 the significant financing component under IFRS 15.

® other expenses paid to financial institutions for financing
operations;
Year ended

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Interest income 4 5
Interest expense on borrowings and on lease obligations (32) (57)

| NET FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) ON DEBT (28) (52) |
Net cost of foreign exchange hedging (3) (27)
Net financial expense from employee defined benefit plans (17) (12)
Financial component on contracts 11 11
Other financial income/(expense) (32) (7)
NET FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) (e8) (76) |
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Net financial income/(expenses) on debt is the cost of borrowings net of
income from cash and cash equivalents. As of 31 March 2021, interest
income amounts to €4 million, representing the remuneration of the
Group’s cash position over the period, while interest expenses amount to
€(32) million, with €(9) million of interest expenses on lease obligations.

The net cost of foreign exchange hedging of €(3) million includes primarily
the amortized cost of carry (forward points) of foreign exchange hedging
implemented to hedge the exposures in foreign currency arising from
commercial contracts and from hedging of intercompany financial
positions. In addition, it includes the inefficiency part of the Bombardier
Transportation acquisition hedging amounting to €(19) million.

NOTE 8. TAXATION

The Group computes taxes in accordance with prevailing tax
legislation in the countries where income is taxable.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Temporary differences arising between the carrying amount and
the tax base of assets and liabilities, unused tax losses and unused
tax credits are identified for each taxable entity (or each tax group
when applicable). Corresponding deferred taxes are calculated at
the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future
against which the deductible differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date.

8.1. Analysis of income tax charge

The following table summarises the components of income tax charge:
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The net financial expense from employee defined benefit plans of
€(17) million represents the interest costs on obligations net of interest
income from fund assets calculated using the same discount rate.

The financial component of €11 million is the recognition of financial
revenue under IFRS 15 for a specific project.

Other net financial income/expenses of €(31) million include mainly
bank fees, commitment fees paid on bonds and guarantees facilities,
syndicated loans and revolving facilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, with the exception of certain taxable temporary
differences between the Group’s share in the net assets in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates and their tax
bases. The most common situation when such exception applies
relates to undistributed profits of subsidiaries where distribution
to the shareholders would trigger a tax liability: when the Group
has determined that profits retained by the subsidiary will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future, no deferred tax liability is
recognised. Nevertheless, the exception is no more applicable to
investments/subsidiaries being disposed since it becomes probable
that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future
with the sale of the subsidiaries. Therefore, in this specific case,
deferred tax liabilities are recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when both of the
following conditions are met:

® the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

* the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to net income, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is classified in other
comprehensive income.

Year ended
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Current income tax charge (135) (61)
Deferred income tax charge 72 (57)
| INCOME TAX CHARGE (63) (1s) |
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The following table provides reconciliation from the income tax charge valued at the French statutory rate to the actual income tax charge, free of

the temporary additional contributions:

Year ended
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Pre-tax income 232 469
Statutory income tax rate of the parent company 32.02% 34.43%
Expected tax charge (74) (162)
Impact of:
e difference between normal tax rate applicable in France and normal tax rate in force in

jurisdictions outside France 6 16
® changes in unrecognised deferred tax assets (3) (16)
© changes in tax rates (1) 2
© additional tax expenses (withholding tax, CVAE in France and IRAP in Italy) (30) (25)
* permanent differences and other 39 67
INCOME TAX CHARGE (63) (118) |
Effective tax rate 27% 25%
8.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Year ended

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Deferred tax assets 541 234
Deferred tax liabilities (108) (27)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS, NET 433 217 |
The following table summarises the significant components of the Group’s net deferred tax assets:
. ) _ Translation
Change in Change in _ Scope  adjustments and
(in € million) At 31 March 2020 PaL equity  Variation® other changes | At 31 March 2021
Differences between carrying
amount and tax basis of tangible
and intangible assets 28 (2) - (262) - (236)
Accruals for employee benefit costs
not yet deductible 19 - (7) 44 1 57
Provisions and other accruals not
yet deductible 64 (29) - 213 (6) 252
Differences in recognition of
margin on “construction contracts” 14 16 - 73 3 106
Tax loss carry forwards 95 52 - 56 (1) 202
Other (3) 25 (1) 28 3 52
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) 217 72 (8) 152 - 433

(*) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).
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_ Translation
adjustments and

(in € million) At 31 March 2019 Change in P&L Change in equity other changes At 31 March 2020

Differences between carrying
amount and tax basis of

tangible and intangible assets 39 (12) - 1 28
Accruals for employee benefit
costs not yet deductible 23 3 (&) (3) 19
Provisions and other accruals
not yet deductible 75 (8) - (3) 64

Differences in recognition
of margin on “construction

contracts” 3 12 - (1) 14
Tax loss carry forwards 144 (41) - (8) 95
Other (6) (10) 3 10 (3)
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

(LIABILITIES) 278 (s6) (2) (a) 217

The review of the extrapolation of the latest three-year business plan
leads to a reasonable assurance on the utilization of net deferred tax
assets within a maximum period of 5 years in accordance with the
Group'’s strategy, for an amount of €433 million at the end of March 2021,
mainly in France and the United States for an amount of €217 million.

At 31 March 2021, based on the best estimate of operating and taxable
results, the net deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry forwards
and deductible temporary differences recognised in the balance sheet
in France amount to €66 million out of a total of €656 million including
€424 million on tax losses. Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely
in France on 50% of taxable income of the year.

NOTE 9.
HELD FOR SALE

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:

represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations;

is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations; or

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

The results and cash flows of discontinued operations are presented
on a separate line in the consolidated income statement and
statement of cash flows for each period.

The Group decides whether a discontinued operation represents a
major line of business or geographical area of operations based on
both qualitative criteria (technology, market, products, geographic
region) and quantitative criteria (revenue, earnings, cash flows,
assets). If the assets held by a discontinued operation are classified
as held for sale they are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

In the United States, the deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry
forwards are recognised for a total amount of €122 million out of a total
of €169 deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry forwards. From 2018
onwards, the tax losses generated can be carried forward indefinitely.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets amount to €2,211 million at
31 March 2021 (€1,120 million at 31 March 2020). The increase of
unrecognised deferred tax assets over the period ended 31 March 2021
is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition.

Most of these unrecognised deferred taxes are originated from tax losses
carried forward (€1,388 million at 31 March 2021 and €800 million at
31 March 2020), out of which €357 million are not subject to expiry at
31 March 2021 (€623 million at 31 March 2020).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS

In compliance with IFRS 5, the Group applies the following specific
measurements which impact the consolidated financial statements:

e discontinued operations (including non-current assets, current
assets and the related liabilities classified as held for sale), as a
whole, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell;

® consequently, goodwill, tangible and intangible assets are no
longer reviewed for impairment;

© the exception of IAS 12 consisting in not recognising mechanical
deferred taxes resulting from the difference between tax and
consolidated values of the investments/subsidiaries being disposed
is no more applicable since it becomes probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future with the sale of the
subsidiaries. Thus, deferred tax liabilities are recognised with an
income statement impact presented within the “Net profit from
discontinued operations”;

amortisation on non-current assets classified as “assets held for
sale” ceases at the date of IFRS 5 application;

costs specifically incurred in the context of the deal are presented
in the P&L within the “Net profit from discontinued operations”;

all intercompany balance-sheet and income statement positions
are eliminated.
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9.1. Discontinued Operations

The line “Net profit from discontinued operations”, recognized in the
Consolidated Income Statement, includes the reassessment of liabilities
related to the disposal of previous activities. Over the fiscal year ended
31 March 2021, Alstom recognized a profit for €7 million.

Alstom’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows takes into account
the cash flows of staggered and delayed transferred assets, and costs
directly related to the sale of Energy activities. Cash flows arising from
discontinued operations for the fiscal year amount to €(8) million.

In the context of the General Electric transaction, the release of some
conditional and unconditional parent company guarantees formerly
issued, mainly by Alstom Holdings SA, to cover obligations of the former
Energy affiliates amount of €5.7 billion. The Group benefits from a general
indemnification from General Electric in these matters.

9.2. Assets held for sale

As mentioned in Note 1.1, Alstom considers that the conditions for the
application of IFRS 5 are met with respect to the remedies in connection
with Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition, even if this disposal is not
yet finalized at 31 March 2021.

(in € million)

Therefore, the following assets and liabilities presented in Assets and

Liabilities held for sale correspond to the divestment of:

e Alstom’s mainline Coradia Polyvalent platform and related production
facility located in Reichshoffen in France;

e former Bombardier’s mainline Talent 3 platform, and part of related
production facility located in Hennigsdorf in Germany;

e former Bombardier’s assets currently contributing to its joint very
high-speed platform with Hitachi, the “Zefiro V300”.

The two first divestments are expected to be disposed together in a
single transaction and considered as a disposal group, whereas “Zefiro
V300” will be address through another transaction.

Immediately before initial classification as held for sale as well as on
subsequent remeasurements of this disposal group, carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities are remeasured according to applicable IFRS 5. These
considerations induced a reversal of a previously recognized (IAS 36)
impairment for €47 million related to Reichschoffen long-lived assets.

Additionally, the group of assets held for sale considered for each
transaction is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. A non-current asset, while part of disposal classified
as held for sale, is neither depreciated nor amortized.

At 31 March 2021

Goodwill and Intangible assets® 49
Property, plant and equipment 49
Total non-current assets 98
Inventories & Contract assets 173
Trade receivables & other current assets 59
Total current assets 232
TOTAL ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 330

(*) Of which €27 million of goodwill.

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021

Total non-current liabilities 19
Current provisions and contract liabilities 523
Trade payables and Other current liabilities 75
Total current liabilities 599
TOTAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE 617

As this disposal Group does not meet the definition of discontinued operations, Profit and Loss is presented within the current activities of the Group.
The costs to sell this disposal group amount to €11 million at 31 March 2021.

NOTE 10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing the period
net profit (loss) before the financial cost (net of tax) of bonds
reimbursable with shares, by the weighted average number of
outstanding shares during the period increased by the weighted
average number of shares to be issued on reimbursement of bonds
reimbursable with shares (“ORA”).
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Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing the period net
profit (loss) before the financial cost (net of tax) of bonds redeemable
into shares, by the weighted average number of outstanding shares
during the period adjusted in order to take into consideration all
dilutive instruments (ORA, stock options, free shares).



10.1. Earnings

(in € million)
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Year ended

At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Net Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent:

© from continuing operations 240 446

* from discontinued operations 7 21
| EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 247 467
10.2. Number of shares

Year ended

(in number of shares) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 262,142,375 224,491,689

Effect of dilutive instruments other than bonds reimbursable with shares:

® stock options and performance shares (LTI plan) 1,455,955 2,080,594

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES USED TO CALCULATE DILUTED

EARNINGS PER SHARES 263,598,330 226,572,283
10.3. Earnings per share

Year ended

(in€) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020

Basic earnings per share 0.94 2.08

Diluted earnings per share 0.94 2.06

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 0.92 1.99

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 0.91 1.97

Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.02 0.09

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.03 0.09
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E. NON-CURRENT ASSETS

NOTE 11. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever events or
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Such events or
circumstances are related to significant, unfavourable changes that
are of a lasting nature and affect either the economic environment
or the assumptions or the targets adopted as of the acquisition date.
An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable value of the
assets tested becomes lower than their carrying value.

In the Group, goodwill cannot be allocated on a non-arbitrary
basis to individual cash-generating units, but only to groups of
cash-generating units. As a result, the lowest level within the

entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes comprises a number of cash-generating units to which the
goodwill relates, but to which it cannot be allocated.

Due to the organization and the increasing number of integrated
services leading to complete and global turnkey solutions, financial
information issued is presented through various axes of analysis
(regions, sites, contracts, functions, products). Free Cash Flow, basis
of the impairment tests of goodwill is only relevant at Group level.

Therefore, goodwill acquired in case of business combinations is
only monitored and ultimately tested at Group level.

11.1. Goodwill
Acquisition and Translation
adjustments on adjustments and
(in € million) At 31 March 2020 preliminary goodwill Disposals other changes | At 31 March 2021
| GOODWILL 1,567 7,691 - (58) 9,200
of which:
Gross value 1,567 7,691 - (s8) 9,200
Impairment - - - - -

Movements over the period mainly arose from:

® the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation for €7.6 billion (see
Note 1.1);

® the acquisitions of IBRE SAS, B&C Transportation and RSB BV for a
total amount of €43 million (see Note 1.2);

e the reclassification of the site of Reichshoffen in assets held for sale
for €(27) million (see Note 9).

Goodwill impairment test

As of 31 March 2021, Alstom tested the value of goodwill applying
valuation methods consistent with previous years. Alstom ensured that
the recoverable amount exceeded its carrying value (including goodwill).

Presentation of key assumptions used
for the determination of recoverable amounts

The value in use is determined as the discounted value of future cash
flows by using cash flow projections for the next three years consistent
with the Group’s internal business plan, the extrapolation of the two
following years and the most recent forecasts prepared by the Group.

The value in use is mainly driven by the terminal value which is
particularly sensitive to changes in the assumptions on the discount
rate after tax, the long-term growth rate and the terminal value Adjusted
EBIT margin (corresponding to the ratio “aEBIT” over Sales).
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Alstom has opted for the inclusion of the share in net income of the
equity-accounted investments into the aEBIT when these are considered
to be part of the operating activities of the Group (because there are
significant operational flows and/or common project execution with
these entities). This mainly includes Chinese joint-ventures, namely
CASCO joint-venture for Alstom as well as, following the integration of
Bombardier Transportation, Bombardier Sifang (Qingdao) Transportation
Ltd., Bombardier NUG Propulsion System Co. Ltd. and Changchun
Bombardier Railway Vehicles Company Ltd.

The indicator “aEBIT” corresponds to Earning Before Interests and Tax
adjusted with the following elements:

net restructuring expenses (including rationalization costs);
tangibles and intangibles impairment;

capital gains or loss/revaluation on investments disposals or controls
changes of an entity;

any other non-recurring items, such as some costs incurred to realize
business combinations and amortisation of an asset exclusively valued
in the context of business combination, as well as litigation costs that
have arisen outside the ordinary course of business;

and including the share in net income of the operational equity-
accounted investments.

A non-recurring item is a “one-off” exceptional item that is not supposed
to occur again in following years and that is significant.
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The main assumptions used to assess the recoverable amounts of goodwill are as follows:

Net carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2021 (in € million) 9,200
Value elected as representative of the recoverable value value in use
Number of years over which cash flow estimates are available 3 years
Extrapolation period of cash flow estimates 2 years
Long-term growth rate at 31 March 2021 2.5%
Long-term growth rate at 31 March 2020 2.5%
After tax discount rate at 31 March 2021™ 8.5%
After tax discount rate at 31 March 2020% 8.5%

(*) The application of pre-tax discount rates to pre-tax cash flows leads to the same valuation of Cash Generating Units.

Discount rate is based on weighted average cost of capital (WACC) which
is calculated for the Group based on a risk-free rate and a market risk
premium. The current market assessment of the risks specific to Group

activity is reflected by taking into account specific peer group information
on industry beta, leverage and cost of debt. The parameters for calculating
the discount rate are based on external sources of information.

Sensitivity of the values in use to key assumptions can be presented as follows:

(in € million)
aEBIT Margin -25 bp +25 bp
(505) 505
After tax discount rate -25bp +25 bp
954 (878)
Long-term growth rate -10 bp +10 bp
(277) 287

The events linked to Covid-19 led the Group to take into consideration
the global economy downturn and recent market conditions and to draw
up business plan used for the impairment test performed in the frame
of the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
based on its best reasonable estimates and the visibility available for its
operations at 31 March 2021.

11.2. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired intangible assets (such as
technology and licensing agreements) and internally generated
intangible assets (mainly development costs).

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are initially measured at cost and
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Useful lives can extend to 20 years due to the long-term nature of
the underlying contracts and activities. The amortisation expense
of assets acquired through ordinary transactions is recorded in
cost of sales, research and development expenditure, selling or
administrative expenses, based on the function of the underlying
assets. The amortisation expense of assets exclusively acquired in
the context of a business combination is recognized in costs of sales
for backlog, product and project as well as customer relationships
and in R&D for acquired technology (formerly in other expenses).

The impairment tests confirmed that the recoverable amount comfortably
exceeds its carrying value at 31 March 2021. Some enlarged sensitivity
analysis were performed with regards to key assumptions that would
not lead to an impairment loss as the recoverable amount would still
exceed its carrying value.

Internally generated intangible assets

Development costs are capitalised if and only if the project they
relate to meet the following criteria:

the project is clearly defined and its related costs are separately
identified and reliably measured;

the technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated;

the intention exists to complete the project and to use or sell it;

adequate technical and financial resources are available to
complete the project;

it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to
the project will flow to the Group.

Capitalised development costs are costs incurred directly attributable
to the project (materials, services, fees...), including an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset. The amortisation charge
is reported in research and development expenses.
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Additions/ Other changes
disposals/ including
amortisation/ Scope translation
(in € million) At 31 March 2020 impairment Variation® adjustements® At 31 March 2021
Development costs 1,361 106 - (56) 1,411
Other intangible assets 460 4 2,540 36 3,040
Gross value 1,821 110 2,540 (20) 4,451
Development costs (1,054) (92) - 57 (1,089)
Other intangible assets (297) (74) (175) (16) (562)
Amortisation and impairment (2,351) (166) (175) 41 (2,651)
Development costs 307 14 - 1 322
Other intangible assets 163 (70) 2,365 20 2,478
NET VALUE 470 (56) 2,365 21 2,800
(1) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).
(2) Other changes includes IFRSS5 reclassification (see Note 9).
Additions/  Other changes
disposals/ including
amortisation/ _translatlon
(in € million) At 31 March 2019 impairment  adjustements At 31 March 2020
Development costs 1,283 79 1) 1,361
Other intangible assets 457 12 (9) 460
Gross value 1,740 91 (20) 1,821
Development costs (1,000) (56) 2 (1,054)
Other intangible assets (270) (27) - (297)
Amortisation and impairment (1,270) (83) 2 (3,351)
Development costs 283 23 1 307
Other intangible assets 187 (15) (9) 163
NET VALUE 470 8 (8) 470 |

NOTE 12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss. When an item
of property, plant and equipment is made up of components with
different useful lives, the total cost is allocated between the various
components. Components are then separately depreciated.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of each component. The useful lives most
commonly used are the following:

Estimated useful life

(in years)
Buildings 7-40
Machinery and equipment 3-25
Tools, furniture, fixtures and others 1-10

Useful lives are reviewed on a regular basis and changes in estimates,
when relevant, are accounted for on a prospective basis. The
depreciation expense is recorded in cost of sales, selling expenses
or administrative expenses, based on the function of the underlying
assets.

Borrowing costs that are attributable to an asset whose construction
period exceeds one year are capitalised as part of the costs of the
asset until the asset is substantially ready for use or sale.
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When the Group is the lessee, leases (except short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets below €5,000 when new, for which rentals
payable are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease) are recognized as a Right-of-Use asset
in Property, plant and equipment at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the balance sheet as a financing obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and repayment



of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability.

The cost of Right-of-Use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
as well as any restoration costs if an obligation is identified. Generally,
Right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. Nevertheless, when
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee
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by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the lessee will exercise a purchase option, the lessee
shall depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement date
to the end of the useful life of the underlying asset. Right-of-Use
assets may be subject to impairment.

When the Group is the lessor, assets under operating leases, are
also included in Property plant and equipment. Lease income from
operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

. Other changes
Additions/ including
amortisation/ Scope translation
(in € million) At 31 March 2020 impairment  Disposals variation® adjustements® | At 31 March 2021
Land 95 - (1) 183 (2) 276
Buildings 1,445 80 (8) 1,113 (36) 2,594
Machinery and equipment 907 49 (42) 985 15 1,914
Constructions in progress 135 76 (1) 49 (106) 153
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other 225 15 (10) 91 9 330
Gross value 2,807 220 (62) 2,421 (119) 5,267
Land (6) - - (8) - (14)
Buildings (600) (107) 6 (489) 47 (1,143)
Machinery and equipment (664) (72) 41 (645) 24 (1,316)
Constructions in progress (3) - - - - (3)
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other (163) (36) 9 (65) 14 (241)
Amortisation
and impairment (2,436) (215) 56 (2,207) 85 (2,727)
Land 89 - (1) 175 (2) 262
Buildings 845 (27) (2) 624 11 1,451
Machinery and equipment 243 (23) (1) 340 39 598
Constructions in progress 132 76 (1) 49 (106) 150
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other 62 (21) (1) 26 23 89
NET VALUE 1,371 5 (e) 1,214 (34) 2,550

(1) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).

(2) Other changes includes IFRS 5 reclassification (see Note 9).

The commitments of fixed assets amount to €43 million at 31 March 2021 (respectively €56 million at 31 March 2020), of which €22 million are
related to leased assets (respectively none at 31 March 2020).
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T4

Other changes
IFRS 16 Additions/ including
First  amortisation/ translation
(in € million) At 31 March 2019 application impairment Disposals adjustements At 31 March 2020
Land 92 4 2 3) - 95
Buildings 950 349 146 (19) 19 1,445
Machinery and equipment 852 14 53 (22) 10 907
Constructions in progress 149 - 84 - (98) 135
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other 217 25 12 (22) (7) 225
Gross value 2,260 392 297 (e86) (76) 2,807
Land (9) - - 3 - (6)
Buildings (494) (12) (126) 19 13 (600)
Machinery and equipment (635) - (62) 20 13 (664)
Constructions in progress 3) - - - - 3)
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other (166) - (22) 21 4 (163)
Amortisation
and impairment (2,307) (22) (210) 63 30 (2,436)
Land 83 4 2 - - 89
Buildings 456 337 20 - 32 845
Machinery and equipment 217 14 (9) (2) 23 243
Constructions in progress 146 - 84 - (98) 132
Tools, furniture, fixtures
and other 51 25 (10) (1) (3) 62
NET VALUE 953 380 87 3) (a6) 1,371

Property, Plant and Equipment balances include Right-of-Use related to Leased Assets for the following amounts:

Additions/

Other changes of

amortisation/ Scope  which translation

(in € million) At 31 March 2020 impairment  Disposals  Variation® adjustments® | At 31 March 2021
Land 6 - - 3 - 9
Buildings 463 59 (21) 180 (1) 680
Machinery and equipment 20 5 ) 2 - 25
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other 33 11 (7) 8 (1) 44
Gross value 522 75 (30) 193 (2) 758
Buildings (98) (81) 16 - (2) (164)
Machinery and equipment (8) (5) 2 - 1 (10)
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other (12) (13) 7 - (1) (19)
Amortisation

and impairment (118) (99) 25 - (2) (193)
Land 6 - - 3 - 9
Buildings 365 (22) (5) 180 ) 516
Machinery and equipment 12 - - 2 1 15
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other 21 2) - 8 2) 25
NET VALUE 404 (24) (s) 193 3) 565

(1) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).
(2) Other changes includes IFRS 5 reclassification (see Note 9).
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Additions/ Other changes of
IFRS 16 First amortisation/ which translation

(in € million) At 31 March 2019 application impairment  Disposals adjustments At 31 March 2020
Land - 4 2 - - 6
Buildings 30 350 96 - (13) 463
Machinery and equipment 4 14 2 - - 20
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other 2 24 8 - (1) 33
Gross value 36 392 108 - (14) 522
Buildings (18) (12) (74) - 6 (98)
Machinery and equipment (4) - (4) - - (8)
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other (2) - (12) - 1 (12)
Amortisation

and impairment (23) (22) (90) - 7 (118)
Land - 4 2 - - 6
Buildings 12 338 22 - (7) 365
Machinery and equipment - 14 2) - - 12
Tools, furniture, fixtures

and other 1 24 (4) - - 21
NET VALUE 13 380 18 - @) 404

NOTE 13. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Share in equity

Share of net income

Year ended at Year ended at
(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
TMH Limited 480 469 44 66
Bombardier Sifang (Qingdao) Transportion Ltd 400 - 2 -
Other Associates 248 137 43 39
Associates 1,128 606 89 105
Bombardier NUG Propulsion System Co. Ltd. 148 - 2 -
Speedinnov JV 101 86 (9) 3)
Other Joint ventures 89 1 1 -
Joint ventures 338 87 (e) (3)
TOTAL 1,466 693 83 102 |
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MOVEMENTS DURING THE PERIOD

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Opening balance 693 711
Share in net income of equity-accounted investments after impairment 83 102
Dividends (55) (80)
Acquisitions® 27 56
Scope Variations® 713 -
Translation adjustments and other 5 (96)
CLOSING BALANCE 1,466 693 |

(1) Capital increase in Speed Innov joint-venture in June 2020 (see Note 1.2).

(2) Scope variations consist in the acquisition of Bombardier Transportation’s Associates and Joint Ventures (see Note 1.1).

13.1. TMH Limited

For practical reason, to be able to get timely and accurate information,
data as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are retained and
booked within Alstom’s 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 accounts.
The length of the reporting periods and any difference between the ends
of the reporting periods remain the same from period to period to allow

BALANCE SHEET

comparability and consistency. The summarized financial information
(at 100%) presented below are the figures disclosed in the financial
statements of TMH Limited at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019
and are established in accordance with IFRS. These financial statements,
established in Rubles, were converted to euros based on the rates used
by the Group at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

TMH Limited TMH Limited

At 31 December At 31 December

(in € million) 2020 2019
Non-current assets 3,424 3,335
Current assets 2,452 1,851
TOTAL ASSETS 5,876 5,186
Equity-attributable to the owners of the parent company 2,626 2,601
Equity-attributable to non-controlling interests 258 206
Non current liabilities 1,189 865
Current liabilities 1,803 1,514

| TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5,876 5,186 |
Equity interest held by the Group 20% 20%

| NET ASSET 525 520 |
Goodwill 37 38
Impairment of share in net asset of equity investments (30) (30)
Other® (52) (59)
CARRYING VALUE OF THE GROUP’S INTERESTS 480 469 |

(*) Corresponds to the restatements to TMH historical value before the combined operation, as at 30 June 2018.
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INCOME STATEMENT

TMH Limited

TMH Limited

Year ended

(in € million) 31 December 2020

Year ended
31 December 2019

Sales 4,569 5,406
Net income from continuing operations 221 315
Share of non-controlling interests (10) (27)
Net income attributable to the owners of the parent company 211 288
Equity interest held by the Group 20% 20%

| SHARE IN THE NET INCOME 2 58 |
Total share in the net income 42 58
Other items™ 2 8

| GROUP'S SHARE IN THE NET INCOME 44 66 |

(*) Correspond to the fair value restatements calculated at the time of acquisition.

13.2. Bombardier Sifang (Qingdao) Transportation Ltd

The table below presents the management summarized financial information (at 100%) of Bombardier Sifang (Qingdao) Transportation Ltd at

31 March 2021:

BALANCE SHEET

BST Ltd
(in € million) At 31 March 2021
Non-current assets 296
Current assets 1,173
[ ToTAL ASSETS 1,469
Equity-attributable to the owners of the parent company 675
Current liabilities 793
| TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,468
Equity interest held by the Group 50%
| NET ASSET 338
Preliminary goodwill 62
| CARRYING VALUE OF THE GROUP’S INTERESTS 400

INCOME STATEMENT
BST Ltd
From 29 January 2021
(in € million) to 31 March 2021
Sales 36
Net income from continuing operations 4
Net income attributable to the owners of the parent company 4
Equity interest held by the Group 50%
| SHARE IN THE NET INCOME 2
Total share in the net income 2
| GROUP’S SHARE IN THE NET INCOME 2

— Universal Registration Document 2020/21 — ALSTOM

7




78

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

13.3. Other Joint Ventures and Associates

The Group’s investment in other associates comprises investment in Casco, held by the Group at 49%, for €145 million (of which €45 million of net
profit) as well as other associates which are not significant on an individual basis. On aggregate, the net carrying value of Alstom’s Investment
represents €248 million as of 31 March 2021 (€137 million as of 31 March 2020).

NOTE 14. NON-CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS

Entities over which the Group has no significant influence or when
the value is not material are not consolidated. The Group has
expressed intention and ability to hold these Investments on a long
term perspective and therefore these investments are considered
as non-trading investments. The Group has elected for the portfolio
of non-consolidated investments to record the change in fair value
on these investments through Other Comprehensive Income with
no subsequent recycling in income statement. They are initially
measured at their fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs and subsequently re-measured at fair value.

The fair value of listed securities is the market value at the closing
date. A valuation model is used in case of unlisted securities. Changes
in fair value are then directly recognised in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent recycling in income statement. When
the fair value cannot be determined reliably, investments in
non-consolidated companies are measured at cost.

MOVEMENTS DURING THE PERIOD

Besides, the Group has expressed intention and ability to hold all
debt securities to maturity to collect the corresponding contractual
cash flows. They are in that purpose measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss
recognised to reflect amounts expected not to be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset should be impaired and is measured as the
difference between the investment’s carrying value and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition. Impairment losses may
be reversed through profit and loss in subsequent periods.

Finally, marketable securities are assets held for trading which cannot
be considered as cash and cash equivalents. They are designated as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair
value are reported as financial income or expense.

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Opening balance 60 64
Change in fair value 3 (6)
Acquisitions/disposals 14 2

| cLOSING BALANCE 77 60 |

The Group’s equity investment in other investments is not significant on an individual basis and notably comprises investments in companies that hold
PPPs (public-private partnerships) agreements or have entered into concession agreements, typically for an ownership lower than 20%.

NOTE 15. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Loans are initially measured at their fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Deposits
are reported as other non-current assets when their initial maturity
is more than three months and as cash and cash equivalents in
case of demand deposits or when the initial maturity is less than
three months.

If there is any indication that those assets may be impaired, they
are reviewed for impairment. Any difference between the carrying
value and the impaired value (net realisable value) is recorded as a
financial expense. The impairment loss can be reversed if the value is
recovered in the future. In that case, the reversal of the impairment
loss is reported as a financial income.
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Certain long-term contract receivables corresponding to incentive
payments are classified as FV through P&L. Subsequent changes in
the fair value of such financial instruments are recorded in financial
expense (income).

Assets subject to finance leases, are initially recognized at an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease and are included in financial
non-current assets associated to financial debt. Interest income
is recognized over the term of the applicable leases based on the
effective interest rate method.



(in € million)
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At 31 March 2021

At 31 March 2020

Financial non-current assets associated to financial debt™ 165 177
Long-term loans, deposits and other 270 56
| OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 435 233

(*) These non-current assets relate to a long-term rental of trains and associated equipment to a London metro operator (see Note 27).

The increase of non-current assets over the exercise is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition. The amount acquired at 29 January 2021

is €156 million (see Note 1.1).

F. WORKING CAPITAL

NOTE 16. WORKING CAPITAL ANALYSIS

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020 Variation
Inventories 2,962 1,743 1,219
Contract assets 2,715 1,644 1,071
Trade receivables 2,299 1,581 718
Other current operating assets/(liabilities) (1,551) (528) (1,023)
Contract liabilities (5,457) (3,148) (2,309)
Provisions (2,309) (1,013) (1,296)
Trade payables (3,207) (1,653) (1,554)
WORKING CAPITAL (4,548) (1,374) (3,174)

For the year ended
(in € million) at 31 March 2021
Working capital at the beginning of the period (1,374)
Changes in working capital resulting from operating activities 985
Changes in working capital resulting from investing activities (1)
Scope Variation® (4,359)
Translation adjustments and other changes 201
Total changes in working capital (3,174)
VWORKING CAPITAL AT THE END OF THE PERIOD (a,548)

(*) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).

NOTE 17. INVENTORIES

Raw materials and supplies, work in progress and finished products
are stated at the lower of cost, using the weighted average cost
method, or net realisable value.

Inventory cost includes direct material and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their existing location and condition.

Work in progress refers to costs incurred on product contracts
or short term service contracts whose execution will be finalised
during a next period. It refers also to costs incurred on “construction
contracts” not yet allocated to projects at end of the closing period
but transferred to project costs in subsequent periods when the
asset becomes sufficiently customized and cannot be readily directed

for another use.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and

selling expenses.
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(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Raw materials and supplies 1,887 1,099
Work in progress 1,153 692
Finished products 142 146
Inventories, gross 3,182 1,937
Raw materials and supplies (212) (129)
Work in progress (4) (s8)
Finished products (5) (7)
Write-down (220) (194)
INVENTORIES, NET 2,962 1,743 |

The increase of inventories over the period ended 31 March 2021 is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition. The amount acquired at

29 January 2021 is €1,157 million (see Note 1.1)

NOTE 18. NET CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Aggregates called “contract assets” and “contract liabilities”
are disclosed for “construction contracts” and long term service
agreements in progress and are determined on a contract-by-contract
basis. The aggregate “contract assets” corresponds to the unbilled
part of revenues recognized to date net of the advance payments
received from customers. Unbilled part of revenue corresponds to
revenue recognized to date in excess of progress billings.

On the contrary, when progress billings are in excess of revenue
recognized to date, the net amount is accounted for as deferred
income and aggregated with the related advance payments received
from customers under the caption “contract liabilities”.

Some costs incurred in fulfilling a contract that are not falling under
the scope of the standards dealing with intangible and tangible assets
as well as inventories, should be accounted for under a new caption
called “costs to fulfil a contract” when eligible to capitalization.

IFRS 9 acknowledges the recognition of the credit risk related
to financial assets and especially trade receivables, based on the
expected loss approach. The recognition model retained for contract
assets is the general model that allows to estimate the risk within
one year, as long as there is no sign of significant degradation of
customer credit risk.

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020 Variation
Cost to fulfil a contract 26 15 11
Contract assets 2,689 1,629 1,060
Total contract assets 2,715 1,644 1,071
Contract liabilities (5,457) (3,148) (2,309)
NET CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (2,742) (2,504) (1,238) |

The net increase of contract liabilities over the period ended
31 March 2021 is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition.
The net amount acquired at 29 January 2021 is €(2,676) million (see

Note 1.1).

Net contract Assets/(Liabilities) include down payments as well as,
in some specific cases, progress payments received in exchange of
irrevocable and unconditional payment undertakings issued by the

(1) Former Bombardier Transportation figures not available.
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customer. This transaction is analyzed as an advance payment received
on behalf of the customer under the supply contract.

Total down payments represent an amount of €2,242 million
at 31 March 2021® (€2,238 million at 31 March 2020), of which

€245 million on specific advance payments (as described above).



NOTE 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

A receivable is an entity’s right to consideration that is unconditional.
Aright to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due. Receivables are
initially recognised at fair value, which in most cases approximates
the nominal value. If there is any subsequent indication that those
assets may be impaired, they are reviewed for impairment. Any
difference between the carrying value and the impaired value (net
realisable value) is recorded within Earnings Before Interests and
Taxes. The impairment loss can be reversed if the value is recovered
in the future. In that case, the reversal of the impairment loss is also
reported within Earnings Before Interests and Taxes.

IFRS 9 acknowledges the recognition of the credit risk related
to financial assets and especially trade receivables, based on the
expected loss approach. The recognition model retained for trade
receivables is the Simplified Approach “Lifetime Expected Credit
Losses”, as long as there is no sign of significant degradation of
customer credit risk.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Indeed, due to the type of business operated by the Group, past due
receivables are frequently representative of outstanding amounts
confirmed by customers but whose payment is subject to clearance
of items raised during inspection of works. Such receivables do
remain fully recoverable; costs to be incurred for the clearance of
pending items are included in the determination of the margin at
completion of the related contracts.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when it transfers
the contractual rights in a transaction under which substantially
all the risks and rewards of the financial assets are transferred.

Past due on the closing date

No past due on Between 60 More than

(in € million) Total the closing date  Less than 60 days and 180 days 180 days

| AT 31 MARCH 2021 2,299 1,632 164 82 421
® o/w gross 2,381 1,655 164 82 480
® o/w impairment (82) (23) - - (59)

[ AT 31 MARCH 2020 1,581 1,265 104 31 181
® o/w gross 1,610 1,277 104 31 198
® o/w impairment (29) (12) - - (17)

The increase of trade receivables over the period ended 31 March 2021 is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition. The amount acquired

at 29 January 2021 is €1,047 million (see Note 1.1).

NOTE 20. OTHER CURRENT OPERATING ASSETS

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Down payments made to suppliers 237 63
Corporate income tax 64 85
Other taxes 488 326
Prepaid expenses 113 55
Other receivables 335 209
Derivatives relating to operating activities 280 207
Remeasurement of hedged firm commitments in foreign currency 396 247
OTHER CURRENT OPERATING ASSETS 1,913 1,192

The increase of other current operating assets over the period ended 31 March 2021 is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition. The

amount acquired at 29 January 2021 is €572 million (see Note 1.1).

Over the period ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into an agreement of assignment of receivables that leads to the derecognition of tax
receivables for an amount of €72 million in accordance with IFRS 9 criteria. The total disposed amount outstanding at 31 March 2021 is €150 million.
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NOTE 21. OTHER CURRENT OPERATING LIABILITIES

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Staff and associated liabilities 794 531
Corporate income tax 310 93
Other taxes 245 137
Deferred income 9 9
Trade payables with extended payment terms 408 -
Other payables 1,092 572
Derivatives relating to operating activities 400 199
Remeasurement of hedged firm commitments in foreign currency 206 179
OTHER CURRENT OPERATING LIABILITIES 3,464 1,720

The increase of other current operating liabilities over the period ended
31 March 2021 is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition.
The amount acquired at 29 January 2021 is €1,447 million (see Note 1.1).

Bombardier Transportation negotiated extended payment terms of
210 to 240 days after delivery with certain of its suppliers, that have
the possibility to early finance their receivables through a supply chain
financing program supported by third parties. Those third parties are not
committed, and suppliers have the right to return to original payment
terms for future payables upon providing a minimum notice period. The

NOTE 22. PROVISIONS

As long as a “construction contracts” or a long-term service
agreement is in progress, obligations attributable to such a contract
are taken into account in the assessment of the margin to be
recognised.

Upon completion of the contract, such obligations are recognised as
distinct liabilities when they satisfy the following criteria:

® the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event;

* it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be
required to settle the obligation; and

L]

such outflow can be reliably estimated.

These liabilities are presented as provisions when they are of
uncertain timing or amount. When this uncertainty is dispelled,
they are presented as trade payables or other current liabilities.
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Group considers that the balance of trade payables supported by the
supply chain financing program does not have the nature of a financial
debt as the extension of the payment terms are not contractually linked to
the existence of the supply chain financing program. However, following
IFRIC Update issued in December 2020, the Group decided to present
the amounts of trade payables supported by the supply chain financing
arrangement and exceeding regular payment terms on a dedicated line
item of its balance sheet in the other current liabilities.

One exception is, in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Asset”, the provisions on onerous contracts
that are reported in current provisions, as soon as identified. The
unavoidable costs to fulfil a contract considered in assessing whether
a contract is onerous are all the costs that directly relate to that
contract.

Obligations resulting from transactions other than “construction
contracts” and long-term service agreements are directly recognised
as provisions as soon as the above-mentioned criteria are met.
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions
are measured at their present value.

Restructuring provisions are made when plans to reduce or close
facilities, or to reduce the workforce have been finalised and approved
by the Group management and have been announced before the
closing date, resulting in an obligation of the Group to third parties.
Restructuring costs include employees’ severance and termination
benefits and estimated facility closing costs. In addition to such
provisions, restructuring costs may include asset write-off relating
to the restructured activities
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Translation

Scope adjustments
(in € million) At 31 March 2020  Additions Releases  Applications variation®  and other® | At 31 March 2021
Warranties 275 214 (50) (119) 284 (13) 591
Risks on contracts 578 159 (172) (261) 1,083 35 1,423
Current provisions 853 373 (221) (380) 1,367 22 2,014
Tax risks & litigations 63 11 (4) (1) 52 (5) 116
Restructuring 30 10 (1) (25) 38 - 52
Other non-current provisions 67 13 (6) (2) 54 1 127
Non-current provisions 160 34 (22) (28) 144 (a) 295
TOTAL PROVISIONS 1,013 407 (232) («08) 1,511 18 2,309

(1) Scope variation is mainly due to Bombardier Transportation’s acquisition (see Note 1.1).
(2) Other changes includes IFRS 5 reclassification (see Note 9).

Translation adjustments

(in € million) At 31 March 2019  Additions  Releases  Applications and other At 31 March 2020
Warranties 227 144 (41) (55) - 275
Risks on contracts 620 190 (109) (135) 12 578
Current provisions 847 334 (150) (190) 12 853
Tax risks & litigations 165 22 (&) 2) (118) 63
Restructuring 43 13 (7) (18) (1) 30
Other non-current provisions 138 15 (41) (28) 7) 67
Non-current provisions 346 50 (52) (48) (236) 160
TOTAL PROVISIONS 1,193 384 (202) (238) (124) 1,013

Provisions for warranties relate to estimated costs to be incurred over the
residual contractual warranty period on completed contracts.

Provisions for risks on contracts relate to provisions on contract losses
and to commercial disputes and operating risks.

In relation to uncertain tax treatments and tax risks, the Group tax filings
are subject to audit by tax authorities in most jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. These audits may result in assessment of additional taxes
that are subsequently resolved with the authorities or potentially through
the courts. The Group believes that it has strong arguments against the
questions being raised, that it will pursue all legal remedies to avoid an
unfavourable outcome and that it has adequately provided for any risk
that could result from those proceedings where it is probable that it will
pay some amounts. Following IFRIC 23 application in April 2019, it is

reminded that liabilities for uncertainty over income tax treatments are
now presented as tax liabilities on the line corporate income tax in the
other current operating liabilities.

Restructuring provisions mainly derive from the adaptation of the means
of production in certain countries, as Germany.

Other non-current provisions mainly relate to guarantees delivered or
risks in connection with disposals, employee litigations, commercial
disputes and environmental obligations.

The management identifies and analyses on a regular basis current
litigations and other risks, using its best estimate to assess, when
necessary, provisions. These estimates take into account information
available and different possible outcomes. Main disputes are described
in Note 33.
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G. EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS

NOTE 23. EQUITY

When managing capital, objectives of the Group are to safeguard its
ability to continue as a going concern so that it can provide returns
to shareholders, bring benefits to its other partners and optimise the
structure of the capital in order to reduce its cost.

To achieve this, the Group may choose to:

© adjust the amount of dividends paid to the shareholders;

© reimburse a portion of capital to the shareholders;

® issue new shares; or,

 sell assets in order to scale back its debt.

23.1. Movements in share capital

At 31 March 2021, the share capital of Alstom amounts to €2,598,412,551
consisting of 371,201,793 ordinary shares with a par value of €7 each.
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the weighted average number of
outstanding ordinary shares amounts to 262,142,375 after the dilutive
effect of bonds reimbursable in shares “Obligations Remboursables en
Actions” and to 263,598,330 after the effect of all dilutive instruments.

NOTE 24. DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS

During the period ended 31 March 2021:

144,262,351 ordinary shares were issued under capital increase.
It is composed by the rights issue completed on 7 December 2020
for 68,078,055 new ordinary shares and reserved share capital
increase for 76,184,296 new ordinary shares on 29 January 2021
(see Note 1.1);

71,530 bonds reimbursable in shares “Obligations Remboursables
en Actions” were converted into 4,466 shares at a par value of €7;
98,896 ordinary shares were issued under equity settled share-based
payments;

862,298 ordinary shares were issued under long term incentive plans.

23.2. Currency translation adjustment
in shareholders’ equity

At 31 March 2021, the currency translation reserve amounts to
€(611) million.

The currency translation adjustment, presented within the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for €14 million, primarily reflects
the effect of variations of the British Pound (€36 million), US Dollar
(€(35) million), Chinese Yuan (€17 million), Brazilian Real (€(17) million),
Swedish Krona (€(15) million), against the Euro for the year ended
31 March 2021.

As approved at the Combined Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July 2020, Alstom did not distribute dividend for fiscal year 2019/20 in the context of the

sanitary crisis.

H. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTE 25. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, other current financial assets comprise the positive market value of derivatives instruments hedging loans, deposits and Group

cash pooling positions.

(in € million)

At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020

Derivatives related to financing activities and others

28 45

OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

28 45
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NOTE 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances, certain term
deposit accounts, negotiable debt instruments and monetary UCITS.

Cash equivalents are held to meet short-term cash commitments.
In order to be considered as cash equivalent, an investment must
be convertible to a known amount of cash within the coming three
months and subject to a negligible risk of change in value, thereby
satisfying the requirements of 1AS 7.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.

(in € million) At 31 March 2021 | At 31 March 2020
Cash 1,095 1,060
Cash equivalents 155 1,115
| CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 1,250 2,175

In addition to bank open deposits classified as cash for €1,095 million, the Group invests in cash equivalents mainly in term deposits that can be
terminated at any time with less than three months notification period for an amount of €155 million (€262 million at 31 March 2020).

NOTE 27. FINANCIAL DEBT

payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for termination
of a lease when the lease term reflects the lessee exercising a
termination option. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and repayment of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Bonds and interest-bearing bank loans are initially recognised at fair
value, less any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance
of the liability. These financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, 